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Vision

“An active, creative and informed Free State community.”

Mission

“Effective service delivery to the people of the Free State 
through:

- collaboration with all relevant stakeholders,
- a committed workforce,
- implementation of departmental policies and 

sustainable programmes, and
- people-centered development,

thereby raising the profile of Sport, Arts and Culture.”
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1.1 Submission of the annual 
report to the executive 
authority

To the Member of the Executive Council, Mr ES Magashule:

I have the honour of submitting the 2007/2008 Annual Report of the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999. 

Mrs BR Sempe
HEAD OF DEPARTMENT
SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE

31 August 2008
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1.2 Foreword by Member of the Executive Council

This annual report reflects the milestones we have conquered in our quest to realize these 
pressing needs of Free State communities. It is our considered view that the functions of 
sport,  arts and culture contribute to the broader  mandate of  government  of  delivering  a 
better life for all. As the department of Sport, Arts and Culture we set ourselves a goal of 
enhancing  the  spirit  which  is  characteristic  of  the  people  of  the  Free  State,  that  of  the 
Passion for the Game.

I am delighted that during the reporting period covered by this annual report, we have moved 
mountains  to  realize  this  goal.  The  turn-around  strategies  that  we  developed  since  I 
assumed  the  responsibility  of  this  function  have  born  sweet  fruits  for  Free  State 
communities.

Although much ground has been covered with regard to delivering sport, arts and culture 
services to our communities, a lot still has to be done to ensure the total realization for our 
mandate. 

I have no doubt that we will pull out all the stops to speed up change. For this to happen, all 
stakeholders need to have their hands on deck. 

On this basis, I accept responsibility to lead the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture being 
presented both challenges and opportunities to ensure that the Department becomes visible 
and responsive to the needs of the people of the Free State.

Mr ES Magashule
MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL
SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE

31 August 2008
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1.3 Introduction by the head of the institution

The 2007/08 financial year marked a turning point in the work and history of the Department going 
beyond its mandate of successful delivery of sport, arts and culture programmes to the people of the 
Free State under the able and decisive leadership of the Honorable Member of the Executive Council, 
Mr ES Magashule.

The process of engaging stakeholders in the sector took centre stage during the year to enhance the 
Department’s capacity for networking and strengthening service delivery.  A successful MUNMEC, a 
forum established by the Executing Authority with the municipalities, was held in August 2007, setting 
the  scene  for  constructive  engagement,  joint  planning,  adoption  of  turnaround  strategies  and 
execution of integrated programmes promoting a more people-centered approach to service delivery. 
As a result  there has been a significant  increase in the demand for services in the Department, 
particularly during the last six months of the financial year, creating pressure on the administration 
staff as a whole.  This matter will be addressed during the 2008/09 financial year with the filling of 
critical vacancies. 

In September 2007 the Department successfully coordinated and hosted the 4th SA Games in the 
province,  with  all  nine  provinces  participating  in  a  multi-coded  sport  tournament.  The  privilege 
afforded the province to host this event, showcased the extent of sport tourism and its contribution to 
economic growth and development.  In addition, the provincial slogan “Province with a Passion for the 
Game” was launched.

Furthermore,  the  Department,  in  collaboration  with  the  National  Department  of  Arts  and Culture, 
hosted the National Heritage Day 2007 in the province.

The marketing of the Free State Province at Soccerex 2007 in Sandton, Gauteng during November 
2007 enhanced the province’s opportunity to network with the national departments, business sector 
and international role-players in the football fraternity. It further sought to position the Free State as 
preferred destination for countries that will be participating in both the 2009 Confederations Cup, as 
well as the 2010 FIFA World Cup.

Substantive and logistical support was given to the SABC, ensuring the successful hosting of the 
SABC Sport Awards in the province.  As a result, the province will be hosting the SABC Awards for 
the next  two years.  Higher prominence was given to the boxing sport  code in the province with 
various events.

Taking into account the various highlights as listed in Part 2, paragraph 2.2.3, and given the legacy of 
an immense backlog with regard to sport and recreation; heritage, library, information and arts and 
culture development in specifically the historically disadvantaged communities from the pre-1994 era, 
one  could  possibly  argue  that  the  Department  is  hopelessly  under-resourced  to  realize  its  full 
mandate.  However, considering the limited capacity, the view is held that the Department has made a 
significant impact  on the development of  sport,  arts and culture and libraries in the province and 
remains firmly committed to realize the objectives set for this purpose.

Challenges facing the Department remain the following:

• Decentralisation of service delivery through a phase-in of a one-stop service per district in the 
multi-function framework that includes sport, arts, culture and library services.

• More effective co-ordination of arts, culture and library and information services.
• Oral archival strategies to be built on.
• Two additional district offices (Xhariep and Lejweleputswa) to be opened for Library Services.
• Two High Performance District Satellites and Talent Development Centres to be opened for the 

Free State Sport Science Institute to promote accessibility.
• Strengthening and roll-out of Community Arts and Culture Centres to two districts.
• The South African Heritage Resource Agency and the Geographical Names Committee to be 

strengthened.
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• Implementation of the Free State Language Policy.  The Department is committed to preserving 
indigenous languages.

Despite the challenges posed by a dynamic, exciting and diverse service delivery environment, the 
Department remains on track, as is borne out by its achievements during the past year.

Publications and key documents published by the Department during the period under review include 
the following:

Departmental documents
o 3-year Annual Performance Plan 2008/09 – 2010/11
o Annual Report 2006/07
Journal  
o Free State Libraries April - June 2007
o Free State Libraries July - September 2007
o Free State Libraries October - December 2007
o Free State Libraries January – March 2008
Posters  
o Literacy posters for 5 literacy corners 
o International Literacy Day
o Government Information Service
o Business Information Service 
o Library Week 
o FIFA poster for Library Week 
o Crime poster (on theft of computers) for Matjhabeng Municipality. Poster published in English, 

Sesotho and Afrikaans and distributed to all the libraries in the Matjhabeng Municipality where the 
thefts occurred. 

o Struggle heroes poster commemorating Steve Biko and Oliver Tambo – distributed to 20 main 
libraries.

o Bram Fischer 
Mobiles 
o Itsoseng toy library (Wepener) 
o Refenkgotso toy library (Deneysville) 
o Selosesha toy library 
o Business Information Service 
Guidelines 
o Library Week guidelines
o World Book Day guidelines
o Guidelines on the use of Adult Learners’ Week and International Literacy Day promotional 

package distributed to all Free State public libraries.
o Guidelines on World Aids Day promotional package distributed to all Free State public libraries 
Bibliographies 
o Literacy series forming part of the collection of Free State public libraries 
o World Aids Day 
o Soccer 
o Heritage 
o Management books (SMS Conference 30 – 31 Aug 2007) 
o Book lists on music, poetry and culture (Trompsburg heritage outreach) 
o Poetry (national heritage event in Botshabelo) 
o Struggle heroes 
o Free State authors 
o Careers 
o Sport 
o Arts 
o Culture
User Manuals
o GIS manuals 
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o CIS manuals 
o BIS manuals 
o Literacy corner manuals 
o Toy library manuals 
o Toy-specific manual, focusing on 10 specific toys
Media releases  
o Conditional grant 
o News items in Volksblad (Kontrei) sent in by public libraries 

- Meloding Public Library (19/7/07 and 26/9/07)   
- Virginia Public Library (21/01/08)     
- Library staff of Dihlabeng Municipality (Fouriesburg) (26/9/07)
- Trevor Barlow Public library ( 2/11/07) 
- Mahlatswetsa/Excelsior (13/2/08)
- Excelsior Public library (02/04/08)
- Koffiefontein Public Library (25/7/07)
- Koffiefontein Public library (6/10/07)
- Koffiefontein Public Library (30/1/08) 

o News items in Goldnet News sent in by public libraries 
- Virginia Public Library (18/01/08)
- Virginia Public Library (11/01/08)

o News items in Vista News sent in by public libraries 
- Virginia Public Library (17/01/08) 
- Virginia Public Library (23/8/07) 

o News items in Express sent in by public libraries 
- Virginia Public Library (09/01/08) 

o News items in Ficksburg News sent in by public libraries 
- Meqheleng Public Library (10/9/07) 

Brochures       
o Reprints of BIS brochure, GIS brochure, CIS brochure and GIS new brochure containing the 

names of all the GIS libraries
o Contact details brochure (for Public Service Week) 
o Institutions presenting Library Science and Archive Study degrees
o Soccer heroes and legends 
o Premier Soccer League teams
o FIFA 
o Services rendered by Central Personnel Library 
Exhibitions 
o Condensed poster exhibition on functions and services of Library Services 
o Poster exhibition on services rendered by Central Personnel Library 
o Poster exhibition on poetry made for National Heritage Day. 
o Poster exhibition on functions & services, career opportunities and what can be found in your 

library and archive
Triangles 
o Poetry, music, culture, heritage 
Letterwork (sent to all libraries)
o International Literacy Day 
o World Aids Day 2008
o Library Week 2008

The Department  continues to play a meaningful  role in the affairs of  the Provincial  Government, 
serving  in  the  clusters  and  Forum  for  Heads  of  Department  in  order  to  promote  cooperative 
governance.  Overall, we remain committed to ensure that we stay on course and focused on building 
a humane, non-racial, non-sexist and people-centred society.

The Department took leave of MEC SK Mnumzana during August 2007.  We place on record our 
sincere gratitude for her leadership and wish her well.  We welcome MEC ES (Ace) Magashule and 
thank him for the tireless engagement in reshaping the sport, arts, culture and heritage landscape in 
the province.
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We also thank the Portfolio Committee on Education, Sport, Arts and Culture, National Council of 
Provinces and Provincial Public Accounts Committee for their support and constant reminder of our 
accountability to the people of the Free State.

In conclusion I wish to thank the staff of the Department for their dedication, integrity and hard work. 
Looking back on 2007/08, the interventions and support to the sector are visible.  I am convinced that 
the Department has made strides and has carried its mandate successfully. Together we will continue 
to make a difference in the lives of the people of the Free State.

1.4 Information on the Ministry

The Executing Authority  is  accountable  for  the  outcomes of  all  programmes and projects  of  the 
Department.   Apart  from  ensuring  that  a  Strategic  Plan  and  a  Service  Delivery  Improvement 
Programme were  in  place  and  implemented,  the  MEC responsible  for  the  Department  was  also 
closely  involved  with  the  amendments  of  the  organisational  structure,  the  grading  of  new  jobs 
according to the job evaluation system and the creation and filling of posts.

The institutions which fall under the Executive Authority’s control, are the following:

- Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation

- Arts and Cultural Centres (Thaba Nchu, Zamdela and Thabong) under the Mmabana Cultural 
Foundation Act

- Basotho Cultural Village
- Musicon
- Museums across the province
- Afrikaans Literary Museum
- Sesotho Literary Museum
- Community libraries across the province
- Free State Sport Science Institute

Ministerial visits abroad

The former Executive Authority, Ms SK Mnumzana, undertook three official visits outside the borders 
of South Africa:

The Premier of the Free State Province, and the former Member of the Executive Council for Sport, 
Arts and Culture (Ms SK Mnumzana), accompanied by MECs for Environmental, Economic Affairs 
and Tourism and Provincial Treasury together with the Head of Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, 
visited California, United States of America, from 10 – 16 April 2007 to attend the Association of Film 
Commissioners International (AFCI) Trade Show, had meetings with independent producers and had 
the opportunity to visit film sound studios and Universal City. A benefit deriving from the visit was to 
explore the possibility of establishing a Film Commission in the Free State Province. This function has 
been referred to the Department of Environmental, Economic Affairs and Tourism by EXCO.

The Member of the Executive Council for Education, accompanied by officials from the Department 
and a group of artists, learners and crafters, visited the Czech Republic from 22 – 28 April 2007 to 
expand the Department’s objective to expose and showcase artists, cultural practitioners and crafters 
to the best markets of the world.  The foreign mission was assisted to share the South African culture 
with the people of the Czech Republic and celebrated Freedom Day.

Together with a cultural group and the Head of the Department, the former Member of the Executive 
Council  went  to  the United  Arab  Emirates  from 7 –  10 August  2007 to  attend  the South Africa 
Women’s Day celebrations in Dubai.

Bills submitted to Legislature

The Provincial Arts and Culture Council Bill was submitted.
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1.2 Mission statement

Vision

“An active, creative and informed Free State community.”

Mission

“Effective service delivery to the people of the Free State through: 

- collaboration with all relevant stakeholders, 
- a committed workforce, 
- implementation of departmental policies and sustainable programmes, and
- people-centered development,

thereby raising the profile of Sport, Arts and Culture.”

1.3 Legislative mandate

Core mandates of the Department

The Department operates within the framework of Schedule 5, Part A of the South African 
Constitution, Act 108 of 1996, which includes the following:

- Archives other than national archives
- Libraries other than national libraries
- Museums other than national museums
- Provincial cultural matters
- Provincial recreation and amenities
- Provincial sport 

as well as the following:

- South African Crafts Development Strategy
- Free State White Paper on Sport and Recreation
- Free State Provincial Library and Information Services Act, 1999 (Act No. 5 of 1999)
- Free State Provincial Archives Act, 1999 (Act No. 4 of 1999)
- National Archives Act (No. 43 of 1996)
- White Paper on Arts, Culture and Heritage Services
- Collection Development Policy
- Legal Deposit Act, 1997
- Pan South African Language Board Act, 1995
- National Heritage Resource Act, 1999
- South African Geographical Names Committee Act, 1998
- Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation Act, 1997
- National Language Policy Framework

Councils

- Provincial Geographical Names Committee
- Provincial Heritage Resource Agency/Council
- Sport Advisory Council
- Sport and Recreation Council
- Provincial Arts and Culture Council
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Public entities

The Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation is a public entity under the auspices 
of the Department.  Phakisa is a Free State Government initiative duly constituted in terms of the 
Phakisa  Major  Sport  Events  and  Development  Act,  1997  (Act  No.  4  of  1997).   Phakisa's  legal 
mandate is to provide for the economic and human development of the citizens of the Free State 
Province by promoting and facilitating major sport events.

With the appointment of the new Member of the Executive Council in August 2007, a decision was 
made to focus on major sport events for the province, not limiting the Corporation only to motorsport. 
A new Board of Directors was appointed in November 2007 and the Chief Executive Officer started in 
January 2008 to carry out the new mandate. To date, Phakisa has been managed by limited staff 
resources only focusing on limited local racing events and renting out the track to keep it operational.

Trading activities

The following, namely:

- the Musicon,  an academy for music  in Bloemfontein,  which renders music  tuition services, 
which include outreach activities and functions

- the Community  Arts Centres in Thaba Nchu, Zamdela and Thabong, which render music, 
dance, sport and sewing and quilting tuition services to the respective communities and also 
include an early-learning centre in Thaba Nchu

- Basotho Cultural Village, a living museum in the Qwaqwa National Park and actively involved in 
craft development projects

- the Free State Sport Science Institute, which renders high performance and sport development 
programmes that include sport and exercise science, rehabilitation, sport development, sport 
training and services,

were regarded as trading activities within the Department after its establishment in 1997 and were 
integrated as part of the Department’s programmes with effect from 1 April 2006.

The Musicon was established in terms of the Education Act and was transferred from the Free State 
Department of Education to the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture with effect from 1 December 
1998.  As Musicon remains the last phase of the integration processes, a project team was appointed 
to examine the current status quo of Musicon in terms of its position within the Department and its 
relations with outside stakeholders, with the final view to accelerate transformation of the Musicon to 
bring it in line with the Department’s strategic goals and objectives.

It is expected that the project team will finalise its recommendations by 31 July 2008.
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2 Programme performance 
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2.1 Voted Funds

Appropriation Main 

Appropriation

Adjusted

Appropriation

Actual Amount 

Spent

Over-/Under- 

Expenditure

Equitable Share 114 516 19 417 131 316 (2 617)

Provincial Infrastructure Grant 22 300 1 357 23 657 -

Sport  and  Recreation 
Conditional Grant

15 206 780 15 986 -

National  Department  of  Arts 
and Culture –  Library Services 
Grant

16 470 - 16 251 219

Responsible Minister
Mr ES Magashule, Executive Authority of the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture

Administering Department Department of Sport, Arts and Culture

Accounting Officer Mrs BR Sempe, Superintendent-General

Aim of Vote

Vision

“An active, creative and informed Free State community.”

Mission

“Effective service delivery to the people of the Free State through: 

- collaboration with all relevant stakeholders, 
- a committed workforce, 
- implementation of departmental policies and sustainable programmes, and
- people-centered development,

thereby raising the profile of Sport, Arts and Culture.”

2.2 Key measurable objectives, programmes and achievements

2.2.1 Key measurable objectives

Strategic Objective per goal:

i) Administration

To render Management and Administrative Support Services

a) To render human resource management services.
b) To render financial and supply chain management services.
c) To render administrative auxiliary services.
d) To facilitate and manage skills development.
e) To establish an internal and external communication strategy.
f) To introduce special programmes (gender, youth, disability, HIV/AIDS) in the Department.
g) To render labour relations and advice services.
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h) To provide IT support services to the Department and affiliated institutions.
i) To manage a transport system.

All of these being the support base of the different line functions.

ii) Cultural Affairs

To render and manage arts and cultural affairs and heritage services in the province

a) To promote and co-ordinate performing arts services to promote people development and 
job creation.

b) To promote and co-ordinate visual and creative arts services to ensure skills development, 
job creation and contribute towards poverty alleviation.

c) To  administer  declared  cultural  institutions  to  ensure  people  development,  skills 
development and job creation.

d) To  render  museum  and  heritage  services  to  ensure  people  development  and  social 
cohesion.

e) To  implement  the  national  mandate  to  establish  the  Provincial  Geographical  Names 
Committee and the Provincial Heritage Resources Authority.

f) To render language services to ensure that the constitutional rights of the people are met 
by utilizing the main languages of the Province.

iii) Library and Archive Services

To manage library and information services

a) To provide technical support to 161 affiliated libraries.
b) To provide  library  and  information  services  to  communities  in  terms of  the  Free  State 

Provincial Library and Information Services Act, 1999 (Act No 5 of 1999).
c) To render a record management service to governmental bodies.
d) To manage archival records at repositories.

iv) Sport and Recreation

To promote sport and recreation development

a) To render community sport and recreation development services in terms of the approved 
White Paper on Sport and Recreation.

b) To do research on the needs in communities for sport development.
c) To market sport development programmes.
d) To render sport and recreation development services in communities by promoting mass 

sport participation within disadvantaged communities in development at sport activities in 
conjunction with local municipalities.

e) To provide equipment for sport and recreation development.
f) To stimulate and support capacity building programmes.
g) To administer the Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation Act, 1997 (Act 

No 4 of 1997).
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2.2.2 Programmes

Programme Sub-programme
1.  Administration 1.1  Office of the MEC (including Management)

1.2  Corporate Services
2.  Cultural Affairs 2.1  Management

2.2  Arts and Culture
-  Visual and Performing Arts
-  Musicon
-  Community Arts and Culture Centres

2.3  Museum and Heritage Services
-  Literary Museum Division
-  Community and Theme Museums
-  Basotho Cultural Village
-  Secretariat Services (Provincial Geographical Names Committee 

and Provincial Heritage Resources Authority)
2.4  Language Services 

3.  Library and Archive Services 3.1  Management
3.2  Library Services

-  Professional Support Services
-  Community Library Services

3.3  Archive Services
4.  Sport and Recreation 4.1  Management

4.2  Sport
-  Free State Sport Science Institute
-  Sport Development and Training

4.3 Recreation
-  Conditional Grant: Siyadlala Mass Participation Programme
-  Conditional Grant: Club Development

4.4 School Sport
-  Conditional Grant: School Sport

4.5  2010 FIFA World Cup
4.6  Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation

2.2.3 Achievements

Events held by the Department
The following events were successfully coordinated, supported and hosted by the department during 
the 2007/08 financial year:

• Freedom Day celebrations

• International Museum Day
• Provincial Indigenous Games

• SA Games media launch

• Boxing tournament

• During the month of September the Department celebrated Heritage Month through a vibrant 

programme of events and activities throughout the province.  Heritage Month was celebrated 
under the theme “Celebrating our Poetry” through the successful coordination and hosting of the 
following events:

o Heritage Month launch

o International Literacy Day

o Celebrating our Poetry gala evening

o Heritage legislation indaba

o Sesotho literature centenary celebration

o National Heritage Day celebration

o International Translation Day
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• In addition to the Heritage Month celebration events, the Department successfully coordinated 

and hosted the SA Games from 23 – 29 September 2007 whereby provinces participated in a 
multi-code sport tournament.

• From  26 – 28 October 2007 the Department hosted the OR Tambo Games for 2007 in the 

Lejweleputswa district, and Arts and Culture for the first time became a part of the games with a 
cultural programme. This programme included a choral performance called “ Free State sings 
OR Tambo songs”  which celebrated the life  of  the late  OR Tambo and commemorated his 
birthday. 

• Free  State  sport  legends  were  awarded  during  a  ceremony  held  on  3  November  2007  in 
Bloemfontein.

• The Department represented the Free State Province at Soccerex from 25 – 28 November 2007 
to promote the use of the province for practice venues during the 2010 FIFA World Cup by 
networking with international and national stakeholders.

• Motheo Disability Games were held on 5 December 2007 in Mangaung.
• The Free State Province also hosted the SABC Sport Awards on 7 December 2007, which put 

the Free State on the map.
• Basha Youth Festival was held from 12 – 15 December 2007.

Administration
• This programme managed to stay within the budget and ended up with an under-spending of R1 

million.  This assisted the Department in minimizing overall expenditure.
• During  the  year  new payment  procedures  were  established  to  expedite  payments.   Various 

measures were also put in place to improve and strengthen internal control.
• The Disposal Plan was approved before 31 March 2008.  This will assist with actual disposals 

during 2008/09.
• The organisational structure of Financial Administration was reviewed and a new structure was 

approved in August.  It is expected that critical vacant posts will be filled during 2008/09.  

• The Department collected R1.9 million of revenue which was above the revised target of R1.8 

million.  

• The BEE report was provided on a monthly basis with the verifiable 65% of businesses awarded 

to SMMEs.

Corporate Services
• An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) Unit has been established to promote/improve the 

well-being, morale and productivity of employees in the Department.   
• The Department, through the Human Resource Development Unit, participated in the Provincial 

Skills Development Expo held in Qwaqwa and organized by the Free State Youth Commission.
• During the 2007/08 financial year the Department achieved a 50 % target in terms of gender 

equity within the Senior Management Service (SMS) echelon.
African males: 3
African females: 4
White males: 2
White females: 1

Total males: 5
Total females: 5

• The Human Resources Subdirectorate held information sessions for employees who fall within 

the salary levels 1-5 to brief them on employee benefits, including leave, pension and housing.

Media relations
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• The year under review saw unprecedented media coverage of the Department’s activities and 
programmes. This was in terms of both advertisements placed in the media by the Department 
and media reports about programmes of the Department. 

• Articles about the Afrikaans Literary Museum continue to be dominant in Die Volksblad. Macufe 
media reports were predominantly negative although the statements relating to the role of the 
Department in terms of Macufe were somewhat positive.  There was tremendous coverage of 
sport and recreation activities and programmes. 

Cultural Affairs

Arts and Culture
• 20 craft  projects were selected to participate in the One of a Kind exhibition held in Midrand 

during 2007.
• A dance sport competition (ballroom) was held in Welkom in April 2007.

• “Investing in Culture” in association with the Department of Labour trained 5 crafters in pottery at 
Thabong Arts and Culture Centre. 

• Tsa Bonono / Macufe fringe auditions were conducted in 5 districts for the first time ever and 845 

items  delivered  by  Free  State  artists  were  judged.  80  artists  would  have  participated  in  the 
Macufe  festival  as  a  direct  result  of  the  auditions  –  30  jobs  were  created  by  utilising  art 
practitioners as adjudicators.  43 of the 80 artists/groups would have participated in the main 
programme and the rest of the artists in the fringe programme, but it did not materialise.  The 
artists could not perform during Macufe due to budgetary and other logistical problems.

• The Visual and Performing Arts Unit took 42 crafters to take part in MACUFE 2007 craft market. 

The unit was also part of the organising committee.

• The Visual and Performing Arts and Institutions Units also assisted 8 Free State artists and 4 staff 

members  to  attend  the  National  Arts  Festival  in  Grahamstown  to  do  research  on  the  best 
practices to be learnt from the festival in order to implement best practices in the planning of local 
performing arts festivals.

• 420 artists attended an Arts and Culture indaba and an interim Advisory Committee for the MEC 

was established.

• 20 crafters participated in One of a Kind 2007 during August 2007 at Gallaghar Estate in Midrand. 

The exposure to exhibit increased sales with orders and cash sales to the value of R35 045.

• The Tsa Setso crafters’ trust deed has been completed with the objective to empower Free State 

crafters through investing in  various portfolios on behalf  of  its  beneficiaries.  The trust  will  be 
independent.

• The Arts and Culture Subdirectorate took part in three international cultural exchange visits:

- 14 dancers from “Dikgeleke Dance Group” in Fouriesburg and “Simunye Cultural Group” in 
Harrismith represented the province in Dubai.

- 53  artists  (musicians,  dancers,  poets  and  crafters)  were  identified  and  prepared  for 
participation in the Accenta Trade Fair in Gent, Belgium. Free State Province and the city of 
Mangaung were the guests of honour. 

- 5 crafters and 2 officials attended cross-cultural  collaborative workshops with the Eastern 
Zonal Cultural Centre in Calcutta, India, with the theme  “Revival and Revitalization of Folk Art 
and Culture for Sustainable Livelihood”. 

• 2 tours were undertaken by Musicon for performances held in Welkom by Musicon Orchestra and 

Mangaung Strings Programme in Stellenbosch.
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• The Institutions Unit  led  the planning,  preparation (rehearsals)  and performances for  the OR 

Tambo  Games  Cultural  Programme.  200  artists  were  employed  during  the  three  official 
ceremonies that took place between 26 and 28 October 2007. They first received training and 
development from Victor Ntoni and Gabriel Stuurman (two national musicians who were part of 
the original production) and then prepared for the performances.

• The Visual and Performing Arts Unit received feedback from the Department of Arts and Culture 
(national) on the Investing in Culture applications from the Free State. 24 of the 79 projects that 
were assisted by the unit were approved and will be receiving funding in 2008/2009.

• The Baswa le Meetse project was completed and 73 schools participated in the project. 65 first, 

second and third place winners competed in the provincial selections in February 2008 and the 
winners in drama, music, poetry and praise singing received mentorship training.  They will also 
be representing the province in each genre at the National competitions. 

• The Thaba Nchu Community Art Centre has concluded an agreement with the National Youth 

Commission and the Flemish Government to run projects for 75 young people over three years, 
which started in January 2008.

• The  Institutions  Unit  was  awarded  a  one  year  learnership  by  MAPPP  Seta,  to  be  run  in 

partnership  with  Sibikwa Arts  Centre  of  Benoni,  Johannesburg.  20 young people  will  receive 
training in performing arts skills and will be awarded accredited certificates at the end of the year. 

• VUKA Music Festival, organised in partnership with PACOFS, was held for the first time outside 

Bloemfontein. It  was held in Tumahole (Parys).  Music workshops are being held place in the 
different districts where the musicians are based.

Museum and Heritage Services

• In order to facilitate working relations with the community, the Department hosted Moshoeshoe’s 

Day  on  19  May at  the  Basotho  Cultural  Village  with  Rea Hetla  Association.  Present  at  this 
function  was  the  representative  from the  Mountain  Kingdom  of  Lesotho,  Morena  Mathealira 
Seeiso. 

• A museum improvement plan was accepted by management.

•A successful  indaba  attended  by ±150  invited  stakeholders  was  held;  and  an  interim advisory 

committee was established to develop a plan of action.

Basotho Cultural Village
Basotho Cultural Village hosted the annual school competitions with about 3 000 learners taking part:
- Monyanyako music competitions - 25 August 2007 

- Traditional dance competitions - 1 September 2007

- Indigenous games competitions - 22 September 2007. 
Afrikaans Literary Museum (ALM)

- The curator of ALM undertook a successful outreach and collection-building field trip to establish/ 
renew contact with a number of authors in the Karoo and Southern Cape region. Literary material 
was collected.

- Video recordings were made.

- A meeting with Black Afrikaans authors was held.

- ALM contributed to the Heidedal Life Solutions Programme aimed at the youth in conflict with the 
law. 8 modules were presented.

Sesotho Literary Museum (SLM)
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- Sesotho  Literary  Museum  celebrated  the  centenary  of  Sesotho  literature  in  Wepener  by 
honouring Thomas Mofolo as the first  novelist  (Moeti  wa Botjhabela,  published in 1907). 300 
VIPs, including dignitaries from Lesotho, ± 800 community members and ± 100 staff members 
attended the celebrations.

- SLM  assisted  MoabaSesotho  Writers  Association  to  hold  a  successful  annual  conference 
attended by ± 150 writers and aspirant writers from all over the province.

Theme and Community Museums

- Presidential quiz functions were held with 60 learners and 10 educators from different schools 
in Motheo.

- A heritage youth awareness workshop was held in Bethulie, which culminated in the formation 
of a Heritage Forum.

- 3 chamber music concerts were held at the Old Presidency Museum and 300 people attended.

Language Services

•Language Services in collaboration with PanSALB Provincial Office, celebrated Translation Day on 
28 September 2007 in Sasolburg.

•A well-attended session of the Language Policy Working Committee was held in June 2007 where 

aspects of implementation of, as well  as feedback from the public on, the draft Language Policy 
were dealt with.  The event received positive media coverage.

•A delegation from the Department and the University  of  the Free State  visited the Province of 

Antwerp in Belgium at the end of November to attend a colloquim on Language and Exclusion, and 
to negotiate sponsorship for the Multilingual Information and Development project (MIDP IV) that will 
focus on building capacity in interpreting.  The Province of Antwerp approved the funding for the 
Multilingual  Information  and  Development  project  (MIDP  IV),  which  will  include  a  partnership 
between the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture and the Free State University aimed at building 
capacity in interpreting.  In terms of the project, at least six selected candidates will  be allocated 
bursaries to receive specialist training as simultaneous interpreters by the University.

Library and Archive Services
• On 7 September 2007 International Literacy Day was celebrated with an event for adult literacy 

learners and their friends. The event was attended by 75 persons. 

• On 21 September 2007 Heritage Day was held in Trompsburg with a Living Heritage function 

jointly presented by Library Services and Archive Services focussing on celebrating our poetry 
and music. The event was attended by approximately 130 people.

• 48 people were appointed as part of the Conditional Grant Project to work in public libraries. The 
staff started working on 1 August 2007 and an orientation programme was presented and library 
workers received computer training. 

• Computers and lines were installed at 45 libraries.  The successful implementation of the ICT 

infrastructure  is  contributing  greatly  to  the  FSGDP  objective  to  provide  online  access  for 
communities. 

• The new Refenkgotso Public Library was completed during November 2007 and the building was 
handed over to the Department on 4 December 2007. The library opened for the public during 
May 2008.

• The Selosesha Library was completed and handed over to the Department during March 2008. It 
was opened for the public during April 2008.

• A new library was opened at the Grootvlei Prison on request of the inmates who took the lead in 
establishing contact with the Department and negotiating an agreement. This is the second library 
to be opened at the Grootvlei Prison. 
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• Although the Provincial Aids Day event could not be presented as planned, six libraries in the 

Lejweleputswa  District  and  two  in  the  Motheo  District  hosted  events  to  promote  libraries  as 
resource centres for information on HIV/AIDS.

• Library Week was celebrated from 17-20 March 2007 in libraries throughout the Province. The 

theme “Local to Global” was used to launch and highlight libraries’ involvement in the 2010 World 
Cup. Many activities with a soccer theme were presented at libraries.

Sport and Recreation

Free State Sport Science Institute

Sport Science and Coaching Support
• 1450 athletes  were  assisted  with  sport  science  services  and exercise  rehabilitation,  with  the 

following breakdown:
− 2362 grade 8  learners were  tested  as  part  of  the  talent  identification  programme.  The 

demographical data are captured on a database.  The top 10 learners per school will be 
identified during July and allocated to District Satellites for more advanced assistance and 
training.

− 1450 interventions were done on athletes who made use of the FSSSI.

− 229 coaches received training in Generic Sport Science for coaches.

• National colour individuals conditioned at the FSSSI:

− Adele Niemand (SA Netball)

− Maryka Holtzhausen (SA Netball)
− Elzette Engelbrecht (SA Netball)
− Lourens van der Merwe (SA referee)

− Leanke Steyn (SA under-17 junior champion)
− CJ van der Linde [SA Rugby]
− Juan Smith [SA Rugby]

− Robbert Ebertson [SA Rugby Sevens]

− Johhny  Olifant,  one  of  the  boxers  allocated  to  the  FSSSI,  won  the  Free  State  boxing 
tournament.

• Sport Science courses presented:
- SANDF Physical Trainer Instructor Course
- Assistance with SARU Course
- Athletics Free State Coaching Association Course in Sasolburg, 270 coaches trained.

• The following teams were assisted with Sport Science Services:
− 2 teams participating in the Premier Soccer League
− 1 team participating in the Mvela Golden League
− Bloemfontein Celtic
− African Warriors Football Club
− Cheetah Netball
− Cheetah Rugby U/19 & /21
− Bloemfontein Celtic, African Warriors football club, Real Madrid [Botshabelo]
− Cheetah U/21, Vodacom and Super 14 rugby teams
− Jim Fouche Hockey, Netball, Rugby

− Mangaung Rugby Club

− CUT Netball 

− Eagle Development Netball Team
− Vodacom Amateur Rugby
− U19 FS Rugby Academy
− U18 Elite Rugby 
− Shimlas Rugby
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− FS Rope Skipping

• 99 % of the new Exercise Rehabilitation Facility has been completed.

• Two District Satellites are in the process to be established in Thabo Mofutsanyane and Fezile 
Dabi districts.

• Two professional boxers were appointed and are currently busy with scientific training regimes at 
the FSSSI.

• 11 students are completing their learnerships at FSSSI (collaboration between SARU, Free State 
Rugby, Technical High School Bloemfontein and FSSSI)

• Service delivery breakdown:

Services Male Female
Testing 320 190
Conditioning 33 18
Rehabilitation 31 19
Nutrition 57 51
Total 441 278

Wellness and Specialized Services
• The Wellness Key System was installed.

• 145 athletes were assisted with rehabilitation service.

• 13 interventions were executed to clients of the FSSSI on wellness issues.

• Research is done to find a way to assist and support athletes with a well balanced meal and drink 
every  day,  which  will  be  affordable  to  all  identified  athletes  at  the  local  talent  development 
centres.

• One player  of  the Protea  Netball  Team for  the world  championships,  one of  the Free  State 
national referees and one player of the Figian Seven, a side team, were conditioned at the FSSSI.

Community Sport

Women in sport

• A fun run was held in Trompsburg on 11 August 2007 and 300 participants were involved.

• A chess tournament was held in Bloemfontein on 4 August 2007 and 250 players participated in 

the Women’s Month programme of activities. 
• The Rural Girls Games was held on 9 June 2007 in Theunissen and 500 girls participated.
Indigenous games
• Two training camps were held for team preparation as follows:

− Bloemfontein from 10 – 12 August 2007.

− Gariep Dam from 27 – 29 August 2007 and 101 participants were involved.

• A send-off function was held at Gariep Dam, where Provincial Colours were awarded for the 2007 

National Indigenous Games Festival. 
• All 5 districts took part in the selection of the Provincial Indigenous Team on 23 June 2007 in 

Qwaqwa  in  preparation  for  the  National  Indigenous  Games  to  be  held  in  Eastern  Cape  in 
September.

SA Games
• Federations held training camps on different dates according to code specifics during the month 

of August and September 2007.

• A provincial Team Free State camp was held from 21 – 23 September 2007 in Bloemfontein.
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• A send-off function for Team Free State was held in Mangaung on 22 September 2007 on which 

occasion Provincial Colours were awarded to Team Free State prior to its campaign in the 2007 
Games hosted by the province.

• The provincial slogan “Province with a PASSION for the GAME” was launched on 

22 September 2007 by the MEC as part of the Team Free State send-off function.
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Capacity   building  

• An International Olympic Committee course in Sport Administration was held in Thaba Nchu from 

20 – 24 August 2007 and 28 officials participated.
• 98  people  were  trained  from  2-6  July  2007  in  life  skills  for  Siyadlala  Mass  Participation 

Programme.

• From 20-24 August 2007, a total of 118 people were trained in administration for specific codes 

within school sport.

• 39 officials were re-assessed / trained in Kroonstad for club development.

• 54 administrators were trained in coaching in specific codes for school sport.

• A capacity building course in Life Skills was presented from 4 – 8 June 2007, targeting 50 sport 

assistants and 5 cluster coordinators.
• Basic facility management (district) course:

- 7 – 9 January 2008 Harrismith = 54 participants
- 10 – 12 January 2008 Parys = 52 participants
- 14 -16 February 2008 Welkom = 56 participants
- 19 – 21 February 2008 Wepener = 48 participants.

• Advance facility management (provincial) course:
- 9 – 15 March 2008 Kroonstad = 40 participants.

National   events  
• Free State hosted the National Basketball Championships in Mangaung Indoor Centre from 

17 – 19 September 2007. 

• Team Free State participated in indigenous games with 101 participants – East London, 

30 August  –  3  September 2007 and obtained position seven which is  an improvement  from 
position nine in 2006.

• Team Free State participated in the SA Games with 520 participants in Mangaung from 23 – 29 

September 2007 and obtained overall position five, with a total of 50 medals comprising of 21 
gold, 11 silver, and 18 bronze medals. This feat ensured that the province retained the position it 
obtained in the 2005 SA Games.

• A boxing tournament for  the SA featherweight  title  was held  to  promote sport  tourism in the 

province on 22 June 2007.

• The 2007 Baby Champs finals were held in Thabong, Welkom on 11 January 2008.

• The 2007 SABC Boxing Awards were hosted by the Free State Province on 15 February 2008 

and the Boxing Convention on 16 February 2008.

• An International boxing title fight was hosted by Free State on 8 March 2008.

Other strategic programmes

• A provincial  sport  indaba was held  on 30 August  2007 as part  of  determining a turn-around 

strategy for Free State Sport and Recreation.

• MUNMEC was held on 24 August 2007 to discuss a way forward on sport-related matters with all 

affected stakeholders with all municipalities represented.
Mass participation

• Inclusive of the events coordinated and organized by this Directorate, the following took place:

− A mass participation programme conducted for sport-specific training in Xhariep from 18 – 23 

November 2007 and in Bloemfontein Outdoor Sport Centre from 25 – 30 November 2007.
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− A provincial  fun  walk/fun  run  was  held  on  26  May  2007  in  Mangaung  and  500  people 

participated.

− The Lejweleputswa district festival took place in Welkom on 5 May 2007 and 1500 learners 

participated.

− The Xhariep district  festival  in Zastron on took place on 12 May 2007 and 1500 learners 

participated.

− The Thabo Mofutsanyane district festival in Senekal took place on 26 May 2007 and 1500 

learners participated.

− An equipment handover function was held on 26 February 2008 to hand over equipment to 90 

schools involved in the Mass Participation Programme and also attire to 12 clubs.

− A nation-building Easter Tournament was hosted by the Free State from 21 – 24 March 2008 

with 20 clubs from different provinces participating.

− Hub festivals:

Date Venue No of participants
14 July 2007 Frankfort, Fezile Dabi 450
21 July 2007 Botshabelo, Motheo 650
8 September 2007 Reitz, Thabo Mofutsanyane 400

2.2.4 Overview of the service delivery environment for 2007/08

Administration

• The  Special  Programmes  Unit  managed,  with  inadequate  funds,  to  establish  4  Moral 

Regeneration Movement  District  Committees (Xhariep,  Thabo Mofutsanyane, Fezile  Dabi  and 
Lejweleputswa).  

Cultural Affairs

Arts and Culture

• The commercialization of Macufe in 2006 and 2007 under the Department of Tourism, Economic 
and Environmental  Affairs  limited the avenues of  exposure for the local  artists  identified  and 
developed by Arts and Culture.

• The Arts and Culture sector is largely on a developmental level and lacks the sophistication of 
provinces like Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal.  This has caused fragmentation and makes it difficult 
for the department to reach its desired targets.  The department has seen an increase in the 
unemployment rate among artists and is currently providing training and capacity building, utilising 
the same artists as service providers and also formalising the sector for future growth in both 
performing and craft areas.

• The Arts and Culture Subdirectorate is realising a growth in its responsibilities due to new policy 
directives and growing public demands.  The budget provided to the directorate has not been 
enough to achieve all its goals, fill all critical vacancies and to attend meetings and visit projects 
on a regular basis to address organizing and implementing of priority projects as per directives. 
More awareness should also be created to diversify existing cultural programmes to increase 
international participation and exposure, for which the allocation is not adequate.
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• New policy directives and associated ventures, i.e. 2010 FIFA World Cup and OR Tambo Games, 
have  improved  the  department’s  visibility  in  public  where  service  delivery  is  concerned  and 
therefore attracted attention to its budget limitations.  This should lead to a review of the allocated 
annual funds. No provision is made in the budget for specific projects such as the celebration of 
International Museum Day, Heritage Day and Freedom Day.

• The Memorandum of Agreement with the Department of Education provided challenges to run 
programmes between the two departments, except for informal programmes such as training to 
schools in traditional dances and the celebration of Africa Day.  A meeting was called between 
the two departments and programmes were workshopped and deadlines set for implementation.

• Different units within different community centres implemented outreach programmes as follows:
- Mmabana Music Unit: training in Thaba Nchu & Botshabelo 
- Zamdela Centre: a sewing training programme in basic dress making for the inmates in the 

Groenpunt Prison. 
Still  this  was not  adequate in terms of  participation and development  of  professional  artists. 
Stakeholders were identified to collaborate with in order to be able to reach out to communities 
and develop artists in the province.

• Co-operation  and  partnership  with  other  government  departments  and  municipalities  were 
adopted as a strategy to leverage where possible and strengthen service delivery.

• The  proclamation  of  the  Provincial  Arts  and  Culture  Council  legislation  facilitated  the 
establishment of a permanent structure with a board, which will be able to source and disburse 
funds to the artistic public.  This will clarify the different roles and provide focus on the activities of 
the  Department.   The  challenge  is  now for  the  Department  to  provide  an  improved  annual 
allocation.

Museum and Heritiage Resource Services

• The departmental internal audit on museums made it clear that a need exists for accelerating the 
transformation of museums to reflect the diversity of all Free State cultures in displays. Therefore 
a museum improvement plan was developed.  The rationalization and transformation of museums 
will  ensure, among others, the acquisition of new generation collections that are relevant and 
appropriate, which includes collection development and management (including IT requirements) 
and training and empowerment of museum personnel.

• Inadequate budget allocations hamper the filling of vacancies that remain unfunded in Museum 
and Heritage Resource Services, thereby impacting negatively on service delivery.  

• Currently  the  museums in  the  province  are  not  representing the  history  of  all  people  in  the 
province and measures are being taken to cluster the museums to reflect the history of all people 
in the province.

• The amalgamation of the Qwaqwa National Park and the Golden Gate Highlands National Park is 
hindering the process of opening the overnight huts built by the South African National Park in the 
Qwaqwa National Park. The operation of the huts will bring employment to residents of Maluti-a-
Phofung and it will increase the visiting rate at the Basotho Cultural Village; thereby improving 
revenue and the image of the village. Previously disadvantaged artists and crafters will get more 
income through the sale of arts and crafts. Cultural performances will also create income for youth 
involved  in  these  activities  as  the  Village  is  planning  to  introduce  evening  activities  that  will 
entertain tourists, making use of accommodation facilities at the village.
A service level  agreement between the South African National  Parks and the Department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture regarding the management of Basotho Cultural Village in the conservation 
area  of  the  Qwaqwa  National  Park  is  vital  in  order  to  speed  up  service  delivery.  Finding  a 
concerning ownership of the property should be prioritized.
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• The communication problems caused by frequent power failures and the inadequate transmission 
tower as well as poor cellular phone reception at the Basotho Cultural Village had an impact on 
service delivery.  The termination of the building contract, for conference and restaurant facilities, 
due to poor performance by the contractor, negatively affected the utilization of tourist facilities as 
well.

• Provincial museums did not get any increased allocation to provide for improved maintenance 
budgets, which impacted negatively on general service delivery e.g. Basotho Cultural Village had 
plans which were not completed.  Furthermore, the security risk increased at the facilities.

• The Provincial Geographical Names Committee created awareness with meetings held with five 
municipalities and encouraged debates on the standardization and transformation of geographical 
names.  The role municipalities should play in the standardization is critical to accelerate this 
process.

• The Permit Committee was able to assist contractors and architects with permits for demolitions 
and renovations on buildings older than 60 years.

• The  Provincial  Heritage  Resources  Authority  held  regular  meetings  and  held  one  public 
awareness workshop.  There is no full-time staff to assist with research regarding the declaration 
of heritage sites.  

Language Services

• Free State municipalities, the provincial departments as well as other language stakeholders from 
tertiary  institutions,  had  representatives  in  the  Language  Policy  Working  Committee  of  the 
Multilingual Informatics and Development Project (MIDP) III project, to support the development of 
a Free State Provincial Government Language Policy.

• The announcement by the Premier and publication of the 2nd draft of the Free State Provincial 
Government  Language  Policy  for  comment  by  the  Free  State  public  during  2006/07,  and 
subsequent  media  coverage,  created  awareness  among  the  public  that  they  are  entitled  to 
receive services and information in a language they understand.

• The outsourcing of translation and interpreting services in addition to in-house translation and 
interpreting, will form part of the language policy implementation plan in order to spread the cost 
of implementation across all Free State Provincial Government departments. The resources for 
the implementation of the Free State Language Policy remain a concern and a phase-in approach 
of filling posts will be taken to strengthen the delivery capacity.

Library and Archive Services

• The provision of library and information services was dominated by the conditional grant for the 
recapitalization of community library services.  The Department received R16.470 million as the 
first instalment of a 3 year grant.  The main focus areas of the conditional grant business plan 
were the following:

- improving  cooperation with  municipalities  with  service  level  agreements and a provincial 
public library forum

- upgrading library material collections at libraries
- providing libraries with an ICT infrastructure
- assisting libraries with additional staff
- upgrading human resources capacity at departmental level to improve service delivery

• Provision of public library services is a provincial mandate but municipalities are currently funding 
the administration of public library services.  A decline in service delivery is experienced because 
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it  is  not a municipal  mandate.   The conditional  grant  is  not addressing this aspect  of service 
delivery.  An amount of R90 million per annum is needed for the administration of public library 
services.  The possibility to have the conditional grant folded into the equitable share to address 
this challenge taken up with the Provincial Treasury.  Consultations with municipalities on areas 
where they can assist the Department will be undertaken as well.

• With the installation of computers at libraries, the security risk increased with burglaries which 
took place.  These incidents occurred despite the fact that the libraries involved have security 
fences and burglar proofing in place. An investigation by experts under the leadership of  the 
Security Manager will determine how security measures can be improved.  

• The  lack  of  Free  State-based  suppliers  of  library  materials  made  it  difficult  to  meet  the 
Departmental  targets  set  for  BBBEE.   An  attempt  will  be  made  to  invite  suppliers  with 
advertisements to register on the provincial database of suppliers and workshop for prospective 
suppliers will be presented to assist them to form partnerships with established companies.

• The Archives Services Subdirectorate was guided by the following:

- implementation of the Provincial Records Management Policy
- identifying and addressing gaps in the archival collection by implementing the oral history 

programme
- ensuring the conservation and safekeeping of archival records in the Archives Repository.

Sport and Recreation

• The operationalization of the new macro-organizational structure of the Chief Directorate: Sport 
and Recreation has been a major aspect that received ongoing attention.  A turnaround strategy 
adopted by the Chief Directorate has paved the way to realign Community Sport and the Free 
State Sport Science Institute in order to meet the needs of the sporting community in the Free 
State.  The implementation and synchronization of the two service delivery directorates are of the 
utmost importance.  Successful implementation will be the platform from which the needs of the 
communities concerning sport development, training, advance sport and recreation services and 
monitoring and utilization of sport and recreation facilities will be addressed.

• To ensure that this turnaround strategy becomes a reality, there are challenges to address and 
issues that need ongoing attention:
- Monitoring and evaluation of conditional grants.
- Under-utilization of hubs.
- Re-activation of the national agreement with the Department of Education.
- Service delivery  to communities,  especially  with  regard to the implementation of  the two 

mass participation programmes.
- Strengthening the relations with Lesotho.
- Establishment of a new structure for organized sport.
- Obtaining funds to ensure that high performance services can be taken to the communities.
- Reviewing the unfunded mandate of School Sport in collaboration with the Department of 

Education.  School Sport must be re-aligned to the new national School Sport Policy.
- The current preparations for the 2010 FIFA World Cup within the Free State relating to the 

tournament are mainly driven by the Host City and in terms of FIFA compliancy.  There are 
no provincially coherent plans to inform province-wide development legacies for Sport, Arts 
and  Culture.   The  establishment  of  a  2010  FIFA  World  Cup  Unit  will  ensure  the 
implementation of  programmes and projects  designed to promote sport,  arts  and culture 
legacies associated with the tournament.  Funding is needed to setup this unit.

- Strengthening working relations and cooperation between the Chief Directorate: Sport and 
Recreation and the newly  appointed  Phakisa  Board,  keeping in  mind the ANC Lekgotla 
decision that Phakisa becomes involved with 2010 FIFA World Cup preparations. Roles and 
responsibilities need to be clarified by means of a Service Level Agreement.
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2.2.5 Overview of the organisational environment for 2007/08

Administration
There has been an increase in the demand for services in the Department, especially during the last 
six months of the financial year.  This placed a lot of pressure on the administration staff as a whole, 
which will partly be relieved during 2008/09 with the filling of certain vacancies.

To  ensure  compliance  with  the  Public  Finance  Management  Act  regarding  payment  of  service 
providers  within  30 days,  an arrangement  was made that  all  invoices  should  be sent  directly  to 
Finance to expedite the payment process.

Inadequate security and security management in the Department are a challenge and the Department 
will attempt on awareness campaigns / information sessions on a regular basis, to address this.

In an attempt to monitor the implementation of the Service Delivery Improvement Plan a mechanism 
was put in place to monitor the implementation of promises made and to report on a quarterly basis.

The use or commitment of suppliers that are not on the Department’s system resulted in the delays in 
payments and also non-compliance with acquisition of goods and services procedures, whereby the 
application of PPPFA was compromised in that it is done as a “paper exercise” after service has been 
rendered.   The Department  attempted  to  identify  and register  preferred  service  providers  on the 
system before any commitment is made.  The new centralized database system implemented by 
Provincial Treasury and ensuring that Supply Chain Management procedures on the acquisition of 
goods and services are adhered to will solve all such related problems.  This caused an increase in 
irregular expenditure in the Department as reported in the Annual Financial Statements. To deliberate 
on these cases Liability Committee meetings were convened.

The revenue collection of the Department was a challenge this year with the integration of Basotho 
Cultural Village, Free State Sport Science Institute and Mmabana Cultural Centre.  Stock items at 
these  entities  were  not  controlled  in  an  effective  and  transparent  manner.   A  system  will  be 
implemented to control stock and the restaurant at FSSSI will be outsourced.

Asset workshops were held for Asset Controllers to address the problem of movements that are not 
reported and proper stocktaking reports that are not done, despite training provided.  Investigation into 
an asset management bar-coding system to be bought for proper accounting of all assets will  be 
undertaken.

The function of contract management within the Supply Chain Management Unit has not been staffed 
and had a serious impact on photocopiers contracts as most officials had inherited contracts.  Due to 
a lack of  experienced personnel  to deal  with  contracts  a new structure  was proposed to  include 
contract management so that proper auditing can be done on all leases and other contracts.

Risk Management and Fraud Prevention are not attended to on a full-time basis.  Additional funding 
was requested from Provincial Treasury in order to fill the benchmarked posts of Chief Risk Officer 
and Risk Analyst.

Corporate Services
The Arts  and Cultural  Affairs  Directorate  was  restructured.   Two directorates,  each  with  its  own 
Director post, were created and approved by DPSA. The micro structures of these directorates were 
also restructured and placements were done.

The additional posts created as a result of the two conditional grants (Library Services and Sport and 
Recreation) have an impact on the capacity of Administration, due to the increase in transactions to 
be processed and human resources to be managed.

The Department experienced a high staff turnover due to the loss of officials to other departments and 
organizations, which is affecting service delivery.  Human Resources will develop a Recruitment and 
Retention Strategy for the Department.
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Cultural Affairs
The critical post of Senior Manager: Cultural Affairs was filled.

Within the various cultural programmes there was an approved staff establishment of 591 posts, with 
229 posts filled and  362 (mainly unfunded) posts vacant.  The majority of the posts require scarce 
skills, and due to the unfilled posts, pressure is placed on existing staff members for effective service 
delivery.  The diversity of the various components (i.e. cultural services, music schools, museums, 
etc) requires an understanding of the nature of the services and clients, placing further pressure on 
the existing staff members for effective service delivery.  The situation is exacerbated by the fact that 
local municipalities are not funding local museums.

The need for skills development for museum officials to be empowered in the museulogical field also 
exists.  Challenges are experienced to attract suitably qualified and experienced personnel for the 
Community Art Centres, Museums and the Musicon.  Consolidation of training needs of staff into 
customized capacity building is essential, as are the selection and recruitment of staff.

Language Services
After restructuring both Sesotho translators were moved to the Sesotho Development Unit, leaving the 
translation unit with two funded posts, one filled (Afr/Eng) and one vacated through retirement of an 
incumbent, with the result that the said translators still have to be used for translation. This negatively 
affects their Sesotho terminology development functions which are undertaken in collaboration with 
various stakeholders. The post of Chief Quality Control Sesotho translator should be filled as a matter 
of priority.

The previous Head of Language Services was placed as Head of the Language Policy Unit and made 
Acting  Manager  of  the  Language  Services  Subdirectorate.   Filling  of  the  position  of  Manager: 
Language Services will be expedited during 2008/09.

Presently there are no interpreting unit, though posts were allocated in the new structure.  To enable 
the interpreting unit to commence, a head for interpreting should be appointed.  Currently only the 
coordination of the Multilingual Informatics and Development Project (MIDP IV) is executed with focus 
on building interpreting capacity.

Library and Archive Services
The organizational environment was greatly influenced by the challenge to successfully implement the 
conditional grant projects aimed at the recapitalization of community library services. 16 posts were 
created to build capacity for the implementation of the grant, but only 10 of these could be filled.  The 
conditional grant also had an impact on components outside the Library Services Programme, namely 
the Human Resources, IT and Finance components which were closely involved in implementing key 
projects. 

Uncertainty  about  the governance  structure  for  community  library  services  remained a  challenge 
which must be resolved now that the outcome of the national investigation into the issue has been 
published.

Performance in the Programme came under severe pressure because numerous critical vacancies 
could  not  be filled  due to  reprioritisation of  objectives  and identification of  new objectives  in  the 
Department.  The  most  critical  posts  not  filled  are  the  Manager:  Community  Library  Services, 
Manager: Professional Support Services and Head: Free State Records Centre. The opening of two 
newly built libraries had to be delayed because staff could not be appointed. Critical vacancies in two 
newly created district offices could not be filled either. 

On the positive side it can be stated that the upgrading of the ICT infrastructure and appointment of 
additional staff at public libraries improved the organisational environment. Access to libraries and 
information was improved and the administration of libraries will improve with the implementation of 
an electronic library management system at libraries. 

Due to the scarcity of skills in the field of librarianship and archive services, a bursary programme to 
recruit students in this study field will be investigated.
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Sport and Recreation
The Sport and Recreation Chief Directorate was restructured to align it to the Department’s Strategic 
Plan.  Changes approved were the creation of a FIFA World Cup 2010 component and a Wellness 
Division and the re-allocation of the support services to each directorate.

The  structure  was  also  created  to  differentiate  between  the  fixed  establishment  and  the  posts 
additional to the establishment (conditional grant posts).

The  greatest  challenge  in  this  Programme  remains  to  acquire  more  funding  in  order  to  deliver 
envisaged sport and recreation programmes and services as well as the appointment of more staff to 
be able to implement the national and provincial strategic objectives.

The critical post of Chief Director: Sport and Recreation was filled.

With  this  appointment  the  challenge  was  addressed,  with  the  turnaround  strategy  adopted,  and 
alignment of the organizational structure and post establishment of the Sport and Recreation Chief 
Directorate to the core business of the Department. This resulted in roles and responsibilities having 
been pinpointed as follows:

The Recreation Directorate:

* A Unit for Recreation & Mass Participation dealing with MIG coordination and community mass 
participation programmes

* A Unit  for School Sport  dealing with  School  Sport  Mass Participation programmes and Inter-
provincial School Sport Competitions

* A  Unit  for  Sport  Development  &  Client  Services  dealing  with  community-based  sport  and 
recreation training, major sport events and sport legacy projects

The Sport Directorate:

* A Unit for Sport Science and Rehabilitation dealing with sport testing, elite sport conditioning and 
rehabilitation

* A Unit for District High Performance and Talent Development dealing with rendering district high 
performance services as well as talent development at municipality level

* A Division for Facility Management and Client Services that will mainly deal with managing the 
FSSSI facility, marketing the FSSSI product and services as well facilitating all high performance 
capacity building programmes

Issues of ongoing concern for this Chief Directorate are:
- The  appointment  of  Sport  Assistants  and  Club  Coordinators  within  School  Sport  and  Club 

Development.
- The re-alignment of the Chief Directorate’s functions within the allocated budget.
- The implementation of the Turnaround Strategy.
- The high vacancy rate in the Sport and Recreation Chief Directorate.

2.2.6 Strategic overview and key policy developments for the 2007/08 financial year

The following policy guidelines were directed by the MEC: Sport, Arts and Culture:

General principles
Strategic thrust of the Department in all programmes to focus on:
- Strengthening the Batho Pele principles
- Higher involvement of youth in the strategic objectives

Specific guidelines

o 2006, “Year of the Women” as backdrop to the 50th anniversary of the women anti-pass march of 
1956: Programme of activities and projects should unfold to celebrate victories over injustices of 
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the past, to honour women who marched to the Union Buildings protesting against pass laws and 
to recognise the contributions made to date in the various sectors to empower and improve the 
lives of South African women.  

o Celebrating the 30th anniversary of the 1976 heroic youth battle against the apartheid education 
system: Coordination by the Department jointly with the youth movements and other partners, 
projects  and programmes, in partnership  with  the Free State Youth Commission,  to  advance 
youth programmes in the province, to support the Basha Arts Festival and to make a contribution 
to the Premier’s awards targeting young people.

o Full maintenance of the Supply Chain Management Unit to assist the Department in the following 
critical aspects that require ongoing attention:
- Effective and efficient streamlining of the procurement of goods and services for the purpose 

of implementing the Department’s strategic goals and objectives.
- Expansion  of  the  network  of  suppliers  of  goods  and  services  to  include  SMMEs  and 

previously disadvantaged individuals.
- Payment of suppliers within 30 days after delivery of goods and services.

o Development  of  a  strategic  approach  towards  the  implementation  of  the  Moral  Regeneration 
Movement programmes for both government and communities.  

o Development of a fully integrated and cohesive arts and culture policy in the province, with an 
implementation plan.

o Development  of  a  language  policy  and  implementation  plan  for  the  provincial  government. 
Language is central in communication and thus every avenue must be explored to strengthen 
capacity in this field.

o Promotion and performance of music, one of the artistic and cultural expressions that many of our 
people revel in, an art form that we need to promote and never let it perish. Through Musicon and 
Community  Arts  Centres we should  continue to  advance music  among our  communities and 
maximize our efforts in this regard, transform the racial demographics of staff and programmes, 
as well as the music disciplines.

o Integration of Thaba Nchu, Zamdela and Thabong Community Arts Centres and alignment of 
Musicon into the service delivery programme of the Department in order to move the Department 
closer to the one-stop district office framework

o Support of the following four craft projects as part of poverty alleviation and job creation through 
the Investing in Culture Programme:
- Afriwo Exotics in Mangaung
- Bompodi Arts and Crafts in Virginia
- Ikgopoleng Sewing Project in Thabong
- Menwana Beads and Buttons in Clocolan

o Further  contributions towards poverty alleviation, particularly in areas such as Memel and Van 
Stadensrus where a need for projects was identified.

o Major cultural  events to be presented throughout the province.  Among some of  the Arts and 
Culture public events hosted are the following:
- Freedom Day celebrations
- Heritage Day celebrations.

o Development of integrated intangible heritage projects such as oral history/  living history/  oral 
history  recordings  by  Provincial  Museums,  Sesotho  Language  Museum,  Afrikaans  Literature 
Museum, Basotho Cultural Village, Arts & Culture centres and the Free State Archives.

o Building on the establishment of the Sesotho Literary Museum.
o Transformation of  provincial museums into centres of community participation to accelerate the 

transformation of the country’s heritage landscape.
o Continued support to :

- Provincial Heritage Resources Authority (PHRA)
- Provincial Geographical Names Committee (PGNC)
- Provincial Arts and Culture Council (PAC),
subject  to  a memorandum of  understanding to  be achieved between each Council  and the 
Department.

o More effective and efficient alignment of programme and projects between Community Sport and 
the High Performance Centre.
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o Through the Siyadlala Programme, with the assistance of a bigger conditional grant, continued 
strengthening and implementing towards the realisation of the objectives of:
- changing community perspective to an active healthy lifestyle;
- reducing crime;
- enhancing positive leisure activities;
- increasing frequency of sport and recreational participation;
- increasing the  number  of  people  with  disabilities  and  elderly  people  participating  in 

programmes by an extra 100 000.
o Tackling two huge challenges, i.e:

- The Free State was granted the bid to host the 2007 Games in Mangaung, which required 
collaboration with other Departments, municipalities and stakeholders in the sporting fraternity 
that included SASCOC, to prepare for this event. 

- Preparations for the hosting of the 2010 World Cup to be kept on track and to bring forward a 
properly costed business plan. 

o A new programme of  competitive school sport in order to deliver on multi-coded tournaments 
such as ball games, summer games, athletics, girls games and so on. 

o Continuation of sport-specific development clinics, coaching and education to youth and people 
from disadvantaged communities (Sport Development and Training Centre).

o Ensuring that the 3-year sport development agreement with the Flemish Government bears fruit 
for the Free State people (High Performance Centre).

o Promotion of accessibility of the High Performance Centre services to deserving athletes properly 
identified during the Siyadlala programme, and developing sport leadership and coaches.

o Strengthening strategic capability and providing leadership.
o Ensuring that the Department’s actions are guided by a strong ethical code.

The strategic goals and objectives as in the 5-year Strategic Plan were revamped in order to:

- bring the strategic goals, strategic objectives and measurable objectives (outcomes) in line 
with  the  Sport,  Arts  and  Culture  national  sector  where  performance  according  to  the 
measurable objectives can be compared for all the 9 provinces;

- encourage the integration, harmonization and coordination of the activities of different units 
per subprogramme;

- at  the  same  time,  consolidate  the  various  objectives  for  the  different  units  per 
subprogrammes, so that evaluation of performance per subprogramme can be streamlined.

The following major policy shifts were implemented:

Administration

• Supporting the youth development programmes, especially from the previously disadvantaged 
groups during this period, is part of the policy emphasis. The awarding of bursaries to young and 
talented  PDIs  is  one  of  the  contributions  of  the  programme.  Through  the  Supply  Chain 
Management the Department endeavours to give business to up-and-coming local entrepreneurs 
so  that  they  can  grow.  Well-established  companies  will  in  future  be  encouraged  to  take 
newcomers under their wing to provide employment and thereby growing the economy.

• Taking  care  of  the  Department’s  customers,  both  internally  and  externally,  is  an  ongoing 
obligation.  There is a commitment to implement Batho Pele principles through a customer care 
plan.

• Occupational Health and Safety was included as one of the objectives under this Programme, 
since all Departments are to implement the Occupational Health and Safety Act.  The Act is about 
the promotion of health and safety in the work environment and reporting requirements such as 
the regulatory reports on injuries on duty.  A policy was developed and approved.

33



• Continuous efforts are made to ensure that service providers are paid within 30 days. The use of 
the centralised database system will assist in this regard.

• Awarding of 70% of business to SMMEs remains a priority and improvement on BEE reporting a 
must.

Cultural Affairs

• Utilizing the Mangaung Strings Programme, a string instrument development programme, which 

has become a flagship for the Department, is one way of preserving the music art  form. The 
expansion of the project throughout the province will advance general music appreciation among 
our communities.

• Among the  major  cultural  events,  Arts  and  Culture  took  part  in  the  OR Tambo Games and 

presented a cultural programme.

• The Department held a consultative workshop with the arts and culture stakeholders to discuss 

challenges and the way forward for the sector.

• The Thaba Nchu Community Arts Centre concluded an agreement with the Flemish Government 

and the National Youth Commission to run three development programmes.  There will also be 
outreach programmes to the Community Arts Centres in Zamdela and Thabong.

• A  consultative  workshop  was  held  with  the  museum  and  heritage  stakeholders  to  discuss 

challenges and the way forward for the sector.

• The strategic objectives were consolidated to streamline the transformation of  museums from 

their current static nature to centres of community participation.  This was also assisted by the 
integration of Basotho Cultural Village into the subprogramme.

Library and Archive Services

• Implementing  the  programme  for  the  recapitalization  of  community  libraries  made  possible 
through the 3 year conditional grant available for this purpose. The programme will focus on:
− Improving staff capacity at community libraries.

− Improving access to information by developing an ICT infrastructure for community libraries.

− Upgrading and expanding the collection of information resources in libraries, focussing on 
study materials, materials in indigenous languages and African and South African literature 
and history.

− Promoting a culture of reading.

− Resolving governance and funding issues in respect of the provision and administration of 
library services and establishing a functional governance model.  

• Cooperation in the development of the National Transformation Charter for Library Services.

• Promoting the establishment of Free State-based suppliers of library materials. 

• Focusing  on  the  implementation  of  the  Provincial  Records  Management  Policy  at  all 
governmental bodies.

• Maintaining sound archives management  practices at  the Archives Repository  to ensure the 
proper safekeeping and conservation of public records.

• Implementing the programme for recapitalization of community libraries made possible with the 
3- year conditional grant coming from the National Department of Arts and Culture, focussing on 
improving of staff capacity, developing an ICT infrastructure and upgrading book collections.

• Developing a functional  model for  library  administration within  the framework of  the national 
recommendations for the governance and funding of library services.  

34



• Fast-tracking and expanding the provision of government information services at public libraries 
to meet the growing demand for access to government information.

• A change in priorities within the Department resulted in the down-scaling of the infrastructure 
programme. Only two current projects were completed and the rest of the programme will  be 
implemented at a slower rate with only one new project to start in 2008/09.

Sport and Recreation

• Community needs were identified and translated into achievable sport and recreation 
programmes.  The development of sport and recreation programmes creates enthusiasm and a 
culture of mass participation.

• Ways to enable delivery on the needs of the community need to include the following:
- Overseeing the implementation of national and provincial policies with regard to sport and 

recreation in the province by updating the Free State White Paper.
- Ensuring  that  sport  and  recreation  management  structures  are  operational  (MUNMEC, 

FSSRC).
- Influencing municipalities to budget for sport and recreation programmes and facilities.
- Coordinating of local sport bodies to be in line with the national sport structures.
- Introducing  controls  to  ensure  effective  accountability  and  cooperation  among  sport  and 

recreation structures.
- Revamping the mass participation delivery structure to ensure maximum participation.
- Making  sport  science  available  for  all  sporting  communities  in  the  Free  State  via  the 

establishment of District High Performance Satellites and Local Talent Development Centres 
and appointing qualified staff to operate these District Satellites.

- Facilitating support and rendering high performance services, this requires that the services of 
the Free State Sport Science Institute should be marketed to all Federations and schools.

- Investigating the possibility of head-hunting students interested in a career in sport science in 
collaboration with the University of the Free State.

- Developing  a  wellness  business  plan  to  ensure  proper  planning  and  implementation  of 
community and corporate wellness programmes.

- Enhancing the performance of athletes through a structured development pathway.

2.3 Departmental revenue, expenditure, and other specific topics

2.3.1 Collection of departmental revenue

2004/05
Actual

2005/06
Actual

2006/07
Actual

2007/08
Target

2007/08
Actual

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

% deviation 
from target

Tax revenue - - - - - -
Non-tax revenue 198 164 3 434 1 827 1 919 5 %
Sales of Goods and Services 164 150 3 364 1 748 1 847 5 %
Interest, dividends and rent on 
land

34 14 70 79 72 (9 %)

Financial transactions 
(Recovery of loans and 
advances)

76 47 1 082 33 52 58 %

TOTAL DEPARTMENTAL 
RECEIPTS

274 211 4 516 1 860 1 971 6 %

The Department was granted approval by Provincial Treasury to adjust the initial target of R3.962 
million to R1.86 million.

The decline in revenue is a result of the following:

- Op’t Hof was taken over by the Department of Public Works, Roads and Transport from 1 
April 2007 and will no longer generate revenue.

- From 1 April 2007 the former entities had to start operating by using LOGIS as a procurement 
system which was a huge challenge as they were used to their former entity bank accounts. 
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As a result of this, no stock could be purchased for the Community Arts Centres and Basotho 
Cultural Village.

- There were complications with the construction of  the new restaurant at Basotho Cultural 
Village that impacted negatively on revenue collection. 

- As the cost increased from using an entity bank account (purchasing directly from big outlets) 
to using a supplier through the normal bid procedures, the restaurant at the Free State Sport 
Science Institute stopped operating from 1 April 2007.

- The Lottery organisation as the donor for the Free State Academy of Sport, which uses the 
Free State Sport Science Institute as their service provider, was suspended by the National 
Minister of Trade and Industry.

- The new Flemish agreement did not provide for revenue on the same scale as 2006/07.
- Lack of resources at the Zamdela Community Arts Centre prevents the Centre from buying 

more machines for students.
- Because the building at the Afrikaans Literary Museum (NALN) was still under construction, 

the venue could not be rented out for safety reasons.  

The Department managed to overachieve with the collection of revenue on the adjusted target.

2.3.2 Departmental expenditure

Programmes
Voted for
2007/08

Roll-overs and 
adjustments

Virement Total voted
Actual 

expenditure
Variance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Programme 1: Administration 26 983 439 (1 063) 26 359 26 359 -
Programme 2: Cultural Affairs 52 815 (645) (75) 52 095 52 095 -
Programme  3:  Library  and 
Archive Services 51 677 (1 489) 133 50 321 50 103 218

Programme  4:  Sport  and 
Recreation 37 017 18 015 1 005 56 037 58 653 (2 616)

Total 168 492 16 320 - 184 812 187 210 (2 398)

The overspending in Sport and Recreation was a result of the delivery of Team Free State for the SA 
Games hosted in the province, which was not initially and adequately budgeted for.

The initial budget allocation of the Department was increased by R16.320 million to R184 812 million, 
to cover the following areas:

a) Roll-overs:                   R120 000:  Programme 4: Sport and Recreation  
Unspent funds on goods and services from the Conditional Grant: Sport and Recreation South 
Africa during the 2006/07 financial year for ongoing projects, flowing from one financial year to 
another financial year.

b) Programme 2:           Cultural Affairs – R1 million  
An additional amount was allocated to the Department to assist with travelling, accommodation 
and subsistence cost of the Free State delegation (including 50 artists) to the Accenta Trade 
Fair in the city of Ghent in Belgium.

c) Programme 4:           Sport and Recreation – R15.2 million  
R15.2 million has been allocated to the Department to assist with the following:
i) Hosting of SA Games 2007 in the Free State Province and preparation and delivery of the 

Free State team for the SA Games (R9 million)
ii) Participation by the Free State Provincial Government in Soccerex 2007 in order to market 

the province for hosting of some of the 2010 FIFA World Cup events (R3.2 million)
iii) SABC Sport  Awards 2007 to be hosted in the province in collaboration with  Sport  and 

Recreation  South  Africa,  SASCOC  (South  African  Sport  Confederation  and  Olympic 
Committee) and SABC Sport (R3 million)

2.3.3 Transfer payments
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Name of Institution Amount 
transferred

Estimated 
expenditure

R’000 R’000
Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation 3 985 3 985
Free State Academy of Sport (for sport development, coaching and 
training)

600 600

Free State Academy of Sport (to assist the Local Organizing Committee 
with the hosting of the SA Games 2007 in the province)

7 000 7 000

Free State Academy of Sport (for preparation and selection of Team Free 
State)

2 000 2 000

Provincial Arts and Culture Council 200 200
Free State Choral Music 113 113
Free State Youth Commission 500 500
Provincial Language Committee 110 110
Provincial Geographical Names Committee 157 157
Provincial Heritage Resource Council 157 157
TOTAL 14 732 14 732

Section 38 (1)(j) of the PFMA requires the Accounting Officer of the Department to ensure that “before 
transferring any funds to an entity within or outside government, he must obtain written assurance 
from the entity that the entity implements effective, efficient and transparent financial management 
and internal  control  systems, or,  if  such written assurance is not  or  cannot  be given,  render the 
transfer of the funds subject to conditions and remedial measures requiring the entity to establish and 
implement effective, efficient and transparent financial management and internal control systems.”

The  written  assurances  were  obtained  from  the  five  major  entities  and  audited  annual  financial 
statements were received, which outlined how the transfer payments were utilised in the pursuance of 
the entities’ major strategic objectives.
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2.3.4 Conditional grants and earmarked funds

Summary of Conditional Grants for 2007/08

Conditional Grant Total allocation Total payments
Infrastructure (construction and maintenance of library, sport complex 
and museum buildings)

22.3 million 23.657 million

National Department of Sport, Arts and Culture – Library Services 16.47 million 16.251 million
Sport and Recreation SA (for Mass Sport Participation) 7.886 million 8.816 million
Sport and Recreation SA (for School Sport) 6.44 million 6.232 million
Sport and Recreation SA (for Club Development) 1 million 938 000
TOTAL R54.096 million R55.894 million

The national conditional grants were paid by the respective national departments into the accredited 
bank account of the Provincial Treasury, which then transferred the funds to the Department as and 
when requested as part of monthly fund allocations.

Provincial Infrastructure Grant

The budget allocation for the Provincial Infrastructure Grant was R22.3 million, which was topped up 
by R1.357 million from the equitable share of the Department. Out of the total payments of R23.657 
million the following were done:

Construction projects that were completed:

- Basotho Cultural Village (contract terminated – payments done for work performed)
- Thaba Nchu Selosesha Library
- Bloemfontein Free State Sport Science Institute Rehabilitation Unit

Upgrading and rehabilitation that were completed on the following buildings:

- Afrikaans Literary Museum
- Bloemfontein Musicon
- Welkom Library
- Bloemfontein Regional Library
- Sasolburg Library
- Maintenance and renovations of various museums, libraries, archives, arts and sport centres.

Library Services Conditional Grant from National Department of Arts and Culture

The Conditional Grant received from the National Department of Arts and Culture for Library Services 
was underspent by R219 000, which was mainly due to orders for book purchases which were not 
delivered before the end of March 2008. This grant is assisting in recapitalizing community libraries by 
means of improving staff capacity and access to information by developing an ICT infrastructure, 
upgrading and expanding the collection of information resources, promoting a culture of reading and 
resolving the governance and funding issues regarding the administration of library services.  The 
grant made it possible to appoint 48 staff members at community libraries, to install computers and 
lines at 45 libraries and to purchase 31 440 items to expand the collection. More detail can be viewed 
in the programme performance table for Library Services, pages 48 to 50.

Sport and Recreation South Africa Conditional Grants

The Conditional Grants from Sport and Recreation South Africa which amounted to a total of R15.2 
million were overspent by R660 000 (and topped up from the Department’s equitable share), broken 
down as follows:

R
Siyadlala Mass Participation Programme (930 000)
School Sport 208 000
Club Development 62 000

(R660 000)
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The reason for the overspending was that the OR Tambo Games was bigger than usual due to the 
commemoration of the late OR Tambo’s 90th birthday.  This was topped up from the Department’s 
equitable share.

The Siyadlala Mass Participation Programme made it possible for the province to promote sport and 
recreation activities in communities and schools through mass participation and development.  The 
impact of the grant is that the Free State Province was provided with an opportunity to participate in 
sport and recreation activities, the benefits of which are:
i) to reduce the level of crime, the health bill and create a culture of sport and recreation 
ii) to enhance self esteem through life skills programmes and empower coaches, administrators, 

managers, technical officials and athletes.
iii) to achieve  overall improvement of physical fitness and increase the number of participants, 

inline with the vision of our province to keep our communities active and well informed.

The purpose of this grant is the promotion of mass participation within communities through a number 
of selected activities and the empowerment of communities and volunteers to manage these activities 
in conjunction with stakeholders.

Measurable Objectives Performance Measures Indicators
Planned Outputs

2007/08
Actual Outputs 

2007/08

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance

Skill sport administrators Number of sport administrators trained. 108
128 (actuals in 
quarterly inputs 
reported wrongly)

More participants 
attended than 
initially foreseen.

Affording the youth with 
experience in the workplace, 
job creation and poverty 
alleviation   

Number of hub and activity coordinators 
appointed in the programme.

90 143

The number 
fluctuates as 
volunteers leave 
the programme for 
permanent 
employment. 
Replacement is 
continuous.

Skill technical officials

Number of people trained in coaching, 
refereeing, life skills, sport and recreation 
management, first aid and event 
management.

204 225

As per request from 
Federations, more 
officials could be 
afforded an 
opportunity.

Increase physical and social 
well being of elderly, women, 
people with disabilities, youth 
and sport personnel

Number of elderly 1 800 11 658
Underestimated as 
more people 
participated

Number of women 1 800 143 076
Underestimated as 
more people 
participated

Number of youth 1 800 237 395
Underestimated as 
more people 
participated

Number of people with disabilities 4 700 7 139
Underestimated as 
more people 
participated

Identify more hubs to can 
cover a broader scale of our 
towns and villages

Number of newly formed hubs 30 33
More demands to 
be met

The  Club  Development  Conditional  Grant’s  objective  is  to  create  a  platform  to  fast-track 
transformation of sport by providing a smooth and sustainable passage along the sport development 
continuum in South Africa, the impact being:
- the transformation of sport within the Free State Province, and an increase in the number of 

clubs
- sustainable and functional clubs that participate in formal league structures
- effective public-private partnerships towards a functional sport development network
- accredited sport officials who are committed to the sustainable development of sport
- affiliated clubs participating in structured leagues
- opportunities created for club members to participate in accredited competitions. 
The main purpose is:
- to facilitate, coordinate, support and monitor the establishment and revival of existing clubs
- to  create sustainable institutional support for the succesful implementation of the project to 

empower athletes and officials through education and training 
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- to  channel identified talent into the mainstream of sport, contributing towards changing the 
demographics of Team South Africa.

Measurable Objectives Performance Measures Indicators
Planned Outputs

2007/08
Actual Outputs 

2007/08

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Sustainable and functional 
clubs that participate in formal 
league structures

Number of clubs identified 69 78
More demands to 
be met

Accredited sport officials that 
are committed to the 
sustainable development of 
sport
Volunteers appointed to run 
the project

Number of people capacitated to run 
clubs

216 54
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of coaches trained 72 36
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of technical officials trained 117 0
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of volunteers in the project 11 11 
Actuals in quarterly 
inputs reported 
wrongly

Affiliated clubs participating in 
structured leagues

Number of tournaments 4 12
More demands to 
be met

Number of league activities registered 
Clubs participate in

34 19
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of leagues formed 15 12
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of registered clubs of the project 
affiliated to the formal structures

100 44
Due to financial 
constraints

Number of Clubs transported to their 
games fixture

10 0
Due to financial 
constraints

The  School Sport Conditional Grant’s objective is to facilitate participation in sport  and recreation 
activities  within  disadvantaged  schools,  focusing  on  high  crime  areas,  farms  and  rural  areas, 
government priority nodes and where possible, at the facilities built / upgraded under the building for 
sport and recreation programme.  The expected impact is to get communities to participate in mass 
sport and recreation activities, where the learners are healthy and living a more active lifestyle, have 
improved  self-esteem,  and  the  educators  are  motivated  for  teaching  and  able  to  offer  sport 
opportunities  at  school.  The  purpose  of  the  grant  is  the  promotion  of  mass  participation  within 
disadvantaged schools in a selected number of sport codes and the empowerment of educators and 
volunteers to manage these activities in conjunction with Free State Department of Education (FSDE).

Measurable Objectives Performance Measures Indicators
Planned Outputs

2007/08
Actual Outputs 

2007/08

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Schools delivering the 
programme

Number of schools involved in the 
programme

90 90 Achieved

Educators and Volunteers 
involved in the programme

Number of educators and volunteers 
involved in the programme

1440 2 645
More demands to 
be met

Learners participating in the 
programme

Number of learners involved in the 
programme

21 120 169 533
More demands to 
be met

Events management
Number of volunteers involved in the 
programme

101 106
More demands to 
be met

Life skills including HIV/AIDS
Number of volunteers and learners 
involved in the programme

101 215
More demands to 
be met

First Aid
Number of educators and volunteers 
involved in the programme

281 52
Due to financial 
constraints

Capacity building: Umpiring, 
referees, Coaching

Number of educators and volunteers 
involved in the programme

281 163
Due to financial 
constraints

Marketing
Number of educators and volunteers 
involved in the programme

Ongoing Ongoing
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2.3.5 Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan

Capital investment

a) With regard to the upgrading and maintenance of the buildings which house the libraries and 
museums, the baseline allocation of funds for the MTEF period includes the following conditional 
grant:

2008/09 R104.885 million
2009/10 R81.041 million
2010/11 R69.414 million

b) The capital investment plan was developed and will  be updated annually to ensure that once 
priorities have been determined, the funds from the conditional grant will be spent according to 
specific timeframes, which should minimise the roll-over of funds to subsequent years.  

c) The infrastructure programme is aligned with the Free State Growth and Development Plan.  The 
Preferential  Procurement  System  is  applicable  to  the  Department’s  entire  infrastructure 
programme and preference is given to local SMME’s and HDI companies and individuals.

d) The construction of buildings is labour-intensive and promotes the creation of jobs, estimated to 
be 4017 over the whole infrastructure programme within the MTEF period.

e) The following processes are being implemented on building construction projects to realize the 
objectives of the EPWP:

- where  practical,  enforcing  labour-intensive  construction  methods  to  provide  employment 
opportunities to local unemployed people (e.g. manufacturing roof trusses on site);

- providing training or skills development to the locally employed workers;
- building cost-effective and quality assets.

The main target groups for the above will be:

- women;
- youth between the ages of 18 and 25; and
- persons with disabilities.

f) See also paragraph 2.3.4 above for the progress report on the upgrading and maintenance of the 
buildings.

Asset management

a) Assets  under  the  control  of  the  Department  comprise  equipment  (computer  and  office 
equipment) and music instruments.

b) Funds were utilised to maintain the necessary equipment on a priority basis.

c) The  asset  management  administration  was  incorporated  into  the  LOGIS  system,  which 
centralises the asset register records of the Department.  A full reconciliation of the asset register 
is currently in progress, and all the assets in the Department were marked with unique numbers 
for easy identification from and to the asset register and for stocktaking purposes.

d) Annual stocktaking and quarterly spot-checks of all the assets under the Department’s control 
are conducted.

Maintenance

a) Assets are purchased as and when necessary in order to support the filling of key vacancies and 
to replace obsolete assets.

b) The majority of the Department’s assets are in a fair condition.
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c) Although buildings occupied by the Department are under the control of the Department of Public 
Works,  Roads  and  Transport,  the  maintenance  of  the  buildings  is  the  responsibility  of  the 
Department. Some of the buildings are nearing a state of dilapidation. Thanks to the conditional 
infrastructure grant over the MTEF period of 2005/06 – 2007/08, the maintenance needs were 
incorporated into the capital investment plan, as mentioned above. However, the critical situation 
of various museums will  be addressed during the 2008/09 financial year when funds become 
available.

2.4 Programme Performance

2.4.1 Summary of programmes

The Sport, Arts and Culture sector adopted a uniform budget and programme structure that reflects 
the  minimum  number  of  programmes,  which  was  gazetted  by  the  National  Treasury.  These 
programmes and the contents are encapsulated in definitions, which explain what are to be included 
under each programme and subprogramme.  The activities  of  the  Department  of  Sport,  Arts  and 
Culture are organized into the following four programmes:

Programme Subprogramme
1.  Administration 1.1  Office of the MEC (including Management)

1.2  Corporate Services
2.  Cultural Affairs 2.1  Management

2.2  Arts and Culture
-  Visual and Performing Arts
-  Musicon
-  Community Arts and Culture Centres

2.3  Museum and Heritage Services
-  Literary Museum Division
-  Community and Theme Museums
-  Basotho Cultural Village
-  Secretariat Services (Provincial Geographical Names Committee 

(PGNC) and Provincial Heritage Resources Authority (PHRA))
2.4  Language Services 

3.  Library and Archive Services 3.1  Management
3.2  Library Services

-  Professional Support Services
-  Community Library Services

3.3  Archive Services
4.  Sport and Recreation 4.1  Management

4.2  Sport
-  Free State Sport Science Institute
-  Sport Development and Training

4.3 Recreation
-  Conditional Grant: Siyadlala Mass Participation Programme
-  Conditional Grant: Club Development

4.4 School Sport
-  Conditional Grant: School Sport

4.5  2010 FIFA World Cup
4.6  Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation
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2.4.1.1 Programme 1:  Administration

Purpose and measurable objectives

Strategic Goal Strategic Objectives Measurable Objectives

To  support  the 
department  in  realizing 
its  strategic  goal  of  the 
promotion,  development 
and  transformation  of 
sport, arts and culture in 
order  to  contribute  to 
sustainable  economic 
growth and opportunities, 
nation-building,  good 
governance  and  social 
and  human  capital 
development.

OFFICE  OF  THE  MEC  (including 
Management)
Commitment  by  the  Ministry  and 
Department  to  National  and 
Provincial policies.

Provide an efficient and effective support to the 
MEC.
Develop  special  programmes  to  support  the 
provincial  youth,  the  disabled,  women  and 
children and persons with HIV/AIDS.
Promote  moral  regeneration  across  the  whole 
Provincial Government.
Promote  accountability  by  the  Head  of 
Department  and  all  managerial  levels  and 
devolve responsibilities  to the most appropriate 
levels.
Render Organizational Efficiency Studies.
Render monitoring and evaluation services.
Implement  sound  strategic  planning  and  co-
ordination  processes  for  planning,  monitoring, 
research and development.
Render Internal Audit services

CORPORATE SERVICES
Rendering  a  support  service  by 
developing  and  maintaining  a 
competent,  committed  and  enabling 
workforce  that  contributes  towards 
the  realization  of  national  and 
provincial policies and complies with 
legislation  and  the  proper 
management  of  systems  and 
procedures.

Implement  and  monitor  financial  and 
management  accounting  procedures  to  ensure 
compliance  with  the  PFMA and  other  relevant 
financial prescripts.
Introduce sound financial accounting processes.
Maintain  an  effective  and  efficient  asset 
management system.
Implement effective supply chain procedures and 
policies.
Manage loss control effectively.
Introduce  sound  systems  for  information 
management.
Provide IT Support Services to the Department.

2.4.1.2 Programme 2:  Cultural Affairs

Purpose and measurable objectives

Strategic Goal Strategic Objectives Measurable Objectives

The  promotion, 

development  and 

transformation  of  Arts, 

Culture,  Museums, 

Heritage  and  Language 

Services  in  order  to 

contribute to:
- sustainable 

economic 
growth  and 
opportunities,

- nation building,
- good 

governance and
- social  and 

human  capital 
development.

To  ensure  cultural  diversity  and  the 
advancement  of  artistic  disciplines 
into viable industries.

To  establish  structures  and  to  provide 
institutional support.
To provide and maintain facilities.
To facilitate access to facilities and programmes.
To facilitate capacity building.
To  facilitate  and  support  excellence  enhancing 
programmes.

To  accelerate  the  transformation  of 
the  country’s  heritage  landscape  by 
establishing  and  managing  museum 
and heritage services.

To establish and maintain museums.
To facilitate the upgrading or construction of new 
museums and heritage facilities.
To  facilitate  access  to  museum  facilities  and 
programmes.
To  establish  and  maintain  Provincial  Heritage 
Resource Authorities.
To  facilitate  coordination  and  cooperation  with 
other spheres of governmental structures.

To  promote  multilingualism,  redress 
past  linguistic  imbalances  and 
develop  the  previously  marginalized 
languages.

To establish and support the structures.

To provide language services.
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Service delivery achievements

Programme / Subprogramme / Output Performance 
Measures / Service delivery indicators

Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Programme 2: Cultural Affairs
Subprogramme: 2.2 Arts and Culture
INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT STRUCTURES

Number of co-ordinating structures established 9
Support 3 existing 
structures
*Crafters Association
*FS VANSA
*MANCO subcommittee for 
arts & culture

*Establish 5 District Arts 
and Culture Structures

*Support the Provincial Arts 
and Culture Council

Supported Frecma with: 
*Funds for 3 choirs to attend 
workshops in preparation for 
the national competition in 
Durban

*Joint Venture with Sports 
and Recreation to establish 
an Arts and Culture section 
in the Parys Sports 
Academy

Although visits 
took place to craft 
and performing 
arts projects in the 
5 districts, due to 
budgetary 
constraints, 
existing structures 
could not be 
supported 
(budgeted funds 
were redirected to 
fund Czech 
Republic visit by 
performing artists)

Number of integrated programmes developed 5 Integrated programmes:

* Cultural Industries/ 
Projects

* FS Craft Development 
Program.

* Visual Arts Network in the 
FS  (VANSA)

*Community Arts 
Development Programme 
(CAD)

*Performing Arts 
Development

(for schools)

5

25 of 37 applications received 
funding from Department of 
Arts and Culture – Investing 
in Culture

Tsa Setso projects 
consolidated, business plan 
and trust deed produced for 
the following projects: 28 
(Thabo Mofutsanyane), 18 
(Xhariep), 17 (Fezile Dabi), 
14 (Motheo), 11 
(Lejweleputswa) projects 
identified.

42 Visual artists identified to 
participate in Macufe 2007

5 community projects 
identified in Motheo to take 
part in SA Flemish project.
Of the 77 identified  schools,
73 participated in the Baswa 
le Meetsi Competitions.  (A 
project using Arts in Water 
Conservation programme(s). 
50 jobs created as a result 
during district competitions. 

OR Tambo Games Cultural 
Programme in October 2007
Mmabana/Uni Ven Cultural 
Dialogue (an exchange 
programme to develop 
musicians)

Number of twinning agreements concluded  1
Lesotho Morija Arts Festival

Planning meetings held with 
Lesotho counterparts, draft 
MoU in place after 4 
meetings.

Festival 
postponed

Number of Service Level Agreements concluded 5
*National Department of 
Arts and Culture

*Department of Education
*Youth Commission
*Department of  Water 
Affairs

*Craft Development

5
Memorandums of 
Understanding signed with 
Department of Water Affairs 
and Forestry, Department of 
Education, National 
Productivity Institute (Craft 
Development).
Service Level Agreement 
signed with Free State Youth 
Commission on Basha 
Festival.  SLA signed with SA 
Flemish / National Youth 
Commission on Arts project. 
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Programme / Subprogramme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of sponsorships awarded 10
*One of a Kind Trade Show
*National Craft Imbizo
*Beautiful Things Craft 
Supermarket

*MACUFE
*Basha Festival
*Baswa le Meetsi
-Provincial Competitions
-National Competitions
*Craft Development
*Buwa Theatre Festival
*Grahamstown

Assisted Bua Festival – 
R20 000
Yesintu/setso  craft development 
programmes - R500 000
8 artists assisted to attend 
Grahmstown festival – 
R45 000.
20 crafters were sponsored to 
take part in One of a Kind 2007 
in Midrand.
42 Visual Arts and Craft artists 
assisted to attend Macufe
4 District and Provincial 
competitions took place for 
Baswa le Meetsi.

National Craft 
Imbizo and 
Beautiful Things 
Craft Supermarket 
could not be 
attended to due to 
financial 
constraints

Number of cultural programmes concluded for : Food - -
Number of cultural programmes concluded for : Clothing - -
Number of cultural programmes concluded for : Technical 
Exchanges

- Collaborative workshop for the 
exchange of skills and product 
development with India. 5 
FreeState crafters visited India –
R200 000
Trip to Venda took place from 24 
– 29 April 2007 as part of 
Mmabana/University of Venda 
Cultural Dialog
14 artists performed in Dubai 
during August - R170 000
53 artists  and Crafters, Viusal 
Artists and Fashion designers 
took part in the Accenta Trade 
Fair as part of the FS Ensemble.

Not originally 
planned and 
budgeted for.

Number of cultural programmes concluded for : Persons - -

Number of cultural programmes concluded for : Language - -

Number of facilities maintained – disadvantaged areas 2 Community Arts Centres 
(Zamdela and Thabong)
R680 000

Meetings were held at  the 2 
centres with consultants 
appointed by Public Works, 
Road and Transport to design 
sketch plans.  Quotations were 
submitted for work planned at 
Zamdela but funds were shifted 
to other areas of priority.

Number of events on calendar implemented 10
*One of a Kind Trade Show
*National Craft Imbizo
*Beautiful Things Craft 
Supermarket

*MACUFE
*Basha Arts Festival
*Baswa le Meetsi
-Provincial
-National
*Buwa Theatre Festival
*Grahamstown
*Freedom Day

⋅ Bua Theatre Festival 

attended by 200 and 10 
Drama groups

⋅ Grahamstown NAF 
attended by 4 officials and 
8 artists

⋅ Freedom Day celebration 
attended by 5500

⋅ One of a Kind Trade Show 
completed with 20 crafters 
who participated during 
August.

⋅ Assisted in coordinating 

the craft market at the 
Macufe Festival for 43

⋅ Baswa le Meetsi hosted in 

Dihlabeng from 12 -15 
December 2007 (Provincial 
Festivals)

⋅ OR Tambo Games 
Cultural  Programme

⋅ FRECMA send off 3 
National Finalists.

⋅ Vuka Arts Festival
⋅ Heritage Day

⋅ International Mother 

Tongue Day
⋅ International Museum Day
⋅ Arts and Culture Indaba

⋅ Thabong Cultural Centre 

National Craft 
Imbizo and 
Beautiful Things 
Craft Supermarket 
not attended due 
to financial 
constraints.
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Dance Competitions
⋅ Musicon Solo 

Competitions
Average number of people attending the events 8 617 (municipalities)

3 200 (institutions)
11 145 (municipalities and 
institutions)

Number of previously disadvantaged artists that benefit from 
programme events

1 763 3 968

Programme / Subprogramme / Output Performance 
Measures / Service delivery indicators

Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of significant days hosted 1 2
Freedom Day, Heritage Day

CULTURAL ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMMES

Number of programmes and activities provided (diversification of 
programmes organized)

5 programmes
19 activities

32 programmes and activities

Number of participants who have participated in cultural 
programmes and activities

8 617 6 959 Overestimated 
target

Number of sectoral integrated programmes delivered 3 7
Baswa le Meetsi district 
competitions and workshop 
(Education and DWAF)
OR Tambo Cultural 
Programme (Sport and 
Recreation)
Basha (Youth Commission, 
Pacofs, Free State Youth Arts 
Council and Dihlabeng Local 
Municipality)
Vuka (Pacofs and Ngwathe 
Local Municipality)

CAPACITY BUILDING PROGRAMMES

Number of artists and cultural administrators trained 1 000 6 066 (artists and cultural 
administrators)

Overachieved 
with first roll-out 
stage of Tsa 
Setso through 
workshops in the 
districts

Number of accredited (SAQA) programmes provided 1 0
Number of international accredited programmes provided 2 Musicon (Trinity, Academy of 

Music, Royal School of 
Music)

Number of national accredited programmes provided 1 UNISA 1 application 
approved by 
MAPPP Seta, to 
be delivered with 
Sibikwa Centre.

Number of learnership programmes initiated 7 3
1 learnership covering 3 
genres approved by MAPPP 
Seta

Negotiations 
ongoing with 
MAPPP Seta

EXCELLENCE ENHANCING PROGRAMMES
Number of performance programmes offered in developing 
acclaimed artists

4 Programmes 
(Municipalities) 
* Macufe Craft
* One of a Kind
* Fashion Week
* Craft Imbizo
5 programmess 
(Institutions)

5 (municipalities)
9 (institutions)
Institutions overachieved
⋅ Uni Ven Cultural Dialog

⋅ The Storm with UFS

⋅ Accenta
⋅ Musicon Solo 

Competition, Thabong 
Dance Competition

⋅ Muni
⋅ Vuka
⋅ Basha
⋅ One of  a Kind

⋅ Strings Programme

Number of programmes introduced 5 (Municipalities)

7 (Institutions)

2 (municipalities)

5 (institutions)

Shortage of staff 
and funds

Number of artists trained and developed 2167 (Municipalities)
300 (Institutions)

7 023 Includes 
administrators 
trained and 
developed

Number of artists participating at national and international level 90 (Municipalities)
120 (Institutions)

216 (national and 
international)
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Programme / Subprogramme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Subprogramme 2.3: Museum and Heritage 
Resource Services
Number of museums represented in community participation 
structures

1
Transformation plan for 
integrating indigenous culture 
in museums developed and 
implemented in liaison with 
communities

8
Heritage Forum formed as 
a support structure for the 
Museums
BCV: Rea Hetla 
Association
Theme and Community 
Museums:
Bethulie started agriculture 
project with community
Winburg liaised with 
municipality regarding new 
generation exhibitions
Bethulie and Smithfield 
initiated Friends of the 
Museum structures.
Sesotho Literary Museum:
Sesotho Writers 
Association

Number of museums represented in community participation 
structures in ward committees

6 2 Budgetary 
constraints

Number of museums represented in community participation 
in facility management structures

1 San Parks liaisons for MoU
Community & museum 
participation structures 
established 

(Friends organizations in 5 
museums

Develop 6 thematic outreach 
projects for each museum and 
implement integrated projects 
with FS Archives & 
communities

9
Basotho Cultural Village 
coordinated with local 
municipality to solve 
infrastructure problems
Theme and Community 
Museums:
⋅ Winburg Friends of 

the Museum
⋅ Smithfield Friends of 

the Museum
⋅ Heritage Forum 

established
⋅ Partnership 

established with 
Mangaung 
Municipality

⋅ Heilbron Friends of 
the Museum

⋅ Bethulie Friends of 

the Museum

7: Defiance campaign, 
Anti-pass, Presidential 
Quiz, Heidedal Life 
Solution Black Authors, 
Chief Lephoi, BCV 
Traditional Dance

San Parks liaisons 
suspended due to 
non-finalization of 
amalgamation of 
Qwaqwa National 
Park and Golden 
Gate Highlands 
National Park.

Number of partnership agreements concluded Establish & manage 
communication structure 
between BCV and San Parks 

0 San Parks liaisons 
suspended due to 
non-finalization of 
amalgamation of 
Qwaqwa National 
Park and Golden 
Gate Highlands 
National Park.

Number of facilities in disadvantaged areas 10
BCV, Philippolis, Bethulie, 
Smithfield, Boshof, Winburg, 
Glen, Kroonstad & Heilbron

9
BCV, Philippolis, Bethulie, 
Smithfield, Boshof, 
Winburg, Glen, Kroonstad 
& Heilbron

Estimated target was 
wrong, should be 
nine (9)

Number of facilities in other areas 4
ALM, SLM, Military, 
Presidency

4
ALM, SLM, Military, 
Presidency

Number of facilities maintained 10 – Disadvantaged areas
4 – Advantaged areas

3
Afrikaans Literary Museum
Sesotho Literary Museum
Basotho Cultural Village

Lack of funds

Number of schools who visit the museums 10 025 (target for total visitors 
including scholars)

15 000 (only scholars)

Number of exhibitions staged 19 new displays in museums 27 at different 
departments, provincial 
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and national culture events 
and  heritage and tourism 
events

Programme / Subprogramme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of brochures and publications distributed 14 300 15 000
Number of heritage sites identified included in tourism routes 5 Public Awareness workshops

4 Council meetings held
Process 100 permit 
applications for alterations to 
over 60 years buildings
Identify 30 and declare 30 
heritage sites

Due to the amount of the 
grant received from the 
department only 1 heritage 
awareness workshop 
could be financed during 
the financial year.
3 Council meeting held
2 Permit Committee 
meetings held
1 Public Awareness 
Workshop
81 permit applications 
received 
Currently 14 heritage sites 
identified are under 
consideration for 
declaration.

Planned output of 
number of permits 
overestimated.
Declaration is a 
lengthy process, 
needing a lot of 
research and 
consideration.

Service Level Agreement with Provincial Geographical 
Names Committee

10 Committee and a public 
awareness meetings to 
facilitate awareness and 
standardization of 
geographical names.
25 names researched and 
validated for standardization 
purposes.

3 Committee meetings 
held
100 names researched
5 Awareness meetings 
held with Municipal 
Managers

Operations halted on 
all committees

Sub-programme 2.4: Language Services
Number of language research centres established in 
partnership with Universities

1 The  Sesotho Language 
Research  and 
Development  Centre 
(LRDC)  was established 
in August 2007 on the 
main campus of the 
University of the Free 
State in terms of an 
agreement between UFS 
and National DAC. A 
manager, two 
coordinators, 1 researcher 
and a secretary were 
appointed.
The Sesotho Development 
Unit  staff  participated in 
the following LRDC 
sessions:
-  Introductory  meeting on 

15/8/2007
-  Workshops on  HIV/Aids 

terms on 10/10/2007, 
22 - 24/10/2007,  31 
October 2007,  and 5 - 
7 November 2007

-  Sessions on HSEMS 
terms (Human, Social, 
Economic, Mathematics 
and Science) on 12 - 
14/2/2008, 14/3/2008 
and 19/3 2008. 

-  Sesotho writers 
workshop  from 25 - 27 
March 2008
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Programme / Sub-programme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Language policy and 
implementation plan launched

On 20 June 2007 a 
workshop of the Language 
Policy Working Committee 
was held, dealing with 
inputs from the public and 
implementation aspects 
presented by relevant role 
players in the Free State 
Provincial Government. 
Good press coverage 
followed.
A final draft of the policy 
as well as a preliminary 
costed implementation 
plan was submitted at the 
end of the MIDP III project 
in December 2007.
With the change of MECs 
in August the policy was 
referred to a linguist for 
review and simplification. 
This intervention caused a 
delay in adoption of an 
official policy.

Establish and launch Provincial 
Language Forum

Deferred due to mentioned 
intervention

Establish interdepartmental 
Free State Provincial 
Government language forum 
through linkage with Free State 
Provincial Government 
Communication Forum

Interdepartmental Free 
State Provincial 
Government forum no 
longer relevant in terms of 
changed language policy

Central language unit:  4 
linkages with components 
established to achieve 
language  objectives

Deferred due to mentioned 
intervention

Launch Sesotho 
Language Research and 
Development Centre

Launch to be handled by 
the LRDC and UFS

Number of literary exhibitions to promote access to 
information

- - -

Number of documents, dictionaries, research manuals 
translated

6 Bills
10 policy documents 
4 manuals
1 term list in a specific domain

138 Sesotho terms 
harvested/ added to  term 
list/ Multiterm 
57 existing Sesotho terms 
on Multirterm edited / 
revised
159  soccer terms 
harvested with a view to 
producing an 
English/Sesotho soccer 
dictionary

Translation statistics 
reported under 
performance 
indicator “no of 
official documents 
translated”. Only in-
house terminology 
statistics reported 
here, e.g. “ no of 
dictionaries 
translated”

Number of literary works translated - - -
Number of documents made accessible to persons with 
disabilities

1 Braille document 0 The policy not 
finalized yet

Number of multilingual publications printed and distributed 3 multilingual publications 4 banners
A  submission was done 
for participation of the unit 
in a Sesotho newspaper 
initiated by PanSALB

Number of audiovisual products developed and distributed 1 DVD Due to changed content of 
language policy the 
planned upgrading of the 
existing DVD was 
cancelled

Number of TV programmes presented 2 radio interviews 1 radio interview and 1 
newspaper article in June 
2007 on language policy 
session

1 Radio Lesedi interview 
on translation and 
developing the previously 
marginalized languages on 
2 October 2007
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Programme / Sub-programme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of interpreters – interpreted speeches 1 1 medium event: : Hired 
interpreters for Sesotho, 
Afrikaans, IsiXhosa and 
Sign Language used at 
June Language Policy 
session

Number of government speeches – address the nation - -
Number of official documents translated 100 official documents 

translated or edited
679
Ranging from Acts and 
bulky reports / manuals to 
letters, posters, brochures, 
submissions and 
newspaper articles

Number of persons empowered to deliver translation services 1 company MIDP IV project underway 
in partnership with 
Province of Antwerp and 
University of the Free 
State to provide 
interpreting  bursaries to at 
least 6  applicants

Participation in PanSALB 
multilingualism campaign 
among Free State 
schools, as follows:
-   29 February 2008 – 

Jagersfontein – 70 
learners

-   7 and 14 March 2008 – 
3 Xhariep towns – 210 
learners

Number of literary works published for the first time into 
African Languages

- 0

2.4.1.3 Programme 3: Library and Archive Services

Purpose and measurable objectives

Strategic Goal Strategic Objectives Measurable Objectives

The  promotion, 

development  and 

transformation  of 

sustainable  Library, 

Information and Archive 

Services,  which  will 

contribute to:
- sustainable 

economic 
growth  and 
opportunities,

- nation building,
- good 

governance 
and

- social  and 
human  capital 
development.

Provide library and information services 
which:
 are  free,  equitable  and  readily 

accessible;
 provide for the information reading 

and learning needs of people;
 promote a culture of reading, library 

usage and lifelong learning

Provide infrastructure required for public library 
services, namely buildings and ICT
Provide  library  materials,  books  and  other 
formats to public libraries.
Promote the use of  libraries and a culture of 
reading.
Monitor and support public libraries.
Provide special services to library users.

To  render  archival  and  record 
management  services  which  will 
provide for:
 the  acquisition,  preservation  and 

documentation  of  public  records 
and non-public records of national / 
provincial significance

 proper  management  and  care  of 
public records

 equitable  access  and  use  of 
archives

Render  records  management  services  to 
governmental bodies

Manage Archives at repositories

Promote awareness and use of archives.
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Service delivery achievements

Programme / Subprogramme / Output Performance 
Measures / Service delivery indicators

Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Programme 3: Library and Archive Services
Sub-programme: 3.2: Library Services
Number of new libraries built 2

Refenkgotso
Selosesha

2
Refenkgotso and Selosesha 
completed

Number of library facilities upgraded 1
Philippolis

0 Contract terminated
Non-performance of 
contractor

Number of library facilities maintained 105 105 Not all maintenance 
problems could be 
attended to due to 
budget constraints

Number of library facilities provided with ICT infrastructure 3: 
Selosesha
Refenkgotso
Library of the Year

2: Refenkgotso  completed Library of the Year 
not selected
Selosesha 
completed as part of 
conditional grant

40 from Conditional Grant 45
Trompsburg, Lephoi, 
Koffiefontein, Dithlake, 
Matlakeng, Selosesha, 
Manyatseng, Borwa, Thaba 
Patchoa, Morojaneng, 
Welkom, Thabong I, 
Thabong II, Virginia, 
Meloding, Bultfontein, 
Boshof, Kgotsong, Masilo, 
Harrismith, Intabazwe, 
Kestell (Lines), Meqheleng, 
Bohlokong, Bakenpark, 
Rosendal (Line), Mashaeng 
(Line), Thembalihle, 
Petsana, Reitz, Petrus 
Steyn (Line), Mamafubedu 
(Line), Lindley (Line), Ntha 
(Line), Parys, Heilbron, 
Kroonstad, Sedibeng,
Matlwangtwang (Line,)
Namahadi, Additional: 
Makeleketla, Kutlwanong, 
Hloholwane, Ladybrand, 
Reddersburg

At 5 places the lines 
will only be installed 
during April 2008 but 
computers have 
been delivered.

Number of libraries provided with security Conditional Grant: 1: 
Refenkgotso

2: Refenkgotso security 
fence, CCTV and security 
gate installed
Selosesha: CCTV and 
security gate

Number of libraries provided with photocopiers Conditional Grant: 15 15 libraries: Morojaneng, 
Selosesha, Manyatseng, 
Tswelopele, Namahadi, 
Thutong, Trompsburg, 
Matlakeng, Dithlake, Masilo, 
Kgotsong, Bultfontein 
Meqheleng, Tsiame, 
Mamafubedu (Kketoana 
municipality provided 
photocopier as well, 
Mamafubedu photocopier 
will be allocated to other 
library)

Number of new items provided Equitable Share: 
40 000

70 320 Deviation due to 
delivery of materials 
in 2007/08 but 
ordered in 2006/07

Conditional Grant:: 
30 000

27 930
(31440 items delivered)

Deviation due to 
challenges to find 
suitable local 
suppliers.  Orders 
could be placed only 
in March and have 
not been received in 
time to issue to 
libraries
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Programme / Subprogramme / Output Performance 
Measures / Service delivery indicators

Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of periodical subscriptions 2000 Equitable share 2 047

400 Conditional Grant 95 Deviation due to a 
problem the service 
provider experienced 
with the publishers

Number of promotional events 4 events: World Book Day
Literacy Day
AIDS Day
Library Week
1 Publication: Free State 
Libraries (4 issues)

2 events
World Book Day and 
Literacy Day
1 publication Free State 
Libraries (4 issues)

Aids Day and Library 
Week did not realize 
due to reprioritization 
of events within 
Department.

Number of visits to libraries by provincial staff 4 ± 3-4 visits per library 
Number of training programmes provided to public library staff 2: Equitable share 0 Due to cost saving 

measures
4: Conditional Grant 7 Additional computer 

training programmes 
were provided

Number of library workers trained per annum 130 Equitable share 0 Due to budget 
pressures

54 Conditional Grant 308 Municipal library 
workers were 
included in the 
training programme 
aimed at staff 
appointed as part of 
the Conditional Grant

Number of libraries supported with additional staff 54 (Conditional Grant) 46 8 still outstanding.
Number of libraries monitored and supported per annum 179

Public libraries (municipal):
138
School Community 
Libraries: 9
Depots:
12
Special Libraries:4
Box libraries:16

170
Public libraries (municipal):
136
School Community 
Libraries: 10
Depots:
12
Special Libraries:4
Box libraries:8

2 public libraries 
were closed due to 
staff shortages 
(Phahameng in 
Bultfontein and 
Edenville)
1 new school 
community library 
(Fauna) and 1 new 
depot (Grootvlei 
Prison) were opened
8 box libraries were 
closed

Number of special services established 32
GIS: 15
CIS: 5
BIS: 5
OPD:1
Literacy Corners: 5
Toy Libraries: 1

32
GIS: 12
CIS: 8
BIS: 5
OPD: Application withdrawn 
due to pressures of 
Conditional Grant projects
Literacy Corners: 6
Toy Libraries: 1

Subprogramme 3.3: Archive Services
Number of record classification systems assessed and 
approved

12 10 Only 10 requests 
received

Number of governmental bodies inspected 10 21 This objective was 
prioritized above the 
oral history 
programme in order 
to assist 
governmental bodies 
to improve their 
records management 
function

Number of record managers trained per annum 40 62 1 additional course 
presented

Number of records staff trained 80 30 3 courses for registry 
staff cancelled due to 
staff shortages and 
moratorium on 
expenditure in 4th 

quarter
Number of disposal authorities issued 20 18 Due to staff 

shortages
Number of data coded entries submitted on NAAIRS database 10 000 8 090 Due to staff 

shortages 
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Programme / Subprogramme / Output Performance 
Measures / Service delivery indicators

Actual performance against target

Difference 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

performance
Target Actual

Number of researchers visiting repositories 1 000 1 181
Number of linear metres arranged 100 62.3
Number of archival groups arranged for retrieval 2 2
Number of archivalia restored 80 387 Outreach activities 

contributed to the 
increased output

Number of archive facilities upgraded - 0
Number of archive facilities maintained 2 2
Number of awareness programmes rolled out to communities / 
government bodies

4 9

Number of oral history programmes conducted 5 3 Staff shortage
Increased focus on 
records inspections

Number of events participated in nationally and provincially 2:
National Archives Week
Heritage Month

3: Heritage Month
National Archives Week
National Museum Day

2.4.1.4 Programme 4: Sport and Recreation

Purpose and measurable objectives

Strategic Goal Strategic Objectives Measurable Objectives
To  improve  the  quality 
of  life  of  all  South 
Africans  through  the 
development, 
transformation  and 
promotion  of 
sustainable  sport  and 
recreation  programmes 
that  will  lead  to 
increased  participation 
and  global 
competitiveness of sport 
persons.

To  establish  and  support  transformed 
institutional  and  physical  structures  to 
increase participation and excellence in 
sport.

To  facilitate  establishment  of  provincial 
structures and to provide institutional support.
To facilitate and / or provide support to sporting 
facilities.
To  facilitate  support  and  render  high 
performance services.
To  facilitate  and  render  capacity  building 
programmes.

To  provide  sustainable  mass 
participation  opportunities  across  the 
age  spectrum  to  promote  physically 
active life styles.

To  facilitate  establishment  of  community 
structures and to provide institutional support.
To  facilitate  and  /  or  provide  support  to 
recreational facilities.
To  promote  and  support  culture  of  mass 
participation in sport and recreation at all levels 
of the community.

To  ensure  active  participation, 
development and training of all learners 
and educators and the identification of 
talent  in  quality  and  sustainable  sport 
and recreation programmes.

To  deliver  and  support  participation  in  inter-
provincial sport competitions.
To  manage  the  mass  participation  school 
programmes
To facilitate and / or provide support to school 
sport facilities.
To  facilitate,  support  and  render  high 
performance services to learners (sport school)

To create an enabling environment for a 
successful hosting of 2010 FIFA World 
Cup

To  support  local  structures  in  preparation  for 
hosting a successful 2010 FIFA World Cup
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Service delivery achievements

Programme / Subprogramme / Output 
Performance Measures / Service delivery 

indicators
Actual performance against target

Difference between 
estimate and actual 

performance
Target Actual

Programme 4: Sport and Recreation
Subprogramme 4.2: Sport
Number of affiliated Provincial Sport Federations 
supported

2 8 More demands to be 
met

Number of new facilities constructed 0 0

Number of facilities upgraded 1 1

Number of athletes supported through high 
performance programmes

1 450 1 996

Number of sport administrators trained volunteers 1 250 282

Number of coaches trained 580 549 

Number of technical officials trained 450 302

Inadequate funding to 
meet the target

Number of people in learnership programmes 2 0 Budgetary constraints

Number of athletes benefiting from sport development 
activities

2 776 3 708

Subprogramme 4.3: Recreation
Number of recreation structures supported 25 25

Number of facilities upgraded 11 2 (Petrusburg and 
Wepener)

These are MIG projects

Number of recreational sport events / programmes 18 18

Number of participants in recreational sport events / 
programmes

670 000 465 523 Some events were 
cancelled due to budget 
pressures

Number of talented athletes ID that were taken up for 
main stream sport

25 15 Due to budget 
pressures

Subprogramme 4.4: School Sport
Number of learners participating 2 500 882 Numbers covered in CG

Number of teams delivered 20 12 Budget with DoE

Number of talented athletes ID that were taken up into 
high performance structures / programmes

150 0 Due to budget 
pressures

55



3 Report of the Audit Committee
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DEPARTMENT OF SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE

Report of the Audit Committee

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

During  the  year  under  review  the  Audit  Committee  consisted  of  the  members  listed 
hereunder.  Four meetings were held:

Name Attended Apologies Total
Mr M Khunong (Chairperson) 4 0 4
Ms J Schimper 3 1 4
Ms L Dunn-Radile 3 1 4
Adv. N van Heerden 2 0 2
Ms N Mochochoko 0 2 2*

* Ms N Mochochoko resigned a as member of the Audit Committee during the financial year and 
Advocate N van Heerden was appointed as a member

Audit Committee responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 
38(1)(a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.  The Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated 
its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged its responsibilities as contained 
therein. 

The effectiveness of internal control

The Committee monitors the activities of the Internal Audit Activity.  In line with the PFMA 
and the King II Report on corporate governance requirements, internal audit provides the 
Audit Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate 
and effective.  This is achieved by means of a risk management process, as well as the 
identification  of  corrective  actions  and  suggested  enhancements  to  the  controls  and 
processes.

The system of risk management and internal control was not entirely effective for the year 
under review.  Compliance with prescribed policies and procedures were lacking in certain 
instances, for example in respect of expenditure incurred during major sport events.  The 
effect of  this has been included in the annual financial  statements and the report  of  the 
Accounting Officer. 

The quality of in year management and monthly / quarterly reports submitted 
in terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act

The Audit  Committee  is  satisfied  with  the  content  and  quality  of  monthly  and  quarterly 
reports prepared and issued by the Accounting Officer and the Department during the year 
under review.
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Evaluation of Financial Statements before submission to the Auditor-General 
and the Provincial Treasury on 31 May 2008:

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Accounting  Officer  all  abnormal  and/or  significant  transactions  of  the  department  as 
disclosed in the annual financial statements.  The annual financial statements have been 
signed  by  the  Accounting  Officer  and  have  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  the 
preparation guide and specimen financial  statements issued by National Treasury and in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Mosala Khunong
Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

Date:  24 July 2008
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1. General review of the state of financial affairs

Budget allocation to the Department

The budget allocation to the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture for the year 2007/2008 
financial  year  was R184.812 million as increased by the R16.32 million from the initial 
R168.492 million.

The budget increase of R16.32 million was necessitated by the following:
 
- Accenta Trade Fair R1 million

An  additional  amount  was  allocated  to  the  Department  to  assist  with  travelling, 
accommodation and subsistence cost of the Free State delegation (including 50 artists) to 
the Accenta Trade Fair in the city of Ghent in Belgium.

- SA Games R9 million

Hosting of SA games in the Free State; and selection, preparation and delivery of the 
Free State team for the SA Games.

- Soccerex R3.2 million

Participation by the Free State Provincial Government in the Soccerex in order to market 
the province for hosting of some of the 2010 FIFA World Cup events.

- SABC Sports Awards 2007 R3 million

The Sports Awards were hosted in collaboration with Sport and Recreation South Africa, 
SASCOC (South African Confederation and Olympic Committee) and SABC Sport.

- Rollovers R120 000 – Programme 4: Sport and Recreation

This was the unspent funds from the Conditional  Grant:  Sport  and Recreation South 
Africa, as a result of orders placed but not paid by 31 March 2007.

The budget presented an increase of 33% over the previous year’s allocation of R138.892 
million. Overall the budget assisted the Department to meet its basic strategic objectives, 
as well as to host the important events that were not initially funded. However, the filling of 
vacancies remained a challenge, especially during the last six months of the year.

Spending trends

The budget allocation was utilised as follows:

2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

Amount appropriated, excluding rollover 168 492 131 510
Plus: Adjustment estimate 16 320 7 382
Subtotal 184 812 138 892
Less: Total expenditure (187 210) (138 706)
Deficit / Surplus per appropriate account (2 398) 186

The deficit of R2.398 million as per appropriation statement resulted from the overspending 
in Sport and Recreation on the delivery of Team Free State for SA Games hosted in the 
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province. The overspending will be covered in 2008/2009 budget. Measures will be put in 
place to prevent overspending in future.

32 % of the budget allocation was spent on Sport and Recreation, 28% on Cultural Affairs 
and 27 % on Library and Archives Services. 13% was allocated for Infrastructure project 
spending among the three service  delivery  programmes,  and 41% to  personnel-related 
expenditure among all the four programmes.

Financial Management Improvement Programme

Financial Management improves with every year that passes. Policies and procedures were 
reviewed and internal controls tightened further. A liability committee was established to 
monitor and prevent irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

The financial management of the Department was handled by a Chief Financial Officer, 
Senior Manager: Financial Administration (acting as Departmental Accountant), Manager: 
Financial Services, Manager: Supply Chain Management, Revenue Officer, three Financial 
Clerks  and  eight  Supply  Chain  Management  Practitioners.   The  Internal  Control  and 
Revenue units are functioning but with skeletal staff.

Supply Chain Management powers were delegated, subject to certain limitations, to the 
Chief Financial Officer and Programme Managers – which contributed to the establishment 
of a network of stakeholders in budget and financial management. Bid Committees have 
been established to ensure proper and timely processing of bids. 

One major challenge in the Department is the trend among managers not to follow Supply 
Chain Management procedures, with the result that irregular expenditure was reported and 
which  comprised  26  %  of  the  total  expenditure  on  goods  and  services  and  transfer 
payments.  Measures are being adopted and reviewed to address this challenge during the 
2008/09 financial year.

Senior  Managers  underwent  training  on  a  Bid  Committee-course  and  were  also  given 
project assignments to complete by mid-June. This was a valuable course and will assist in 
equipping managers with the knowledge required.

2. Services rendered by the Department

List of services rendered

Services  rendered  by  the  Department  in  the  Province  are  measured  by  the  following 
Programme objectives:

- To  render  management  and  administrative  support  services  to  the  different  line 
functions

- Render and manage arts, cultural and heritage services
- To manage library, information and technology services
- To promote sport and recreation development

Tariff policy

The Department sets tariffs for sales of  curio,  restaurant  and bar sales,  entrance fees, 
course fees and other types of income.
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The following factors are taken into account when calculating tariffs:

� Expenditure and maintenance cost relating to the site
R Income to be generated for the Free State Provincial Government
[ Tariffs  of  similar  centres  or  services  in  the  vicinity  of  the  site,  with  regard  to  the 

following:

- market-relatedness
- demand for the use of the centre/service
- affordability to the lower income groups
- the increase in the expenses of the centre/services
- differentiation between daily and week-end tariffs

Inventories

The Department no longer has central stores. Due to capacity problems experienced at 
SCM, it was decided that each unit keeps its own stock. 

At Basotho Cultural Village, inventory balances on hand for stocks for resale at year end 
amounted to a cost total of R178 000.

3. Capacity constraints

By the end of the financial year the Department’s vacancy rate had increased to 51 % with 
the subsequent decrease of the capacity rate to 49 %.  Filling of the vacant posts is being 
addressed during the 2008/09 financial year.

4. Trading entities / public entities

4.1 Public entities

The Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation is a public entity under the 
auspices of the Department.

4.2 Property description

Ownership of  properties on which certain entities,  which were integrated as part  of  the 
Department’s programmes on 1 April 2007, are situated, still need to be finally determined. 
They are the following:

Basotho Cultural Village
The museum complex in which the Basotho Cultural  Village is housed is valued at  an 
amount of R3.294 million.  The valuation of the museum complex was done on 29 May 
2001 and by KW Kahts, FIV (SA).  The Department of Sport, Arts and Culture contributed 
renovations of R4.186 million.  Title  deed or ownership of the land where the museum 
complex is situated can still not be traced.

Mmabana Arts and Culture Centre
Land and buildings represent a consolidation of proposed divisions with erven, 102, 103 
and 104, remainder of erven 122, 396, 479, 692 and 737, situated in the town Thaba N’chu. 
The  land  and  buildings  are  in  the  process  of  being  transferred  from  the  relevant 
Government authorities in the Free State Provincial Government.
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Land and buildings  is  valued at  R6.72 million by the previous Mmabana management, 
which was determined by the transfer of the assets from Mmabana Cultural Foundation 
Mmabatho to Mmabana Cultural Foundation Thaba N’chu at no consideration.

4.3 Utilization of donor funds

R712 000 was received from the Flemish government during the 2007/08 financial year to 
assist the Free State Sport Science Institute to commence district satellites in the province 
– of these funds R137 000 was utilized. Unutilized donor funds of R576 000 which were 
taken over as liabilities on 31 March 2007 as a result of integration of certain entities, will 
be utilized once approved business plans are available.

4.4 Other tangible assets

Not included in the Disclosure note 29 are assets worth R3.246 million used at the High 
Performance Centre of the Free State Sport Science Institute, from the previous year’s 
purchases, due to challenges with the allocation of ICN numbers for these assets so that 
they can be included in the asset register.

5. Organisations to whom transfer payments have been made

Organisation Amount ‘R’
Free  State  Academy of  Sport  (for  sport  development,  coaching and 
training)     

600 000

Free State Academy of Sport (to assist the Local Organizing Committee 
with the hosting of the SA Games 2007 in the province)

7 000 000

Free State Academy of Sport (for preparation and selection of Team 
Free State)

2 000 000

Provincial Arts and Culture Council    200 000
Provincial Language Committee    110 000
Free State Choral Music    113 000
Free State Youth Commission    500 000
Provincial Heritage Resource Council 157 000
Geographical Names Committee 157 000

The following measures are in place to ensure that transfer payments are monitored:
- Regular reporting is required
- Visits to institutions by the Executive or Senior Managers
- There must be adequate financial management systems
- Review of performance
- The  Head  of  Department  may  withhold  a  transfer  payment  if  the  conditions 

stipulated on the transfer payments are not adhered to.

6. Corporate governance arrangements

Corporate governance arrangements are derived from Section 38 and 40 of the Public 
Finance Management Act, as well as the relevant sections of the King II Report.

The Department has an internal audit activity functioning in accordance with an internal 
audit  charter.  The Internal Audit  consists of the chief  audit  executive,  a senior internal 
auditor and an internal auditor.  A proposed revised organisational structure is awaiting 
approval. The following positions have been created in addition to the posts in the existing 
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structure: two assistant internal auditors (one per each existing internal auditor post), as 
well as one additional Internal Auditor for performance and IT auditing. This will  enable 
audit  teams  per  engagement  and  should  improve  the  situation.  The  Internal  Audit 
approach  and  methodology  was  also  reviewed  and  amended  during  the  year  as 
recommended by the Auditor General.  The external quality assessment of the Internal 
Audit Activity has not yet taken place due to the lack of funds, but this situation will be 
corrected during 2008/09.

The  Audit  Committee  is  functioning  and  was  also  evaluated  (360  degree  evaluation). 
Areas for improvement were communicated to the Chairperson and members.

The Risk Management plan was reviewed and the risk register was updated with new risks 
and strategies to combat these. The risk management charter was finalised and approved 
in October 2007. In terms of the charter, the Department must establish and maintain a 
functional Risk Management Committee; however, members must still be appointed. Other 
matters such as the purpose and accountability, responsibilities of the committee as well 
as  members,  induction  and  continuous  education,  secretariat  and  meetings  are  also 
contained  in  the  charter.   Executive  and  Senior  Managers  will  constitute  the  Risk 
Management Committee.

A  bilateral  meeting  was  held  between  the  Provincial  Treasury  and  the  department 
regarding  risk  management.  The  discussions  included  Risk  Management  and  Risk 
Management Committee, filling of posts, risk policy, strategy, review and charter, training 
needs and the utilisation of Barnowl (a risk management software package to assist with 
the management of risks).

Risk Management, including Fraud Prevention, is not attended to on a full time basis as it 
should because the current Risk Manager is also responsible for financial control,  loss 
control, transport management and budget management. Two posts (Risk Manager and 
Risk Practitioner) were identified and benchmarked by the Office of the Premier at levels 
11 and 9. In terms of Treasury Regulation 3.2.1 Risk Management and Fraud Prevention 
have to be performed to improve controls and manage risks; therefore the urgency and 
importance of filling the risk management posts can not be overemphasised. 

Key personnel declared their financial interest on a yearly basis so that any conflict  of 
interest can be identified. Senior Management and Financial Control Committee meetings 
are held on a regular basis. 

Health,  safety and environment matters  impacting on the Department and its staff  are 
receiving attention in each division of the Department as and when they are identified.

7. Progress with financial management improvement

With  the  implementation  of  financial  management  improvements,  such  as  the 
implementation  of  the  Public  Finance  Management  Act  and  other  relevant  financial 
legislation,  an  informal  approach  is  followed  and  reviewed  with  each  internal  finance 
meeting.
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8. Asset management

A new asset numbering system will be explored in the beginning of the new financial year. 
Until then, the unique numbering system will continue to be used.

Achievements in 2007/2008:
- Appointment and training of Asset controllers
- Disposal plan was approved and the Disposal board was appointed by the HOD

Challenges
- Movement of assets – lack of reporting is still a major challenge
- Supply Chain Management staff underwent asset management training
- Capacity constraints
- Asset Clerk vacancy will be filled in the next six months.  The organogram of Supply 

Chain Management is in the process of being reviewed.

9. Propac Resolutions

Reference to previous 
Audit Report and 
PROPAC Resolution

Subject Findings on Progress

Resolution 50/2007 Human Resource Planning:
Employment Equity principles not 
considered when vacancies are 
filled; and

Absence of a human resource 
plan.

Current employment equity plan is in the process of being 
reviewed to be aligned with the code of good practice as 
well as the department’s strategic objectives.

Human Resources Planning Guideline and Toolkit is still 
to be finalized by the DPSA by 31 October 2008. This will 
help the Department to finalise its plan.

Resolution 50/2007 Matters on compliance with 
applicable legislation:

Some suppliers were not paid 
within 30 days as required by 
Treasury Regulations

Payments procedures were reviewed, designed and 
implemented to fast track all payments

Previous Audit Report 
(Paragraph 12)

Short comings in Internal Audit

Lack of follow-up  audits

A proposed revised organisational structure for the 
Internal Audit is awaiting approval. The new structure will 
enable audit teams per engagement.

The number of audits planned will be limited to a 
minimum of six and a maximum of eight engagements per 
year, including follow-up audits, audits planned for 
Phakisa and possible ad hoc audits.

The Internal Audit approach and 
methodology was not updated

Internal assessment done.

Quality assessment not carried 
out

Arrangements were made with the Institute of Internal 
Auditors (South Africa) to have the results of the internal 
review externally validated.  To be finalized by 30 June 
2008.

Previous Audit Report 
(Paragraph 13(b))

Payments and monies not 
banked in line with relevant 
Treasury Regulations

- Revised Revenue Collection was approved and 
implemented.

- Revenue training provided to revenue collection 
offices.
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10. Performance information

The  Department  utilises  a  performance  management  approach,  whereby  performance 
monitoring is  based on the  Strategic  Plan  of  the  Department,  which  included  strategic 
objectives,  against  which  key  performance  indicators  are  measured.   They  have  been 
included in the performance agreements of programme directors.  During the 2007/08 year 
quarterly reports, including non-financial data, were given on the strategic plan and this 
monitoring  process  has  been  refined  as  from  1  April  2007,  as  part  of  the  National 
Treasury’s framework and the customized Strategic Plan for the Sector: Sport, Arts and 
Culture.  The contents of these reports are linked directly to the strategic objectives as per 
3-year  Annual  Performance  Plan  2007/08  –  2009/10  MTEF period.   The  performance 
information in the quarterly reports (to be consolidated into an annual report) are based on 
statistics (raw data of measurable outputs of the objectives), which should be verifiable by 
means of documents such as registers, actual transactions/events and medial reports.

11. Related parties

11.1Influence on entities

The Executive Authority of the Department has, in terms of the Phakisa Major Sport Events 
and Development Corporation Act, the power to appoint or remove directors from the Board 
governing the affairs of the Corporation.

11.2Litigation against the Corporation and settlement agreement

During 1998 the Phakisa Corporation entered into a contract with an international license 
holder to host five international Moto Grand Prix events of which the contract expired in 
2003.  The Free State Provincial Government paid the rights fees annually.  The expired 
contract made provision for the right to negotiate, within a window period, for a continuance 
following the event in 2003.  The Free State Provincial Government resolved in July 2003 
not  to  fund  another  contract  for  the  continuance.  However,  in  the  meanwhile,  the 
international  rights  holders  had  to  finalize  the  2004  MotoGP  calendar  and  apparently 
assumed that the Free State Provincial Government would agree to provide further funding 
and had gone ahead to include the Phakisa Freeway as a venue for the South African 
MotoGP.   Apparently  the international  rights  holders  were  also advised that  they could 
exercise their right in terms of the now expired Promotor’s Agreement of 1998 to extend the 
staging of the MotoGP at the Phakisa Freeway to 2004.  As a result of this, a claim of USD 
5.35 million approximately R37.450 million was lodged by the license holder against the 
Corporation. 

During July 2006 a settlement agreement was reached between the Corporation and the 
license holder on the amount of $700 000, the first $200 000 payable on 21 August 2006, 
the second $100 000 on 20 October 2006, the third $200 000 on 31 May 2007 and the 
fourth $200 000 on 31 May 2008.  

12. Exemption and deviations received from Provincial Treasury

Bursaries paid for non-employees were disclosed as part of goods and services during the 
2006/07 financial year, and as part of transfer payments to households during the 2007/08 
financial year.  Deviation was granted by the National Treasury not to restate comparative 
figures in this regard.
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13. General

Mr ES Magashule, MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture took over from Me SK Mnumzana with 
effect from 5 August 2007.

Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 72 to 117 have been approved by the 
Accounting Officer.

Mrs BR Sempe
ACCOUNTING OFFICER
30 May 2008
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LEGISLATURE  ON  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  AND 
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF VOTE 12: SPORT, ARTS AND 
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Department of Sport, 
Arts and Culture which comprise the appropriation statement, statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2008, statement of  financial  performance,  statement of 
changes in net assets and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out 
on pages 72 to 117.

Responsibility of the accounting officer for the financial statements

2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair  presentation of 
these financial statements in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting 
determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in 
the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999) (PFMA) and the Division of Revenue Act, 2007 (Act No. 1 of 2007 (DoRA). 
This responsibility includes: 
• designing,  implementing  and  maintaining  internal  control  relevant  to  the 

preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  financial  statements  that  are  free  from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies
• making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 
read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my 
audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 
and General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 
15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the 
amounts  and  disclosures  in  the  financial  statements.  The  procedures  selected 
depend  on  the  auditor’s  judgement,  including  the  assessment  of  the  risks  of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
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purpose  of  expressing  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  entity’s  internal 
control. 

6. An audit also includes evaluating the:

• appropriateness of accounting policies used
• reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management
• overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Basis of accounting 

8. The department’s policy is to prepare financial  statements on the modified cash 
basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting 
policy note 1.1.

Opinion 

9. In my opinion the financial statements  present fairly,  in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture as at 31 March 2008 
and  its  financial  performance  and  cash  flows  for  the  year  then  ended,  in 
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting determined by the National 
Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1  and in the manner required by 
the PFMA and DoRA.

Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matter:

Irregular expenditure

10. As disclosed in note 25 to the financial  statements, irregular  expenditure to the 
amount  of  R21,8  million  was  incurred  mainly  due  to  proper  supply  chain 
management procedures not being followed and proper documentation not being 
available. 

OTHER MATTERS

Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matters that relate 
to my responsibilities in the audit of the financial statements:

Non-compliance with applicable legislation

Treasury Regulations

11. A risk management strategy as required by Treasury Regulation 3.2.1 was not in 
place at the department for the financial year under review. 

12. Evidence that the accounting officer maintained appropriate measures to ensure 
that transfers and subsidies to entities were applied for their intended purposes as 
stipulated in Treasury Regulation 8.4.1 could not be confirmed in all instances as 
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audited financial statements from entities to whom money was allocated could not 
be submitted. 

Matters of governance

13. The PFMA tasks the accounting officer with a number of responsibilities concerning 
financial and risk management and internal control. Fundamental to achieving this 
is  the  implementation  of  certain  key  governance  responsibilities,  which  I  have 
assessed as follows:

Matters of governance Yes No
Audit committee 
• The  department  had  an  audit  committee  in  operation 

throughout the financial year.
X

• The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, 
written terms of reference.

X

• The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities 
for  the  year,  as  set  out  in  section  77  of  the  PFMA and 
Treasury Regulation 3.1.10.

X

Internal audit
• The department had an internal audit function in operation 

throughout the financial year.
X

• The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved 
internal audit plan.

X

• The  internal  audit  function  substantially  fulfilled  its 
responsibilities  for  the  year,  as  set  out  in  Treasury 
Regulation 3.2.

X

Other matters of governance
The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as 
per the legislated deadlines (section 40 of the PFMA).

X

The financial statements submitted for auditing were not subject 
to any material amendments resulting from the audit.

X

No  significant  difficulties  were  experienced  during  the  audit 
concerning delays or the unavailability of expected information 
and/or the unavailability of senior management.

X

The  prior  year's  external  audit  recommendations  have  been 
substantially implemented.

X

PROPAC resolutions have been substantially implemented. X

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

14. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 14 to 51.

Responsibility of the accounting officer for the performance information

15. The accounting officer has additional responsibilities as required by section 40(3)
(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the annual report and audited financial statements 
fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the department.
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Responsibility of the Auditor-General

16. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read with 
General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 
2008. 

17. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an 
audit  nature  to  obtain  sufficient  appropriate  evidence  about  the  performance 
information  and  related  systems,  processes  and  procedures.  The  procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

Audit findings (performance information)

18. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to report that 
no significant findings have been identified as a result of my review.

APPRECIATION

19. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 
during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Bloemfontein

31 July 2008
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Appropriation per programme

2007/08 2006/07

Adjusted

Appropriati

on

Shiftin

g of 

Funds

Virement Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditur

e

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000

1. Programme 1:  Administration

Current payment 26 841 (336) (1 063) 25 442 25 442 - 100 % 22 739 22 736

Transfers and subsidies - 600 - 600 600 - 100 % 13 13

Payment for capital assets 581 (264) - 317 317 - 100 % 509 509

2. Programme 2: Cultural Affairs

Current payment 41 485 (820) (75) 40 590 40 590 - 100 % 37 519 37 517

Transfers and subsidies 1 637 610 - 2 247 2 247 - 100 % 1 930 1 930

Payment for capital assets 9 048 210 - 9 258 9 258 - 100 % 5 593 5 591

3. Programme 3: Library and Archive 

Services

Current payment 39 206 (1 194) - 38 012 37 794 218 99.4 % 23 667 23 667

Transfers and subsidies 23 (12) - 11 11 - 100 % 667 666

Payment for capital assets 10 959 1 206 133 12 298 12 298 - 100 % 17 237 17 203

4. Programme  4:  Sport  and 

Recreation

Current payment 35 948 232 1 005 37 185 39 801 (2 616) 107 % 21 150 21 015

Transfers and subsidies 13 495 - - 13 495 13 495 - 100 % 5 441 5 441

Payment for capital assets 5 589 (232) - 5 357 5 357 - 100 % 2 427 2 418

TOTAL 184 812 - - 184 812 187 210 (2 398) 101.3 % 138 892 138 706

Reconciliation with Statement of Financial Performance

         Add:

Prior year unauthorised expenditure approved with funding 6 338

Local and foreign aid assistance received 712 1 433

Actual amounts per Statements of Financial Performance (Total revenue) 191 862 140 325

         Add:

Local and foreign aid assistance 137 857

Prior year unauthorised expenditure approved 6 338

Actual amounts per Statements of Financial Performance (Total expenditure) 193 685 139 563
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Appropriation per economic classification

2007/08 2006/07

Adjusted

Appropriati

on

Shifting 

of Funds

Viremen

t

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
Current payments
Compensation  of 
employees

83 972 (7 179) (226) 76 567 76 564 3 100 % 62 391 62 371

Goods and services 59 508 5 061 93 64 662 67 063 (2 401) 103.7 % 42 679 42 559

Financial  transactions  in 
assets and liabilities

- - - - - - - 5 5

Transfers and subsidies 
Provinces  and 
municipalities

7 013 (7 006) - 7 7 - 100 % 48 48
Departmental  agencies and 
accounts

500 - - 500 500 - 100 % - -

Public  corporations  and 
private enterprises

3 895 - - 3 895 3 895 - 100 % 4 834 4 834

Non-profit institutions 3 423 7 414 - 10 837 10 837 - 100 % 2 805 2 805

Households 324 790 - 1 114 1 114 - 100 % 364 363
Payments  for  capital 
assetsBuildings  and  other  fixed 
structures

22 090 1 438 133 23 661 23 661 - 100 % 23 668 23 635

Machinery and equipment 4 071 (518) - 3 553 3 553 - 100 % 2 098 2 086

Software  and  other 
intangible assets

16 - - 16 16 - 100 % - -

TOTAL 184 812 - - 184 812 187 210 (2 398) 101.3 % 138 892 138 706
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2007/08 2006/07

Programme per 

subprogramme

Adjusted

Appropriati

on

Shifting of 

Funds

Virement Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expendit

ure

Varian

ce

Expenditure

as % of 

final 

appropriatio

n

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
1.1 Office  of  the  MEC 

(including 
Management)Current payment 9 648 116 (367) 9 397 9 397 - 100 % 8 262 8 261
Transfers and subsidies - - - - - - 0 % 5 5
Payment  for  capital 
assets

196 (57) - 139 139 - 100 % 185 185
1.2 Corporate Support

Current payment 17 193 (452) (696) 16 045 16 045 - 100 % 14 477 14 475
Transfers and subsidies - 600 - 600 600 - 100 % 8 8
Payment  for  capital 
assets

385 (207) - 178 178 - 100 % 324 324

TOTAL 27 422 - (1 063) 26 359 26 359 - 100 % 23 261 23 258

2007/08 2006/07

Economic Classification Adjusted

Appropriatio

n

Shifting of 

Funds

Viremen

t

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varianc

e

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

 Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
Current payment
Compensation of employees 20 443 (1 050) (184) 19 209 19 209 - 100 % 15 980 15 980
Goods and services 6 398 714 (879) 6 233 6 233 - 100 % 6 759 6 756
Financial  transactions  in 
assets and liabilities

- - - - - - 0 % - -

Transfers  and  subsidies 
to:
Provinces and municipalities - - - - - - 0 % 13 13
Households - 600 - 600 600 - 100 % - -
Payment   for   capital 
assets
Machinery and equipment 565 (264) - 301 301 - 100 % 509 509
Software  and  other 
intangible assets

16 - - 16 16 - 100 % - -

TOTAL 27 422 - (1 063) 26 359 26 359 - 100 % 23 261 23 258
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2007/08 2006/07

Programme per 

subprogramme

Adjusted

Appropriatio

n

Shifting 

of Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varian

ce

Expenditure

as % of 

final 

appropriatio

n

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
2.1  Management

Current payment 3 133 (777) - 2 356 2 356 - 100 %     4 071 4 071
Transfers and subsidies 990 (226) - 764 764 - 100 % 1 201 1 201
Payment  for  capital 
assets

35 16 - 51 51 - 100 % 59 59
2.2 Arts and Culture

Current payment 20 541 848 - 21 389 21 389 - 100 % 17 753 17 751
Transfers and subsidies 227 692 - 919 919 - 100 % 278 278
Payment  for  capital 
assets

494 42 - 536 536 - 100 % 1 673 1 671
2.3 Museum Services

Current payment 16 303 (592) (10) 15 701 15 701 - 100 % 14 269 14 269
Transfers and subsidies 315 131 - 446 446 - 100 % 350 350
Payment  for  capital 
assets

8 515 150 - 8 665 8 665 - 100 % 3 831 3 831
2.4 Language Services

Current payment 1 508 (299) (65) 1 144 1 144 - 100 % 1 426 1 426
Transfers and subsidies 105 13 - 118 118 - 100 % 101 101
Payment  for  capital 
assets

4 2 - 6 6 - 100 % 30 30

TOTAL 52 170 - (75) 52 095 52 095 - 100 % 45 042 45 038

2007/08 2006/07

Economic Classification Adjusted

Appropriatio

n

Shifting 

of Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varianc

e

Expenditure

as % of final 

appropriatio

n

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

 Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
Current payment
Compensation  of 
employees

29 965 (1 603) (42) 28 320 28 320 - 100 % 25 781 25 779

Goods and services 11 520 783 (33) 12 270 12 270 - 100 % 11 738 11 738
Financial  transactions  in 
assets and liabilities

- - - - - - 0 % - -

Transfers  and  subsidies 
to:
Provinces  and 
municipalities

- 6 - 6 6 - 100 % 19 19

Departmental agencies and 
accounts

500 - - 500 500 - 100 % - -

Public  corporations  and 
private enterprises

- - - - - - 0 % - -

Non-profit institutions 823 414 - 1 237 1 237 - 100 % 1 600 1 600
Households 314 190 - 504 504 - 100 % 311 310
Payment   for   capital 
assets
Buildings  and  other  fixed 
structures

8 685 311 - 8 996 8 996 - 100 % 5 182 5 182

Machinery and equipment 363 (101) - 262 262 - 100 % 411 410
Software  and  other 
intangible assets

- - - - - - 0 % - -

TOTAL 52 170 - (75) 52 095 52 095 - 100 % 45 042 45 038
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2007/08 2006/07

Programme per 

subprogramme

Adjusted

Appropriation

Shifting 

of Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
3.1 Management

Current payment 1 711 494 - 2 205 2 205 - 100 % 1 965 1 965
Transfers  and 
subsidies

- - - - - - - 1 -
Payment  for  capital 
assets

32 (20) - 12 12 - 100 % 23 23
3.2 Library Services

Current payment 35 134 (1 473) - 33 661 33 443 218 99.4 % 19 585 19 585
Transfers  and 
subsidies

- 1 - 1 1 - 100 % 60 60
Payment  for  capital 
assets

10 823 1 287 133 12 243 12 243 - 100 % 17 194 17 160
3.3 Archive Services

Current payment 2 361 (215) - 2 146 2 146 - 100 % 2 117 2 117
Transfers  and 
subsidies

23 (13) - 10 10 - 100 % 1 1
Payment  for  capital 
assets

104 (61) - 43 43 - 100 % 20 20
3.4 Technology Services

Transfers  and 
subsidies

- - - - - - - 605 605

TOTAL 50 188 - 133 50 321 50 103 218 99.6 % 41 571 41 536

2007/08 2006/07

Economic Classification Adjusted

Appropriatio

n

Shifting of 

Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expendit

ure

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

 Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
Current payment
Compensation  of 
employees

20 725 (3 504) - 17 221 17 220 1 100 % 12 588 12 588

Goods and services 18 481 2 310 - 20 791 20 574 217 99 % 11 079 11 079
Transfers  and  subsidies 
to:
Provinces and municipalities 13 (12) - 1 1 - 100 % 10 10
Non-profit institutions - - - - - - - 605 605
Households 10 - - 10 10 - 100 % 52 52
Payment   for   capital 
assets
Buildings  and  other  fixed 
structures

8 552 1 238 133 9 923 9 923 - 100 % 16 867 16 834

Machinery and equipment 2 407 (32) - 2 375 2 375 - 100 % 370 368
TOTAL 50 188 - 133 50 321 50 103 218 99.6 % 41 571 41 536
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2007/08 2006/07

Programme per 

subprogramme

Adjusted

Appropriation

Shifting 

of Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditu

re

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
4.1 Management

Current payment 2 888 (280) - 2 608 2 608 -- 100 % 1 531 1 531
Transfers  and 
subsidies

600 - - 600 600 -- 100 % 601 601
Payment  for  capital 
assets

50 (14) - 36 36 - 100 % 8 8
4.2 Sport

Current payment 7 010 871 1 005 8 886 8 886 - 100 % 4 408 4 408
Transfers  and 
subsidies

- - - - - - - 2 2
Payment  for  capital 
assets

5 539 (459) - 5 080 5 080 - 100 % 2 339 2 339
4.3 Recreation

Current payment 14 626 (159) - 14 467 17 091 (2 624) 118.1 % 11 309 11 247
Transfers  and 
subsidies

9 000 - - 9 000 9 000 - 100 % 4 4
Payment  for  capital 
assets

- 149 - 149 149 - 100 % 58 56
4.4 School Sport

Current payment 8 224 (424) - 7 800 7 792 8 99.9 % 3 902 3 829
Payment  for  capital 
assets

- 92 - 92 92 - 100 % 22 15
4.5     2010  FIFA  World 

CupCurrent payment 3 200 56 - 3 256 3 256 - 100 % - -
4.6 Phakisa  Major  Sport 

Events  and 
Development 
CorporationCurrent payment - 168 - 168 168 - 100 % - -
Transfers  and 
subsidies

3 895 - - 3 895 3 895 -- 100 % 4 834 4 834

TOTAL 55 032 - 1 005 56 037 58 653 (2 616) 104.7 % 29 018 28 874

2007/08 2006/07

Economic Classification Adjusted

Appropriatio

n

Shifting of 

Funds

Vireme

nt

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

Expendit

ure

Varian

ce

Expenditur

e

as % of 

final 

appropriati

on

Final

Appropriati

on

Actual

 Expenditure

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000
Current payment
Compensation  of 
employees

12 839 (1 022) - 11 817 11 815 2 100 % 8 042 8 024

Goods and services 23 109 1 254 1 005 25 368 27 986 (2 618) 110.3 % 13 103 12 986
Financial  transactions  in 
assets and liabilities

- - - - - - - 5 5

Transfers  and  subsidies 
to:
Provinces and municipalities 7 000 (7 000) - - - - - 6 6
Public  corporations  and 
private enterprises

3 895 - - 3 895 3 895 - 100 % 4 834 4 834

Non-profit institutions 2 600 7 000 - 9 600 9 600 - 100 % 600 600
Households - - - - - - - 1 1
Payment   for   capital 
assets
Buildings  and  other  fixed 
structures

4 853 (111) - 4 742 4 742 - 100 % 1 619 1 619

Machinery and equipment 736 (121) - 615 615 - 100 % 808 799
TOTAL 55 032 - 1 005 56 037 58 653 (2 616) 104.7 % 29 018 28 874
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1. Detail of transfers and subsidies as per Appropriation Act (after Virement):

Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 7 (Transfers and subsidies) and Annexure 1 (I-
L) to the Annual Financial Statements.

2. Detail of specifically and exclusively appropriated amounts voted (after Virement):

Detail  of  these  transactions  can  be  viewed  in  note  1  (Annual  Appropriation)  to  the  Annual 
Financial Statements.

3. Detail on financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Detail of these transactions per programme can be viewed in note 6 (Financial transactions in 
assets and liabilities) to the Annual Financial Statements.

4. Explanations of material variances from Amounts Voted (after Virement):

4.1  Per Programme Final 
Appropriation

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure

R’000

Variance  

R’000

Variance as a 
% of Final 

Appropriation
Programme  3:  Library  and  Archive 
Services

50 321 50 103 218 0.4 %

Commitments for book orders placed and not delivered by 31 March 2008.
Programme 4: Sport and Recreation 56 037 58 653 (2 616) (4.7 %)
Overspending due to delivery of the Free State Team for SA Games hosted in the province during 
September 2007.  Budget allocated was insufficient.

4.2 Per Economic classification

4.3

Final 
Appropriation

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure

R’000

Variance  

R’000

Variance as a 
% of Final 

Appropriation

Current payment:

Goods and services 64 662 67 063 (2 401) (3.7 %)

Overspending mainly due to delivery of the Free State Team for SA Games hosted in the province 
during September 2007.  Budget allocated was insufficient.
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R'000 R'000

REVENUE
Annual appropriation 1 184 812 138 892
Appropriation for unauthorised expenditure approved 9.1 6 338
Departmental revenue 2 - -
Local and foreign aid assistance 3 712 1 433

TOTAL REVENUE 191 862 140 325

EXPENDITURE
Current expenditure
Compensation of employees 4 76 564 62 371
Goods and services 5 67 063 42 559
Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 6 - 5
Local and foreign aid assistance 3 137 857
Unauthorised expenditure approved 6 338

Total current expenditure 150 102 105 792

Transfers and subsidies 7 16 353 8 050

Expenditure for capital assets
Buildings and other fixed structures 8 23 661 23 635
Machinery and equipment 8 3 553 2 086
Software and other intangible assets 8 16 -

Total expenditure for capital assets 27 230 25 721

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 193 685 139 563

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (1 823) 762
Add back unauthorised expenditure 2 617 -
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 794 762

Reconciliation of Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Voted Funds 13 219 186
Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the revenue fund 14 - -
Local and foreign aid assistance 3 575 576

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 794 762



DEPARTMENT OF SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE
VOTE 12

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
at 31 March 2008

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R'000 R'000

ASSETS

Current assets 3 704 9 506
  Unauthorised expenditure 9 2 617 6 338
  Cash and cash equivalents 10 99 2 570

Prepayments and advances 11 14 15
Receivables 12 974 583

TOTAL ASSETS 3 704 9 506

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 3 277 9 395
  Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 13 219 6 300
  Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 14 184 2 503
  Bank overdraft 15 1 717 -
  Payables 16 6 16
  Local and foreign aid assistance unutilized 3 1 151 576

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3 277 9 395

NET ASSETS 427 111

Represented by:
Recoverable revenue 427 111



DEPARTMENT OF SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE
VOTE 12

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended 31 March 2008

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R'000 R'000

Recoverable revenue
  Opening balance 111 89
  Transfers
  -  Debts raised 316 22
  Closing balance 427 111

TOTAL 427 111



DEPARTMENT OF SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE
VOTE 12

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2008

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R'000 R'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts 193 833 144 841

Annual appropriated funds received 1.1 184 812 138 892
Appropriation for unauthorised expenditure received 6 338 -
Departmental revenue received 2 1 971 4 516
Local and foreign aid assistance received 3 712 1 433

Net decrease /(increase) in working capital 3 321 1 731
Surrendered to Revenue Fund (10 590) (2 621)
Current payments (150 102) (105 792)
Unauthorised expenditure – current payment 2 617 -
Transfers and subsidies paid (16 353) (8 050)
Net cash flow available from operating activities 17 22 726 30 109

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Payments for capital assets (27 230) (25 721)
Net cash flows from investing activities (27 230) (25 721)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Increase/(decrease) in net assets 316 22

  Net cash flows from financing activities 316 22

  Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4 188) 4 410

  Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2 570 (1 840)

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 18 (1 618) 2 570



DEPARTMENT OF SPORT, ARTS AND CULTURE
VOTE 12

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2008

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the following policies, which 
have been applied consistently in all  material  aspects,  unless otherwise indicated.  However, 
where appropriate and meaningful,  additional information has been disclosed to enhance the 
usefulness of the Financial Statements and to comply with the statutory requirements of the 
Public  Finance Management  Act,  Act  1 of  1999 (as amended by Act  29 of  1999),  and the 
Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act, Act 1 of 2007. 

1. Presentation of the Financial Statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of accounting, except 
where  stated  otherwise.  The  modified  cash  basis  constitutes  the  cash  basis  of  accounting 
supplemented with additional disclosure items.  Under the cash basis of accounting transactions 
and other events are recognised when cash is received or paid. 

1.2 Presentation currency

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R) which is also the 
functional currency of the department.

1.3 Rounding

Unless otherwise stated all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 
Rand (R’000).

1.4 Comparative figures

Prior  period  comparative  information  has  been  presented  in  the  current  year’s  financial 
statements.   Where necessary figures included in the prior period financial  statements have 
been reclassified to ensure that the format in which the information is presented is consistent 
with the format of the current year’s financial statements.  

1.5 Comparative figures - Appropriation Statement

A  comparison  between  actual  amounts  and  final  appropriation  per  major  classification  of 
expenditure is included in the appropriation statement.  

2. Revenue

2.1 Appropriated funds

Appropriated and adjusted appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date 
the appropriation becomes effective.  Adjustments to the appropriated funds made in terms of 
the  adjustments  budget  process  are  recognised  in  the  financial  records  on  the  date  the 
adjustments become effective.

Total appropriated funds are presented in the statement of financial performance.  
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2008

Unexpended appropriated  funds are  surrendered  to  the  Provincial  Revenue Fund.  Amounts 
owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised in the 
statement of financial position.

2.2 Departmental revenue

All  departmental  revenue  is  paid  into  the  Provincial  Revenue  Fund  when  received,  unless 
otherwise stated.  Amounts owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial 
year are recognised in the statement of financial position.  

Amounts receivable at the reporting date are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual 
financial statements.  

2.2.1 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets  

The proceeds received from the sale of goods and/or the provision of services is recognised in 
the statement of financial performance when the cash is received.  

2.2.2 Interest recognition  

Interest is recognised in the statement of financial performance when the cash is received.

2.2.3 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities  

Repayments of loans and advances previously extended to employees and public corporations 
for policy purposes are recognised as revenue in the statement of  financial  performance on 
receipt of the funds.  

Cheques issued in previous accounting periods that expire before being banked are recognised 
as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance when the cheque becomes stale. When 
the cheque is reissued the payment is made from Revenue.

Forex gains are recognised on payment of funds.

2.2.4 Transfers received (including gifts, donations and sponsorships)  

All  cash  gifts,  donations  and  sponsorships  are  paid  into  the  Provincial  Revenue  Fund  and 
recorded  as  revenue  in  the  statement  of  financial  performance  when  received.   Amounts 
receivable at the reporting date are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.

All in-kind gifts, donations and sponsorships are disclosed at fair value in the annexures to the 
financial statements.

2.3 Local and foreign aid assistance

Local  and  foreign  aid  assistance  is  recognised  as  revenue  when  the  Department  directly 
receives the cash from the donor(s).  

All in-kind local and foreign aid assistance are disclosed at fair value in the annexures to the 
annual financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2008

The cash payments made during the year relating to local and foreign aid assistance projects 
are  recognised  as  expenditure  in  the  statement  of  financial  performance.  The  value  of  the 
assistance  expensed  prior  to  the  receipt  of  the  funds  is  recognised  as  a  receivable  in  the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Inappropriately  expensed amounts using local  and foreign aid assistance and any unutilized 
amounts are recognised as payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

3. Expenditure

3.1 Compensation of employees

3.1.1 Short-term employee benefits

Salaries and wages comprise payments to employees (including leave entitlements, thirteenth 
cheques and performance bonuses). Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the 
system (by no later than 31 March of each year). 

All other payments are classified as current expense.

Short-term employee benefits that  give  rise  to  a present  legal  or  constructive  obligation are 
disclose in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These amounts are not recognized 
in the Statement of Financial Performance or Position. 

3.1.2 Post employment retirement benefits

The department  provides  retirement  benefits  (pension  benefits)  for  certain  of  its  employees 
through a defined benefit plan for government employees. These benefits are funded by both 
employer and employee contributions. 

Employer  contributions  (i.e.  social  contributions)  to  the  fund  are  expensed  when  the  final 
authorisation for payment to the fund is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of 
each  year).  No  provision  is  made for  retirement  benefits  in  the  financial  statements  of  the 
department. Any potential liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements of the Provincial 
Revenue Fund and not in the financial statements of the employer department.

The department provides medical benefits for certain of its employees. Employer contributions to 
the medical funds are expensed when final authorisation for payment to the fund is effected on 
the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.1.3 Termination benefits

Termination  benefits  such  as  severance  packages  are  recognised  as  an  expense  in  the 
Statement of Financial Performance as a transfer (to households) when the final authorisation 
for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.1.4 Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits (such as capped leave) are recognized as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance as a transfer (to households) when the final authorization 
for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Long-term employee benefits  that  give  rise  to  a  present  legal  or  constructive  obligation are 
disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These amounts are not recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance or Position.

3.2 Goods and services

Payments made for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
financial performance when the final  for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 
31 March of each year).  The expense is classified as capital if the goods and services were 
used for a capital project or an asset of R5 000 or more is purchased.  All assets costing less 
than R5 000 will also be reflected under goods and services.

3.3 Interest and rent on land

Interest  and  rental  payments  are  recognised  as  an  expense  in  the  statement  of  financial 
performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 
31  March  of  each  year).  This  item  excludes  rental  for  the  use  of  buildings  or  other  fixed 
structures.  If it is not possible to distinguish between payment for the use of land and the fixed 
structures on it, the whole amount should be recorded under goods and services.

3.4 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written-off are limited to the amount 
of savings and/or underspending of appropriated funds. The write off occurs at year-end or when 
funds are available. No provision is made for irrecoverable amounts but amounts are disclosed 
as a disclosure note.

Forex losses are recognised on payment of funds.

All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the recognition thereof.

3.5 Unauthorised expenditure

When discovered  unauthorised  expenditure  is  recognised  as  an  asset  in  the  statement  of 
financial position until such time as the expenditure is either approved by the relevant authority, 
recovered from the responsible person or written off as irrecoverable in the statement of financial 
performance.

Unauthorised expenditure approved with  funding is  recognised in the Statement of  Financial 
Performance when the unauthorised expenditure is approved and the related funds are received. 
Where  the  amount  is  approved  without  funding  it  is  recognised  as  expenditure,  subject  to 
availability of savings, in the statement of financial performance on the date of approval.

3.6 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless  and  wasteful  expenditure  is  recognised  as  an  asset  in  the  Statement  of  Financial 
Position until such time as the expenditure is recovered from the responsible person or written 
off as irrecoverable in the statement of financial performance.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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3.7 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance.  If 
the expenditure is not condoned by the relevant authority it  is treated as an asset until  it  is 
recovered or written off as irrecoverable.

3.8 Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation for payment 
is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.9 Expenditure for capital assets

Payments made for capital assets are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 
31 March of each year).

4. Assets

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.  

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits held, other short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

4.4 Prepayments and advances

Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the 
payments are made.  

4.5 Receivables

Receivables included in the statement of financial position arise from cash payments made that 
are recoverable from another party. 

Receivables outstanding at year-end are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

4.6 Inventory

Inventories purchased during the financial year are disclosed at cost in the notes.

4.7 Capital assets

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is defined as the total 
cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the capital asset should be 
stated at fair value. Where fair value cannot be determined, the capital asset is included in the 
asset register at R1.

Projects  (of  construction/development)  running over  more than one financial  year  relating to 
assets, are only capitalised as assets on completion of the project and at the total cost incurred 
over the duration of the project.
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Disclosure Notes 29 and 30 reflect  the total  movement  in  the asset  register  for the current 
financial year.

5. Liabilities

5.1 Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the Provincial  Revenue Fund.  Amounts 
owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position

5.2 Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Amounts owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

5.3 Bank overdraft

The bank overdraft is carried in the statement of position at cost.

5.4 Payables

Recognised payables mainly comprise of amounts owing to other governmental entities.  These 
payables are recognised at historical cost in the Statement of Financial Position.  

5.5 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes.

5.6 Commitments

Commitments  are  not  recognised  in  the  Statement  of  Financial  Position  as  a  liability  or  as 
expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.7 Accruals

Accruals are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability or as expenditure 
in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.8 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits that  give  rise  to  a present  legal  or  constructive  obligation are 
disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These amounts are not recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance or the Statement of Financial Position.

5.9 Lease commitments

Lease commitments are not recognized in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability or as 
expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the disclosure notes.
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Operating and finance lease commitments are expensed when the payments are made.  Assets 
acquired in terms of finance lease agreements are disclosed in the annexures and disclosure 
notes to the financial statements.

6. Receivables for departmental revenue

Receivables  for  departmental  revenue  are  disclosed  in  the  disclosure  notes  to  the  annual 
financial statements.

7. Net Assets

Recoverable revenue

Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a previous financial 
year becomes recoverable from a debtor in the current financial year.

8. Related party transactions

Specific information with regards to related party transactions is included in the disclosure notes.

9. Key management personnel

Compensation  paid  to  key  management  personnel  including  their  family  members  where 
relevant, is included in the disclosure notes.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2008

1. Annual Appropriation

1.1 Annual Appropriation
Included are funds appropriated in terms of  the Appropriation Act  for Provincial  Departments (Equitable 
Share):**

Final
Appropriation

Actual 
Funds

Received

Funds not
requested/

not received

Appropriation
received
2006/07

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Programme 1: Administration 26 359 26 359 - 23 261
Programme 2: Cultural Affairs 52 095 52 095 - 45 042
Programme  3:  Library  and 
Archive Services

50 321 50 321 - 41 571

Programme  4:  Sport  and 
Recreation

56 037 56 037 - 29 018

Total 184 812 184 812 - 138 892

1.2 Conditional grants**
Notes 2007/08 2006/07

R'000 R'000

Total grants received Annexure 

1A

56 113 34 932

Provincial Grants included in Total grants received 23 657 26 000

**  It should be noted that the Conditional grants are included in the amounts per the Total Appropriation in 
    Note 1.1.

2. Departmental revenue to be surrendered to revenue fund

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 2.1 1 847 3 364
Interest, dividends and rent on land 2.2 72 70
Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 2.3 52 1 082
Total revenue collected 1 971 4 516
Less: Departmental Revenue Budgeted 14 1 971 4 516
Departmental revenue collected - -

2.1 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets

Sales of goods and services produced by the department
  Sales by market establishment 1 845 3 363

Sales of scrap, waste and other used current goods 2 1
1 847 3 364
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

2.2 Interest

   Interest 72 70

2.3 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities
Nature of loss recovered

Receivables written off in previous periods recovered 40 1 038
Stale cheques written back 6 5
Other receipts  including recoverable revenue 6 39
Total 52 1 082

3. Local and foreign aid assistance 

Assistance received in cash: Other
Local
Opening Balance 210 -
Revenue - 400
Expenditure
-   Current - 190
Closing Balance 210 210

Foreign
Opening Balance 366 -
Revenue 712 1 033
Expenditure
-  Current (137) (667)
Closing Balance 941 366

Total
Opening Balance 576 -
Revenue 712 1 433
Expenditure
-  Current (137) (857)
Closing Balance 1 151 576

Analysis of balance
Local and foreign aid unutilized 1 151 576

See Annexure 1N for more detail on donor funds
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

4. Compensation of employees

4.1 Salaries and Wages
Basic salary 55 792 45 994
Performance award 819 754
Service Based 80 77
Compensative/circumstantial 640 368
Periodic payments 3 980 3 315
Other non-pensionable allowances 4 576 3 403

65 887 53 911

4.2 Social contributions

4.2.1 Employer contributions

Pension 6 869 5 644
Medical 3 787 2 799
Bargaining council 21 17
Total 10 677 8 460

Total compensation of employees 76 564 62 371

Average number of employees 679 519
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

5. Goods and services
Advertising 3 897 919
Attendance fees (including registration fees) 184 141
Bank charges and card fees 47 88
Bursaries (employees) 9 544
Catering 2 576 1 639
Communication 3 036 2 528
Computer services 4 375 1 996
Consultants, contractors and special services 6 462 6 116
Courier and delivery services 78 50
Drivers’ licenses and permits 7 4
Entertainment 7 65
External audit fees 5.1 1 878 1 313
Equipment less than R5 000 4 215 1 522
Honoraria (Voluntary workers) - 49
Insurance - 115
Inventory 5.2 5 137 4 692
Maintenance, repairs and running cost 1 609 1 857
Municipal Services 762 766
Operating leases  1 100 3 026
Photographic services 2 29
Plant flowers and other decorations 44 26
Printing and publications 8 679 4 361
Resettlement cost 73 132
Subscriptions 10 3
Owned leasehold property expenditure 1 594 1 206
Translations and transcriptions 11 28
Transport provided as part of the departmental activities 667 53
Travel and subsistence 5.3 11 101 5 708
Venues and facilities 4 416 2 664
Protective, special clothing & uniforms 4 407 478
Training & staff development 680 441
Total 67 063 42 559

Bursaries to non-employees during the 2006/07 financial year were disclosed as part of bursaries under 
goods and services  and during the 2007/08 financial  year  as part  of  transfer  payments to  households. 
Deviation was granted by National Treasury not to restate comparative figures in this regard.

5.1 External audit fees

Regulatory audits 1 878 1 313
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

5.2 Inventory

Domestic consumables 146 144
Food and Food supplies 454 824
Fuel, oil and gas 942 1 256
Other consumables 44 6
Parts and other maintenance material 44 38
Stationery and printing 3 507 2 424
Total Inventory 5 137 4 692

5.3 Travel and subsistence

Local 8 963 5 314
Foreign 2 138 394
Total travel and subsistence 11 101 5 708

6. Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Debts written off - 5
Total 6.1 - 5

6.1 Debts written off

Nature of debts written off
Debts – former employees - 5
Total - 5

7. Transfers and subsidies

Provinces and municipalities (RSC Levies) Annex 1F 7 48
Departmental agencies and accounts Annex 1G 500 -
Public corporations and private enterprises Annex 1I 3 895 4 834
Non-profit institutions Annex 1K 10 837 2 805
Households Annex 1L 1 114 363
Total 16 353 8 050

Bursaries to non-employees during the 2006/07 financial year were disclosed as part of bursaries under 
goods and services and during the 2007/08 financial  year as part of  transfer payments to households. 
Deviation was granted by National Treasury not to restate comparative figures in this regard.
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

8. Expenditure for capital assets

Buildings and other fixed structures 23 661 23 635
Machinery and equipment 3 553 2 086
Software and other intangible assets
  Computer software 16 -
Total 27 230 25 721

9. Unauthorised expenditure

9.1. Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure

Opening balance 6 338 6 338
Unauthorised expenditure – current year 2 617 -
Amounts approved by Legislature (with funding)
  Current expenditure (6 338) -
Unauthorised expenditure now approved and availability of funds 2 617 6 338

9.2 Analysis of Current Unauthorised expenditure

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings Total
Delivery of Team Free 
State for SA Games 
hosted in the province

Special investigation done.  Report to be discussed in Department’s 
Liability Committee.

2 617

10. Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated Paymaster General Account - 2 520
Cash receipts - 2
Disbursements 28 -
Cash on hand 71 48

99 2 570

11. Prepayments and advances

Description
Travel and subsistence 14 15

12. Receivables
Notes Less 

than one 
year

One to 
three 
years

Older 
than 

three 
years

2007/08
R’000
Total

2006/07
R’000
Total

Staff debtors 12.1 114 87 567 768 420
Other Debtors 12.2 8 79 102 189 138
Intergovernmental receivables Annex 4 17 - - 17 25

139 166 669 974 583
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

12.1 Staff Debtors

Bursaries 455 70
Telephone debts 15 72
Salary debts 298 278
Total 768 420

12.2 Other debtors

Double payment to supplier 79 79
Persal deductions - 1
Claims recoverable: Public entities 26 32
Salary reversal - 17
Private telephone - 5
Irregular Expenditure - 4
Debits revised 12.3 84 -
Total 189 138

12.3 Debts revised

Disallowance damages and losses 84 -
Total 84 -

13. Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance 6 300 6 722
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 219 186
Paid during the year (6 300) (608)
Closing balance 219 6 300

14. Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance 2 503
Transfer from Statements of Financial Performance - -
Departmental revenue budgeted 2 1 971 4 516
Paid during the year (4 290) (2 013)
Closing balance 184 2 503

15. Bank overdraft

Consolidated Paymaster General Account 1 717 -
Total 1 717 -
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16. Payables – current

Description
Notes 30 

Days
30+ Days 2007/08

Total
2006/07

Total
Clearing accounts 16.1 - 6 6 16

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

16.1 Clearing accounts

Salary: ACB recalls 6 7
Income Tax - 9

6 16

17. Net cash flow available from operating activities

Net surplus/(deficit) as per Statement of Financial Performance 794 762
Add back non cash / cash movements not deemed operating activities 21 932 29 347
(Decrease)/increase in receivables – current (391) 1 655
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and advances 1 60
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 3 721 -
Increase/(decrease) in payables – current (10) 16
Expenditure on capital assets 27 230 25 721
Surrenders to Revenue Fund (10 590) (2 621)
Other non-cash items 1 971 4 516

Net cash flow available from operating activities 22 726 30 109

18. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes

Consolidated Paymaster General account (1 717) 2 520
Cash receipts - 2
Disbursements 28 -
Cash on hand 71 48

(1 618) 2 570
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

19. Contingent liabilities

Liable to Nature
Housing loan guarantees Employees Annexure 3A 482 482
Claims against the department Annexure 3B 1 858 3 714
Others Annexure 3B 114 114
Other departments (interdepartmental unconfirmed balances) Annexure 5 3 807 324

6 261 4 634

20. Commitments

Current expenditure
Approved and contracted 117 712
Approved but not yet contracted 731 84

848 796
Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted 11 269 24 248
Approved but not yet contracted 235 003 43 950

246 272 68 198
Total Commitments 247 120 68 994

21. Accruals

Listed by economic classification
30 Days
R’000

30+ Days
R’000

Total
R’000

Total
R’000

Goods and services 1 033 474 1 507 583
Buildings and other fixed structures 942 869 1 811 1 075
Total 1 975 1 343 3 318 1 658

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

Listed by programme level
Programme 1: Administration 330 179
Programme 2: Cultural Affairs 1 747 198
Programme 3: Library and Information Services 682 155
Programme 4: Sport and Recreation 559 1 126

3 318 1 658

Confirmed balances with other government entities Annexure 5 268 -
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

22. Employee benefits

Leave entitlement 3 270 1 816
Thirteenth cheque 2 408 1 950
Capped leave commitments 3 711 3 530

9 389 7 296

23. Lease commitments

23.1 Operating leases
2007/08 Land

R’000
Buildings & 
other fixed 
structures

R’000

Machinery 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

Not later that 1 year - 2 140 837 2 977
Later that 1 year and not later that 5 
years

- 3 083 907 3 990

Later than 5 years - - 22 22
Total present value of lease liabilities - 5 223 1 766 6 989

23.2 Operating leases
2006/07 Land

R’000
Buildings & 
other fixed 
structures

R’000

Machinery 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

Not later that 1 year - 2 000 807 2 807
Later that 1 year and not later that 5 
years

- 5 224 955 6 179

Later than 5 years - - 42 42
Total present value of lease liabilities - 7 224 1 804 9 028

23.3 Finance leases
2007/08 Land

R’000
Buildings & 
other fixed 
structures

R’000

Machinery 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

Not later that 1 year - - 436 436
Later that 1 year and not later that 5 
years

- - 142 142

Total present value of lease liabilities - - 578 578

23.4 Finance leases
2006/07 Land

R’000
Buildings & 
other fixed 
structures

R’000

Machinery 
and 

equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

Not later that 1 year - - 277 277
Later  that  1 year  and not  later  that 
5years

- - 277 277

Total present value of lease liabilities - - 554 554

(i) During the 2006/07 financial year leases of a part of machinery and equipment were reported as part 
of operating leases while they were actually finance leases.  The comparative figures have now been 
restated.

(ii) Operating basis for building and other fixed structures were not correctly disclosed as at 31 March 
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2007.  The comparative figures have now been restated.
Notes 2007/08 2006/07

R’000 R’000
24. Receivables for departmental revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 12 1

25. Irregular expenditure

Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening balance 1 000 -
Add: Irregular expenditure – current year 22 892 1 000
Less: Amounts condoned
   Current expenditure (2 023) -
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement 21 869 1 000

Analysis of awaiting condonement per classification
Current expenditure 21 869 1 000

-
Analysis of awaiting condonement per age classification
Current year 21 869 1 000

21 869 1 000

Irregular expenditure

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/criminal 
proceedings

Outreach project to involve local visual 
and performing artists with the coming 
Vuka festival - the selection of the event 
management supplier to facilitate the 
artists and the Department was not 
done by means of abiding to the 
required supply chain management 
procedures.

Matter to be investigated by the 
Department's Liability Committee

- 1 000

Non-adherence to Supply Chain 
Management procedures, including the 
use of the Free State Academy of Sport 
to pay service providers

Matter to be investigated by the 
Department's Liability Committee

21 869 -

Total 21 869 1 000
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Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

26. Related party transactions

26.1 Office buildings occupied by the Department and paid by the Department of Public Works, Roads and 
Transport

Revenue received
  Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 2 346 2 260
  Total 2 346 2 260

Movement of funds between department and related party
  Creditor balances 2 380 174
  Total 2 380 174

Balances between department and related party
  Creditor balances 2 554 174
  Total 2 554 174

The related party transactions were not disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2007.  The comparative figures have now been restated.

26.2 Assistance by the Department towards operating expenses of Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development 
Corporation above the transfer payments made to the Corporation.

Revenue paid
  Sale of goods and services other than capital assets (168) -
  Total (168) -

27. Key management personnel

No. of 
Individuals

2007/08
Total

2006/07
Total

Member of the Executive Council 1 896 811
Officials - -
Level 15 to 16 1 1 042 970
Level 14 4 2 176 1 752

4 114 3 533

During the financial year 2006/07 remuneration to key management personnel was disclosed at basic salary 
level only.  The comparative figures have now been restated to disclose the full salary packages.

Notes 2007/08 2006/07
R’000 R’000

28. Provisions

Potential irrecoverable debts
Staff debtors 528 159
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29. Tangible Capital Assets

MOVEMENT IN TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008

Opening 
balance

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to prior year 

balances

Additions Disposals Closing 
Balance

Cost Cost Cost Cost Cost
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDING  AND  OTHER  FIXED 

STRUCTURES
- - 1 439 (1 439) -

Non-residential buildings - - 1 439 (1 439) -

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 8 835 298 3 564 - 12 697
Transport assets 140 - - - 140
Computer equipment 1 994 (227) 2 218 - 3 985
Furniture and office equipment 1 882 1 872 - 2 755
Other machinery and equipment 4 819 16 419 - 5 254
Heritage assets - 508 55 - 563

TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS 8 835 298 5 003 (1 439) 12 697

Note (a)
The closing balance does not balance to the Asset Register.  However, reconciliation has been done and the 
changes are in process of being effected to the Asset Register.
Note (b)
Not included in the assets are the following:
- assets used at the High Performance Centre at the Free State Sport Science Institute, amounting to 

R3.246 million, as a result of challenges to allocate ICN number for capturing in the asset register.  
Note (c)
Ownership of properties on which the entities are situated still need to be finally determined. They are the 
following:
- Basotho Cultural Village

The museum complex in which the Basotho Cultural Village is housed is valued to an amount of 
R3.294 million.  The valuation of the museum complex was done on 29 May 2001 and by KW Kahts, 
FIV(SA).  The Department of Sport, Arts and Culture contributed renovations of R4.186 million.  Title 
deed or ownership of the land where the museum complex is situated can still not be traced.

- Mmabana Arts and Culture Centre
Land and buildings represent a consolidation of proposed divisions with erven, 102, 103 and 104, 
remainder of erven 122, 396, 479, 692 and 737, situated in the town Thaba N’chu.  The land and 
buildings are in the process of being transferred from the relevant Government authorities in the Free 
State  Provincial  Government.   Land  and  buildings  is  valued  at  R6.72  million  by  the  previous 
Mmabana management, which was determined by the transfer of the assets from Mmabana Cultural 
Foundation Mmabatho to Mmabana Cultural Foundation Thaba N’chu at no consideration.
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29.1 ADDITIONS TO TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008

Cash Non-cash (Capital 
Work in 

Progress 
current 
costs)

Received 
current, 
not paid

(Paid 
current 
year, 

received 
prior year)

Total

Cost Fair Value Cost Cost Cost
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDING  AND  OTHER  FIXED 

STRUCTURES
23 661 - (22 222) - 1 439

Non-residential buildings 23 661 - (22 222) - 1 439

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 3 553 19 - - 3 564
Computer equipment 2 226 - - (8) 2 218
Furniture and office equipment 853 19 - - 872
Other machinery and equipment 419 - - - 419
Heritage assets 55 - - - 55

TOTAL 27 214 19 (22 222) (8) 5 003

29.2 DISPOSALS OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008

Sold 
(cash) cost

Non-cash 
Fair Value

Total Cost Cash 
Received 

Actual
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDING AND OTHER FIXED STRUCTURES - 1 439 1 439 -
Non-residential buildings - 1 439 1 439 -

-
TOTAL - 1 439 1 439 -
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29.3 MOVEMENT IN TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2007

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Closing 
balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDING AND OTHER FIXED STRUCTURES - 33 794 33 794 -
Non-residential buildings - 33 713 33 713 -
Heritage assets - 81 81 -

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 8 169 2 433 1 767 8 835
Transport assets 1 875 - 1 735 140
Computer equipment 1 299 695 - 1 994
Furniture and office equipment 1 337 577 32 1 882
Other machinery and equipment 3 658 1 161 - 4 819

TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS 8 169 36 227 35 561 8 835

30. Intangible Capital Assets

MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008

Opening 
balance

Current 
Year 

Adjust-
ments to 
prior year 
balances

Additions Disposals Closing 
Balance

Cost Cost Cost Cost Cost
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 255 - 16 - 271

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 255 - 16 - 271
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30.1 Intangible Capital Assets

ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008

Cash Non-Cash

(Develop-
ment work 

in 
progress – 

current 
costs)

Received 
current 

year, not 
paid
(Paid 

current 
year, 

received 
prior year) Total

Cost Fair Value Cost Cost Cost
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 16 - - - 16

TOTAL 16 - - - 16

30.2 MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2007

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Closing 
balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 255 - - 255

TOTAL 255 - - 255
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ANNEXURE 1A
STATEMENT OF CONDITIONAL GRANTS RECEIVED

NAME  OF 

DEPARTMENT

GRANT ALLOCATION SPENT 2006/07

Division of

Revenue 

Act/ 

Provincial

Grants

Roll

Overs

DORA

Adjustments

Other 

Adjustments

Total

Available

Amount

received

by

department

Amount

 spent by

department

% of 

available 

funds

spent by

department

Division

of

Revenue

Act

Amount

 spent by

department

R’000 R’000 R'000 R'000 R’000 R'000 R'000 % R’000 R’000

Division  of 

Revenue Act

Sport  and 

Recreation SA
15 206 120 - 660 15 986 15 986 15 986 100 % 9 962 9 818

National 

Department  of  Arts 

and Culture

16 470 - - - 16 470 16 470 16 251 98.7 % - -

Provincial Grants

Free  State 

Provincial Treasury
22 300 - - 1 357 23 657 23 657 23 657 100 % 24 970 24 897

TOTAL 53 976 120 - 2 017 56 113 56 113 55 894 34 932 34 715
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ANNEXURE 1F
STATEMENT OF UNCONDITIONAL GRANTS PAID TO MUNICIPALITIES

NAME  OF 

MUNICIPALITY

GRANT ALLOCATION TRANSFER SPENT 2006/07

Division

of

Revenue

Act

Roll

Overs Adjustments

Total

Available

Actual

Transfer

% of 

Available 

funds

Transferred

Amount

received

by

municipality

Amount 

spent by

municipality

% of 

available 

funds

spent by

municipality

Division

of

Revenue

Act

R’000 R’000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000 % R’000

RSCL:  Motheo 

District 

Municipality

- - - - - - - - - 44

RSCL:  Fezile 

Dabi  District 

Municipality

- - - - - - - - - 1

RSCL:  Thabo 

Mofutsanyane 

District 

Municipality

- - - - - - - - - 3

Transfers 

Mangaung 

Local 

Municipality

13 - (6) 7 7 100 % 7 7 100 % -

13 - (6) 7 7 100 % 7 7 100 % 48
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ANNEXURE 1G
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO DEPARTMENTAL AGENCIES AND ACCOUNTS

DEPARTMENTS  /  AGENCY  / 
ACCOUNT

TRANSFER ALLOCATION TRANSFER 2006/07

Adjusted
Appropriation 

Act

Roll
Overs

Adjustments Total
Available

Actual
Transfer

% of
Available 

funds
Transferred

Appropriation 
Act

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000
National Productivity Institute 500 - - 500 500 100 % -

TOTAL 500 - - 500 500 -
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ANNEXURE 1I
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS/SUBSIDIES TO PUBLIC CORPORATIONS AND PRIVATE ENTERPRISES

NAME  OF  PUBLIC
CORPORATION/PRIVATE 
ENTERPRISE

TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2006/07
Adjusted

Appropriation 
Act

Roll
Overs

Adjustments Total
Available

Actual
Transfer

% of
Available 

funds
Transferred

Capital Current Appropriation 
Act

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000 R'000 R'000
Public Corporations

Transfers
Phakisa  Major  Sport  Events 
and  Development 
Corporation

3 895 - - 3 895 3 895 100 % - 4 834 4 834

TOTAL 3 895 - - 3 895 3 895 - 4 834 4 834
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ANNEXURE 1K
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO NON-PROFIT ORGANISATIONS 

NON-PROFIT 
ORGANISATIONS

TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2006/07
Adjusted

Appropriation
Act

Roll overs Adjustments Total
Available

Actual
Transfer

% of
Available 

funds
Transferred

Appropriation
Act

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000
Transfers
PACOFS  (for  Macufe 
Festival

- - - - - 1 000

CITC - - - - - 605
Free  State  Academy  of 
Sport

2 600 - - 2 600 2 600 100 % 500

Provincial Arts and Culture 
Council

200 - - 200 200 100 % 200

Provincial  Geographical 
Names Committee

157 - - 157 157 100 % 150

Provincial  Heritage 
Resource Agency

157 - - 157 157 100 % 150

Provincial  Language 
Committee

110 - - 110 110 100 % 100

Provincial Sport Council - - - - - - 100
Free State Choral Music 113 - - 113 113 100 % -
Free  State  Youth 
Commission

- - 500 500 500 100 % -

Other organisations 86 - (86) - - - -
Free  State  Academy  of 
Sport  (on  behalf  of  the 
Local  Organizing 
Committee  of  the  SA 
Games 2007)

- - 7 000 7 000 7 000 100 % -

TOTAL 3 423 - 7 414 10 837 10 837 2 805
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ANNEXURE 1L
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO HOUSEHOLDS

HOUSEHOLDS
TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2006/07

Adjusted
Appropriation

Act

Roll
Overs

Adjustments Total
Available

Actual
Transfer

% of
Available 

funds
Transferred

Appropriation
Act

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % R'000
Transfers
Cash benefits with retirement 324 - 122 446 446 100 % 363
Bursaries (non-employee) - - 600 600 600 100 % -
Premier Youth Awards - - 10 10 10 100 % -
Bua Festival - - 20 20 20 100 % -
Support Student – Italy - - 34 34 34 100 % -
Student prizes - - 4 4 4 100 % -

TOTAL 324 - 790 1 114 1 114 363
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ANNEXURE 1M
STATEMENT OF GIFTS, DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS RECEIVED

NAME OF ORGANISATION NATURE OF GIFT, DONATION OR SPONSORSHIP
2007/08 2006/07

R’000 R’000

Received in cash

Maluti-a-Phofung Local Municipality Monetary donation for cultural event - 20

Subtotal - 20

Received in kind

Province of Antwerp Sponsorship of salaries for Departmental project 250

Celtic Football Club 55 T-shirts @ R50 3

Free State Stars Soccer Club 4 Miter leather soccer balls @ R250 1

National Brand 100 packets Potato chips @ R2-50

NB Library Service 100 books @ R112 “South Africa weird and wonderful” and 100 books @ R112 “Suid-Afrika raar 

maar waar”

22

Lapa publishers 55 book titles 9

The Mailboat 24 book titles 2

Shanfin Investments 5 sets of 6 books @ R50 each - 2

Smile Education 5 books @ R290 each - 1

Macmillan Books 81 books @ R50 each - 4

Indian Consulate 33 Gift bags @ R200 each - 7

Lectio Publishers 24 Filo faxes R70 each - 2

Handisa Media 100 books @ R80 each - 1

Handisa Media 16 T-shirts @ R60 each - 1

Lectio Publishers 18 T-shirts @ R60 each - 1

Bloem Stationary / Ithuteng 5 Glass Chess sets @ R150 each - 1

NB Library Services 50 books @ R50 each - 2

NB Library Services 100 Pencil bags @ R15 each - 2

Express store Clothing for creches - 10

Lapa Publishers Donation of books - 5

ABSA 10 Computers and 1 printer for the Fateng Tse Ntsho Library - 25

Subtotal 287 64

Total 287 84
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ANNEXURE 1N

STATEMENT OF LOCAL AND FOREIGN AID ASSISTANCE RECEIVED

NAME OF DONOR PURPOSE OPENING   CLOSING
 BALANCE REVENUE EXPENDITURE BALANCE

  R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Received in cash
Foreign
Flemish: Donor Grant Sport Science Institute 35 712 137 610
Flemish: Donor Grant Zamdela Satellite 138 - - 138
Flemish: Donor Grant Thabong Satellite 138 - - 138
Flemish: Donor Grant Music Theatre 55 - - 55
Local
National Department of Arts & 
Culture

Craft Development
160 - - 160

National Department of Arts & 
Culture

Launch of Committee on Community 
Arts Centres 20 - - 20

National Department of Arts 
and Culture

Divine Women
30 - - 30

TOTAL 576 712 137 1 151
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ANNEXURE 3A

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL GUARANTEES ISSUED AS AT 31 MARCH 2008 - LOCAL

Guarantor institution Guarantee 
in respect 
of

Original 
Guaranteed 
capital 
amount

R’000

Opening 
Balance
1 April 2007

R’000

Guaranteed 
issued 
during the 
year

R’000

Guarantees 
released / 
paid / 
cancelled / 
reducted 
during the 
year

R’000

Guaranteed 
interest 
outstanding as 
at 31 March 
2008
R’000

Closing 
Balance
31 March 
2008

R’000

Realised 
losses i.r.o. 
claims paid 
out

R’000

First Rand Bank Ltd Housing - 14 - - - 14 -
Old Mutual Bank Housing - 121 - - - 121 -
Standard Bank of SA Ltd Housing - 21 - - - 21 -
Nedbank Ltd Housing - 129 - - - 129 -
First Rand Bank (formerly 
First National Bank)

Housing - 51 - - - 51 -

ABSA Housing - 88 - - - 88 -
Free State Development 
Corporation

Housing - 58 - - - 58 -

TOTAL - 482 - - - 482 -
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ANNEXURE 3B
STATEMENT OF CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AS AT 31 MARCH 2008

Nature of Liability

 
Opening
Balance

01/04/2007
Liabilities incurred during the 

year

Liabilities 
paid/cancelled/reduced during 

the year

Liabilities 
recoverable(Provide 
details hereunder)

 
Closing
Balance

31/03/2008
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Claims against the 
department
Claim by license holder against 
Phakisa Major Sport Events 
and Development Corporation 
for the promotion of the 2004 
MotoGP (note below) 3 714 - 1 856 - 1 858
Other
SARS for tax on fringe benefits 114 - - - 114
TOTAL 3 828 - 1 856 - 1 972

Note 1:  Phakisa Major Sport Events and Development Corporation
A settlement agreement was reached between the Corporation and the license holder on the amount of $700 000, the first $200 000 payable on 21 August 
2006, the second $100 000 on 20 October 2006, the third $200 000 on 31 May 2007 and the fourth $200 000 on 31 May 2008.  Security was given by the 
Corporation for the balance of $200 000 as at 31 March 2008 up to R1 856 750.

Note 2:  Randum Chemicals CC
Randum Chemicals CC instituted a claim of R57 324 381,02 against the Free State Provincial Government.  Ten Free State Provincial Departments are 
parties to this claim.  The Free State Provincial Government has tendered an amount of R1 470 304,33 towards the capital settlement of this claim by Randum 
Chemicals CC.
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ANNEXURE 4
INTER-GOVERNMENT RECEIVABLES

Government Entity
Confirmed balance outstanding Unconfirmed balance outstanding Total

31/03/2008 31/03/2007 31/03/2008 31/03/2007 31/03/2008 31/03/2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Department
Local Government and Housing - - 2 - 2 -
Department of Agriculture - - 1 - 1 -
Department of Agriculture – North West - - 14 - 14 -
Department of Health - - - 2 - 2
Department of Education - - - 11 - 11
Department of Local Government and Housing - - - 3 - 3
Department of Water Affairs and Forestry - - - 9 - 9
TOTAL - - 17 25 17 25
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ANNEXURE 5
INTER-GOVERNMENT PAYABLES

GOVERNMENT 
ENTITY

Confirmed balance 
outstanding

Unconfirmed balance 
outstanding TOTAL

31/03/2008 31/03/2007 31/03/2008 31/03/2007 31/03/2008 31/03/2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

DEPARTMENTS
Current
Department of 
Social 
Development

- - - 7 - 7

Department of 
Education

- - - 9 - 9

Department of 
the Premier

- - 7 - 7 -

Department of 
Foreign Affairs

- - 1 246 - 1 246 -

Department of 
Public Works, 
Roads and 
Transport

- - 2 554 - 2 554 -

TOTAL - - 3 807 16 3 807 16

OTHER 
GOVERNMENT 
ENTITY
Current
Government 
Motor Transport

268 - 308 268 308

TOTAL 268 - - 308 268 308



5 Human resource management



5.1 Service Delivery

All departments are required to develop a Service Delivery Improvement (SDI) Plan. The following 
tables reflect the components of the SDI plan as well as progress made in the implementation of 
the plans.

Table 1.1 – Main services provided and standards

Main services Actual customers
Potential 

customers
Standard of 

service

Actual 
achievement 

against 
standards

2007-08
To manage library, information 
and archive services

Free State communities 
in general  (with specific 
reference to previously 
neglected communities, 
rural women) 
Local Authorities 
Free State Provincial 
Government 
All Departments
Nursing Colleges
Departmental internal 
employees
Community-based 
stakeholders and interest 
groups
Personnel in the 
Department

Free State Province 
and neighbouring 
Provinces

-provide technical support 
to 145 affiliated libraries

-provide library and 
information services to 
communities in terms of 
the Free State Provincial 
Library and Information 
Service Act, 1999 (Act 
no 5 of 1999)

-rendering of information 
technology services to 
the Department and 
promote knowledge and 
the use of science and 
technology in 
communities

⋅ Services are 
rendered 
continuously to 
162 libraries.

⋅ Two new libraries 
were opened, 
namely 
Refenkgotso and 
Selosesha

⋅ 45 libraries were 
provided with ICT 
infrastructure

⋅ 70 000 new 
publications were 
bought for 
libraries

⋅ 47 library workers 
were appointed to 
assist 
municipalities with 
additional staff at 
libraries

⋅ Provincial 
Records 
Management 
Policy were 
developed

⋅ Departments 
assisted with the 
implementation of 
RM systems

⋅ Records 
inspections 
conducted as per 
APP

To manage arts and culture 
affairs in the Province

Free State communities 
in general  (with specific 
reference to previously 
neglected communities, 
rural women)
Local Authorities
Free State Provincial 
Government
All Departments
Nursing Colleges
Departmental internal 
employees
Community-based 
stakeholders and interest 
groups
Personnel in the 
Department

Free State Province 
and neighbouring 
Provinces

-promote and coordinate 
performing art service

-promote and coordinate 
visual and creative art 
services

-render museum and 
heritage services

-administer declared 
cultural institutions

-render language 
development services

Currently busy with 
implementation phase

To promote sport and recreation 
development

Free State communities 
in general  (with specific 
reference to previously 
neglected communities, 
rural women)
Local Authorities
Free State Provincial 
Government
All Departments
Nursing Colleges
Departmental internal 
employees
Community-based 
stakeholders and interest 

Free State Province 
and neighbouring 
Provinces

-render community Sport 
and Recreation 
development services in 
terms of the approved 
White Paper on Sport 
and Recreation

-do research on the 
needs in communities for 
sport development

-marketing of sport 
development 
programmes

-rendering of sport and 
recreation development 

Conditional Grant 
Business Plans 
successfully 
implemented.



groups
Personnel in the 
Department
Schools

services in communities
-provide equipment for 
sport and recreation 
development

-administer the Phakisa 
Major Sport Events and 
Development 
Corporation Act, 1997 
(Act No 4 of 1997)



Main services Actual customers
Potential 

customers
Standard of 

service

Actual 
achievement 

against 
standards

2007-08
To render administrative support 
services

Personnel in the 
Department
Other departments

Free State Province -render a human resource 
management service

-render financial and 
procurement service

-render a labour relations 
service

-render a skills 
development service

-render administrative 
service

Administrative support 
services rendered to 
the line functions on a 
daily basis.

Table 1.2 – Consultation arrangements with customers

Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers
Actual 
achievements

Arts and Culture (Community Arts Centres) -
1.  SA Flemish Project and the National 

Youth Commission signed a MoU to run a 
3 year development programme for the 
youth.  Participants and beneficiaries will 
come from Thaba Nchu, Botshabelo, 
Thabong  and Zamdela.

2.  Consultations going on with Correctional 
Services to upgrade and renovate the 
centres for better service delivery.

3. Mmabana and Zamdela running a 
community based healthy living 
programme which provides exercise 
programmes for the youth and senior 
citizens

4. A cultural exchange programme with the 
University  of  Venda  was  launched.  The 
Centre  paid  a  visit  in  order  to  facilitate 
workshops  for  the  Centre’s  music 
students as well  as University of Venda 
students. 

Customers  are  also  requested  to  fill  in 
Customer Care Registers.   

Visual and Performing Arts: 
Meetings  with  community  stakeholders  to 
establish arts and culture forums

Assist  Performing  and  Visual  artists  and 
crafters  to  access  Investing  in  Culture 
funding

The  introduction  of  Tsa  Setso  Craft 
Development  Programme  to  enhance 
capacity and skill in the craft SMME sector 
through:

- research
- formalization
- access to markets

Assist  Performing  and  Visual  artists  and 
crafters to access One of a Kind funding

Assisted  Department  of  Water  Affairs  and 
Forestry with the implementation of Baswa 
le Meetsi competitions in schools

Needs  analysis  carried  out  and  skills 
training workshops presented for performing 
and visual artists and crafters

Youth 
Community 
Business sector 
Government 
Flemish government 
University of Venda 
Municipalities 
Correctional services (prisons)
Schools.

Community, Youth, 
Government.

Youth,  Community,  Senior 
Citizens.

Community and school groups 

Visits to craft, art and 
performing projects, 
assistance with completing the 
forms, sending the forms to 
Department of Arts and 
Culture

Act as implementation agency 
for  Department  of  Arts  and 
Culture

Entry forms was distributed to 
schools  and  district  and 
provincial  competitions  were 
held for participating schools

Pacofs  and  other  cultural 
centres.
Sasolburg  &  Kroonstad 
Prisons
Universities  &  other  Further 
Education  and  Training 
institutions

All towns in the 5 districts

All towns in the 5 districts

All  schools  in  the  5  districts- 
schools  have  choice  to 
participate in the project or not

Cultural  exchange 
programme  with  the 
University  of  Venda 
(Mmabana Music Unit)

Basic  dressmaking  course 
offered  to  the  Groenpunt 
Prison  inmates  by  the 
Zamdela Arts Centre.

No forum established due to 
financial constraints

Meetings  held,  25 
participants nominated.

20 applications were sent to 
Department of Arts and 
Culture and received 
funding and were monitored 
by the division

Aapplications were sent to 
Department of Trade and 
Industry -  received funding 
and were monitored by the 
division

5 district competitions and 1 
Provincial competition were 
organized. 3 Schools from 
each district went to the 
Provincial competition and 
the Provincial winner went 
to the National competition 
MoU  was  drawn  up  for 
signature in 2007
Workshops for visual arts & 
crafts



Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual 
achievements

Craft market at MACUFE

⋅ Visits  to  artists  and  crafters  to 
determine  needs,  organized 
workshops

⋅ Invite crafters to display at market, 
organize venue, stands, etc for market 
in collaboration with PACOFS

- Craft SMMEs
- Marketing Companies
- Government

All  known  artists  and crafters 
in 5 districts

Crafters in good standing with 
good quality products

5 workshops for performing 
artists

Crafters displayed and sold 
crafts at market

Museum and Heritage Resource Services
Oral  history  seminars  at  Basotho  Cultural 
Village

Preservation and promotion of heritage sites 

Requests  for  information  about  themes  or 
artifacts in museums from the community

Lead  division  in  organization of  National 
Heritage Day

Meetings  and  interviews  held  with 
stakeholders in communities to record oral 
history

Sesotho Literature Museum

Afrikaans Literary Museum (NALN)

Tribal authority and the 
community

Community  living  in  areas 
surrounding museums
Communities in  district  where 
event is held

Communities  living  in  areas 
surrounding museums

Communities  of  Memel, 
Jagersfontein  and  Van 
Stadensrus

Sesotho authors
Writers associations
University students
Sesotho speaking community

School learners, teachers, 
students, lecturers, members 
of reading circles, readers, 
publishers, academics, 
researchers on different 
levels, the general public 
visiting the museum

Scholars and tourists 

School groups and tourists

All Free State communities

Communities in District where 
event is held

Communities  living  in  areas 
surrounding museums

All towns in the 5 districts

Sesotho  reading  public, 
schools,  grade  12  Sesotho 
learners

More Free State Afrikaans-
speaking communities 
Specific school target groups

One  Oral  History  seminar 
was  presented  with 
members  of  Rea  Hetla 
Association and Mokhahla A 
Thesele

42  Heritage  sites  were 
identified  and  will  be 
documented  on  the 
database.  This  was  a  joint 
project  between  South 
African Heritage Resources 
Authority,  Provincial 
Heritage Resources Agency 
and Basotho Cultural Village 
through  consultative 
meetings  with  Bakwena, 
Batlokwa  and  Makgolokwe 
tribal  councils  in  Qwaqwa. 
Grading  of  these  sites  will 
be  based  on  information 
gathered that will determine 
the status of each site

2500 attended event in Van 
Stadensrus

11  museums  serving  5 
districts

Forums  in  3  towns  were 
established  in  terms  of 
constitutions  drawn  up; 
bank  accounts  opened. 
Department  must  still 
transfer  R10  000.00  seed 
funds to each forum

Provincial literature 
exhibition
Celebration of outstanding 
Sesotho writers
Exhibition of books and 
literary material donated by 
distinguished Sesotho 
authors
Assistance to Moaba 
Sesotho Writers Association

⋅ *Handled ±1,660 
literary and other 
enquiries

⋅ Contributed to >45 
community-directed 
literary / literature-
related projects, 
including 

⋅ 25 literary talks and 
book discussions

⋅ a workshop for 
previously 
disadvantaged youth, 
launched at 4 
Heidedal schools

⋅ ±10 presentations in 
multi-disciplinary co-
project for youth (from 
disadvantaged 
community) in conflict 
with the law



⋅ dealing with women 
living with HIV



Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual 
achievements
⋅ 1 Liasa’s “Indigenous 

Writers’ Forum”
⋅ a country-wide 

competition for 
unpublished writers

⋅ a workshop for young 
and prospective 
writers

⋅ Outreach projects and 
collaboration in 
community-directed 
projects are 
undertaken to assist in 
reaching different 
communities

Language Services:
Translation and Interpreting

Language Policy Development

All  Free  State  Provincial 
Government Departments

All  Free  State  Provincial 
Government Departments
All Free State municipalities
PanSALB structures
Language  stakeholders  at 
tertiary institutions

Freelance  translators;  Free 
State public from all language 
communities accessing written 
government  information

All  Free  State  Provincial 
Government departments
All Free State municipalities
PanSALB structures
Language  stakeholders  in 
tertiary institutions
Interdepartmental 
Communication  Forum

679  official  documents 
ranging from Acts and bulky 
reports/manuals  to  letters, 
posters,  brochures, 
submissions  &  newspaper 
articles  were  translated  / 
edited  in  English,  Sesotho 
and  Afrikaans.  Hired 
interpreters  for  Sesotho, 
Afrikaans,  Isixhosa  &  Sign 
Language  were  used  at 
Language Policy Session in 
June 2007. 

On  20  June  2007  a 
workshop  of  the  Language 
Policy  Working  Committee 
was  held,  dealing  with 
inputs  from  the  public  and 
implementation  aspects 
presented  by  relevant  role 
players  in  the  Free  State 
Provincial  Government. 
Good  press  coverage 
followed.  A final draft of the 
policy  as  well  as  a 
preliminary  costed 
implementation  plan  were 
submitted at the end of the 
Multilingual  Informatics  and 
Development Project (MIDP 
III)  in December 2007. The 
new MEC referred the policy 
to  a  linguist  for  review  in 
September.

Library and Archive Services:
Community meetings
User needs surveys
Annual user satisfaction survey
Suggestion boxes and books

Total community;
Adults
Pre-school children
School learners
Tertiary students
Literacy learners
Community-based 
organizations, etc

Community  meetings: 26
User  needs  survey: 
Conducted  in  20  towns;  5 
reports completed
Annual  user  satisfaction 
survey:  Conducted  In 
February.  Busy  processing 
data
Suggestion  boxes/books:  1 
in every library

Community Sport:
Community meetings
Information sessions
Mass participation

Federations,
Department of Education,
Sport Councils,
Municipalities,
Free State Academy of Sport,
British Government,
SASCOC

Lovelife MoU between departments 
& Lovelife 
3 meetings,
20 meetings,
4 meetings
1 exchange programme,
4 meetings

Free State Sport Science Institute:
Workshops, training sessions

Sport Federations
Schools
Department of Education
SANDF
Free State Academy of Sport
Flemish Government

All  covered  with  actual 
customers

2 MANCO-meetings
1 Information Session
4 Stakeholders Meetings
1 International meeting 
(Bloemfontein)



Table 1.3 – Service delivery access strategy

Access Strategy Actual achievements
Arts and Culture:
Outreach programmes to assist the Centres in reaching impoverished 
Communities 

Assist Free State productions to attend and perform at National Festival.

Engaging in joint venture project to expose artists.

Visits to artists & crafters, needs analysis, present skills training to address 
needs

Open door policy at offices

Appointment of 5 cultural facilitators to increase access to services and 
opening of district offices

Access to mass participation in visual and performing arts

Access to mass participation in craft

Mmabana Music Unit: Schools in Thaba-Nchu & Botshabelo
The Thabong Arts Centre Dance Unit is holding classes in 
three schools In the Thabong and Welkom area.
Zamdela Centre ran a sewing training programme in basic 
dressmaking for the inmates in the Groenpunt Prison. 
The Community Upliftment Programme entered its second 
year with 18 young people receiving training in sewing and 
design, art and music.

Workshops conducted for visual arts
5 workshops conducted for performing arts

On average 6 artists & crafters visit offices or communicate 
with division regarding information, project proposals, funding 
requests, product development, etc
Improved accessibility to information in 5 districts through the 
appointment of the officials
Directly created 42 job opportunities for visual and performing 
artists who displayed their skills at Macufe, Vuka, Basha, Bua 
festivals, Freedom and Heritage Day celebrations, Baswa le 
Meetsi competitions

Museum and Heritage Resource Services
Preservation and promotion of cultural heritage through a cultural tourist 
destination. 

Coordination of arts and crafts at the Basotho Cultural Village.  

Coordination of cultural performances 

Traditional venue and catering 

Skills development

At least 36777 tourists including school groups experienced 
cultural heritage presented at the Basotho Cultural Village 
through village tours, herbal trail and cultural route. 
Works of arts and crafts are sold to tourists visiting the village 
and at arts and crafts exhibitions presented nationwide. At 
least 80 artists and crafters benefit from this initiative.  
A group of 15 women and 20 youth perform for tourists at the 
Basotho Cultural Village and at corporate functions organized 
by private and public sectors. 
20 227 people were catered for at Basotho Cultural Village 
during wedding ceremonies and corporate functions. 
5 students  from institutions of higher learning attended their 
experiential training at Basotho Cultural Village

Open door policy to all people interested in museums, themes, artifacts and 
heritage at 11 museums

Afrikaans Literary Museum (NALN)

1300 enquiries and  at least 15 000 scholars visited  at 
Provincial Museum Services

Afrikaans Literary Museum & Sesotho Literary Museum under 
construction- no displays currently
Access to the literary information service, which owing to its 
uniqueness is rendered on a country-wide scale, is accessible 
and free of charge, with equitable tariffs for copies and faxes.
Access to the exhibition areas was limited because most of the 
exhibitions had to be closed to the public due to the renovation 
of the building.
Utilisations of the Museum’s public amenities as venues by 
external organisations were temporarily suspended due to 
risks of accidents while renovation work was in progress. 

Access for all Free State Provincial Government departments to the translation 
service

Involvement of stakeholders and the public in developing a language policy

All officials have access to the translation service by e-mail, 
personal visits and telephone.

The Free State public were given access  to the 2nd Draft of the 
Free State Provincial Government Language Policy for a two 
month period to enable them to comment on it  at 161 libraries 
across the province and in the Official Gazette.  The policy 
was made available in Sesotho, Afrikaans, English and 
IsiXhosa
The Language Policy Working Committee had representatives 
of the 11 Free State Provincial Government departments, the 
25 municipalities and other language stakeholders. The draft 
policy was circulated by e-mail in all departments and was 
published on the intranet for access by Free State Provincial 
Government  officials



Access Strategy Actual achievements
Library and Archive Services:
Provide library services which are accessible, equitable and free of charge
Standards for accessibility in respect of: Number of libraries per capita
Library opening hours
Number of computers providing online public access to information per capita

161 libraries in province (2 new libraries opened in 2006-07)
Approximately 80% of libraries open 40 hours per week
20  libraries  with  Online  Public  Access  to  information  per 
capita.

Free State Sport Science Institute   (FSSSI):   
To provide equitable access to sport and exercise science services as well as 
coaching support to the sporting community of the Free State

Sport Science and Coaching Support
1450  Athletes were assisted with Sport Science Services and 
exercise rehabilitation with the following breakdown:

− 2362 grade 8 learners were tested as part of Talent 

Identification Programme. The demographical data is 
captured on data base.  The top 10 learners per school 
will be identified during July and allocated to District 
Satellites for more advanced assistance and training.

− 1450 interventions were done on athletes who made use 

of the FSSSI.

− 229 coaches received training in Generic Sport Science 

for coaches.
National colour individuals conditioned at the FSSSI:
- Adele Niemand (SA Netball)
- Maryka Holtzhausen (SA Netball)
- Elzette Engelbrecht (SA Netball)
- Lourens van der Merwe (SA referee)
− Leanke Steyn (SA under 17 junior champion)
− CJ van der Linde (SA Rugby)
− Juan Smith (SA Rugby)

− Robbert Ebertson (SA Rugby Sevens)

− Johhny Olifant, one of the boxers allocated to the FSSSI 

won the Free State boxing tournament.
Sport Science courses presented:

- SANDF Physical Trainer Instructor Course

- Assistance with SARU Course

- Athletics Free State Coaching Association Course in 
Sasolburg 270 coaches trained.

The following teams were assisted with Sport Science 
Services:
− 2 teams participating in the Premier Soccer League
− 1 team participating in the Mvela Golden League
− Bloemfontein Celtic
− African Warriors Football Club
− Cheetah Netball

− Cheetah Rugby U19 & U21

− Bloemfontein Celtic, African Warriors Football Club, Real 

Madrid [Botshabelo]
− Cheetah U/21, Vodacom and Super 14 rugby teams

− Jim Fouche hockey, netball, rugby

− Mangaung Rugby club

− CUT Netball 

− Eagle Development Netball Team

− Vodacom Amateur Rugby
− U19 FS Rugby Academy
− U18 Elite Rugby 
− Shimlas Rugby

− FS Rope Skipping

99 % of the new Exercise Rehabilitation Facility is completed.
Two District Satellites are in the process to be established in 
Thabo Mofutsanyane and Fezeli Dabi districts.
Two professional boxers are appointed and are currently busy 
with scientific training regimes at the FSSSI.
11 students are busy to complete their learnerships at FSSSI 
(collaboration between SARU, Free State rugby, Technical 
High School Bloemfontein and FSSSI)

Access Strategy Actual achievements



Recreation:
To  provide  equitable  access  to  Siyadlala 
Mass  Participation,  School  Sport  MPP  and 
Club  Development  support  to  the  sporting 
community of the Free State.

Women in sport

• A fun run was held in Trompsburg on the 11 August 2007 and 300 participants were 

involved.

• A  chess  tournament was  held  in  Bloemfontein  on  4  August  2007  and  250  players 

participated in the Women’s Month programme of activities. 

• Rural Girls Games were held on 9 June 2007 in Theunissen and 500 girls participated.

Indigenous Games
• Two training camps were held for team preparation as follows:

− Bloemfontein on 10 – 12 August.
− Gariep Dam on 27 – 29 August 2007 and 101 participants were involved.

• A send-off function was held at Gariep Dam, where provincial colours were awarded for 

the 2007 National Indigenous Games Festival. 

• All 5 districts took part in the selection of the Provincial Indigenous Team on 23 June 

2007 in Qwaqwa in preparation for the National Indigenous Games to be held in Eastern 
Cape in September.

SA Games

• Federations held training camps on different dates according to code specifics during the 

months of August and September 2007.

• A  provincial  Team  Free  State  camp  was  held  from  21  –  23  September  2007  in 

Bloemfontein.

• A send-off function for Team Free State was held in Mangaung on 22 September 2007 on 

which occasion provincial colours were awarded to Team Free State prior to its campaign 
in the 2007 Games hosted by the province.

• The provincial  slogan “Province with  a PASSION for the GAME” was launched on 22 

September 2007 by the MEC as part of Team Free State send-off function.
Capacity   building  
• An International Olympic Committee course in Sport Administration was held in Thaba 

Nchu on 20 – 24 August and 28 officials participated.
• 98 people were trained on 2-6 July 2007 in Life skills for Siyadlala Mass Participation 

Programme.

• On 20-24 August 2007, a total of 118 people were trained in administration for specific 

Codes within school sport.
• 39 officials were re-assessed/ trained in Kroonstad for club development.

• 54 administrators were trained in coaching in specific codes for school sport.

• Capacity Building Course in Life Skills on 4 – 8 June 2007, targeting 50 sport assistants 

and 5 cluster coordinators.
• Basic Facility Management (District) Course:

- 7 – 9 January 2008 Harrismith = 54 participants
- 10 – 12 January 2008 Parys = 52 participants
- 14 -16 February 2008 Welkom = 56 participants
- 19 – 21 February 2008 Wepener = 48 participants.

• Advance Facility Management (Provincial) Course:
- 9 – 15 March 2008 Kroonstad = 40 participants.

National e  vents  
• Free State hosted the National Basketball  Championships in Mangaung Indoor Centre 

from 17 – 19 September 2007. 

• Team Free State participated in Indigenous Games with 101 participants – East London, 

30 August  –  3  September and obtained position  seven which  is  an improvement  on 
position nine in 2006.

• Team Free State participated in the SA Games with 520 participants in Mangaung from 

23 – 29 September 2007, and obtained overall position five, with a total number of 50 
medals comprising 21 gold, 11 silver, and 18 bronze medals. This feat ensured that the 
province retained the position it obtained in the 2005 SA Games.

• Boxing Tournament for SA Feather Weight Title was held to promote sport tourism in the 
Province on 22 June 2007.

• 2007 Baby Champs Finals were held in Thabong – Welkom on 11 January 2008.

• 2007 SABC Boxing Awards were hosted by Free State Province on 15 February 2008 and 

the Boxing convention on 16 February 2008.





Table 1.4 – Service information tool

Types of information tool Actual achievements
Cultural Affairs:
E-mail, intranet, publications, presentations, telephone, personal visits

Language Services:
Promotion and consultation on the Language Policy throughout the province

Basotho Cultural Village:
Publications, exhibitions,  telephone and personal visits, visitors book

Literary Museum Division:
Publications, exhibitions, e-mail, telephone and personal visits

Telephonic language advice service provided for Free State 
Provincial  Government  officials.  Requests  are  received  and 
translations  are  sent  to  customers  via  e-mail  and  personal 
visits to the translation unit
700  copies  of  the  gazetted  draft  language  policy  in  four 
languages were distributed to 161 libraries for public comment 
in 2007/08.
Papers delivered at the Language Policy Working Committee.
1000 Copies of Sesotho calendar distributed. 
1000 Copies of brochures of services rendered at the Basotho 
Cultural Village distributed in 2007/08.
4  Advertisements  presented  on  local  radio  station.  4 
Advertisements published in national magazines. 
16  Exhibitions  presented.  Visitors  gave  feedback  on  their 
experiences and reception in the visitors’ book.
Session  in  June  2007  dealt  with  public  feedback  on  the 
language policy and implementation aspects were published 
on the Intranet.
Departmental customer care and service delivery plan.
Regular  contact  on  a  daily  basis  with  a  large  spectrum  of 
stakeholders  (donors,  researchers,  authors,  learners  and 
students,  academics,  museum  visitors,  educational  groups, 
etc.) by way of personal visits, telephone, facsimile, ordinary 
mail, e-mail and SMS.  Ongoing process from day-to-day.
Word of mouth.

Library and Archive Services:
Customer care and service delivery plan in every library
Government information service – library
Tender Bulletin - libraries

Available
Established in 9 libraries in 2006-07. Available in 24 libraries
Distributed to all libraries

Sport and Recreation
Banners, teardrops, circulars via all stakeholders e.g. schools, hubs etc.

Free State Sport Science Institute Website work in progress, just waiting for fund shifting

Table 1.5 – Complaints mechanism

Complaints Mechanism Actual achievements
A specific person has been identified in each directorate as a contact person to 
handle the complaints/compliments and to record them in a 
complaint/compliment register. This is send to the co-ordinator for a report on 
all complaints/compliments. (This was implemented in March 2003)

A feedback report is done for the HOD/MEC every 3 months 

5.2 Expenditure

Table 2.1 – Personnel costs by programme, 2007/08

Programme
Total 

expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
expenditure

(R’000)

Professional 
and Special 

Services 
(R’000)

Personnel 
cost as a 

percent of 
total 

expenditure

Average 
personnel 
cost per 

employee 
(R’000)

Programme 1 26 359 19 209 305 94 72.9 % 213
Programme 2 52 095 28 320 117 1 552 54.4 % 123
Programme 3 50 103 17 220 141 23 34.4 % 107
Programme 4 58 653 11 815 310 4 794 20.2 % 53
Total 187 210 76 564 873 6 463 40.9 % 109

Table 2.2 – Personnel costs by salary bands, 2007/08

Salary bands
Personnel Expenditure 

(R’000)
% of total personnel cost

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 6 188 8.1 % 66
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 13 071 17.1 % 80
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 26 248 34.3 % 171
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 
9-12) 18 434 24.1 % 302
Senior management (Levels 13-16) 7 360 9.6 % 613
Contract (Levels 1-2) 608 0.8 % 4
Contract (Levels 3-5) 3 168 4.1 % 56
Contract (Levels 6-8) 616 0.8% 88
Contract (Levels 9-12) 871 1.1 % 290
Total 76 564 100 % 109



Table 2.3 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by programme, 2007/08

Programme Salaries Overtime
Home Owners 

Allowance
Medical Assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

HOA as a 
% of 

personnel 
cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
Assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost
Programme 1 13 156 68.5 % 19 0.1 % 397 2.1 % 832 4.3 %
Programme 2 20 686 73.1 % 7 - 948 3.4 % 1 699 6 %
Programme 3 12 797 74.3 % 23 0.1 % 442 2.6 % 900 5.2 %
Programme 4 9 153 77.5 % 5 - 154 1.3 % 356 3 %
Total 55 792 72.9 % 54 0.1 % 1 941 2.5 % 3 787 5 %

Table 2.4 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by salary bands, 2007/08

Salary Bands Salaries Overtime
Home Owners 

Allowance
Medical Assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

HOA as a 
% of 

personnel 
cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
Assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost
Lower skilled (Levels 
1-2) 4 357 70.4 % 5 0.1 % 385 6.2 % 464 7.5 %
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 9 246 70.7 % 3 - 561 4.3 % 1 318 8.5 %
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 19 939 76 % 29 0.1 % 574 2.1 % 1 105 5 %
Highly skilled 
supervision (Levels 
9-12) 13 554 73.5 % 17 0.1 % 261 1.4 % 680 3.7 %
Senior management 
(Levels 13-16) 4 358 59.2 % 0 - 98 1.3 % 131 1.8 %
Contract (Levels 1-2) 556 91.5 % 0 - 10 1.7 % 10 1.7 %
Contract (Levels 3-5) 2 646 83.5 % 0 - 32 1 % 55 1.7 %
Contract (Levels 6-8) 499 81 % 0 - 3 0.5 % 5 0.8 %
Contract (Levels 9-12) 636 73 % 0 - 17 2 % 19 2.2 %
Total 55 791 72.9 % 54 0.1 % 1 941 2.5 % 3 787 5 %

5.3 Employment and vacancies

Table 3.1 – Employment and vacancies by programme, 31 March 2008

Programme
Number of 

posts
Number of 
posts filled

Vacancy 
Rate

Number of posts 
filled additional 

to the 
establishment

Programme 1 185 90 51.4 % 3
Programme 2 538 230 57.3 % 0
Programme 3 389 160 58.9 % 58
Programme 4 336 222 34 % 163
Total 1 448 702 51.5 % 224

Table 3.2 – Employment and vacancies by salary bands, 31 March 2008

Salary band
Number of 

posts
Number of 
posts filled

Vacancy 
Rate

Number of posts 
filled additional 

to the 
establishment

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2), Permanent 221 94 57.5 % 0
Skilled (Levels 3-5), Permanent 467 163 65.1 % 1
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8), Permanent 418 139 66.8 % 1
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12), 
Permanent 95 61 35.8 % 0
Senior management (Levels 13-16), Permanent 13 11 15.4 % 1
Contract (Levels 1-2) 167 167 - 164
Contract (Levels 3-5) 57 57 - 53
Contract (Levels 6-8) 7 7 - 4
Contract (Levels 9-12) 3 3 - 0
Total 1 448 702 51.5 % 224



Table 3.3 – Employment and vacancies by critical occupation, 31 March 2008

Critical occupations
Number of 

posts
Number of 
posts filled

Vacancy 
rate

Number of posts 
filled additional 

to the 
establishment

Administrative related, Permanent 54 27 50 % 0
All artisans in the building metal machinery etc., 
Permanent 1 1 - 0
Archivists curators and related professionals, 
Permanent 68 24 64.7 % 0
Auxiliary and related workers, Permanent 20 13 35 % 0
Building and other property caretakers, Permanent 66 40 39.3 % 0
Cleaners in offices, workshops, hospitals etc., 
Permanent 45 21 53.3 % 0
Client inform clerks(switchboard, reception 
information clerks), Permanent 10 8 20 % 0
Communication and information related, 
Permanent 12 9 25 % 0
Community development workers, Permanent 153 36 76.5 % 0
Computer programmers., Permanent 6 2 66.7 % 0
Dieticians and nutritionists, Permanent 2 1 50 % 0
Finance and economics related, Permanent 3 3 - 0
Financial and related professionals, Permanent 7 6 14.3 % 0
Financial clerks and credit controllers, Permanent 24 11 54.2 % 0
Food services aids and waiters, Permanent 16 12 25 % 0
Head of department/chief executive officer, 
Permanent 4 4 - 1
Historians and political scientists, Permanent 6 1 83.3 % 0
Human resources & organisational development & 
related professionals, Permanent 12 5 58.3 % 0
Human resources clerks, Permanent 12 6 50 % 0
Human resources related, Permanent 5 5 - 0
Information technology related, Permanent 1 1 - 0
Language practitioners interpreters & other 
communication, Permanent 35 10 71.4 % 0
Librarians and related professionals, Permanent 115 43 62.6 % 10
Library mail and related clerks, Permanent 25 13 48 % 0
Light vehicle drivers, Permanent 7 5 28.6 % 0
Material-recording and transport clerks, Permanent 27 15 44.4 % 3
Medical technicians/technologists, Permanent 18 5 72.2 % 0
Messengers, porters and deliverers, Permanent 13 5 61.5 % 0
Motor vehicle drivers, Permanent 1 0 100 % 0
Other administrative & related clerks and 
organisers, Permanent 323 141 56.3 % 46
Other administrative & related clerks and 
organisers, Temporary 1 1 - 0
Other administrative policy and related officers, 
Permanent 18 5 72.2 % 0
Other information technology personnel., 
Permanent 16 6 62.5 % 3
Other occupations, Permanent 246 189 23.2 % 159
Quantity surveyors & related professionals not 
classed elsewhere, Permanent 4 1 75 % 0
Risk management and security services, 
Permanent 1 1 - 0
Secretaries & other keyboard operating clerks, 
Permanent 16 14 12.5 % 2
Security guards, Permanent 14 1 92.9 % 0
Security officers, Permanent 28 2 92.9 % 0
Senior managers, Permanent 8 6 25 % 0
Social sciences related, Permanent 1 1 - 0
Social sciences supplementary workers, 
Permanent 4 2 50 % 0
Total 1 448 702 51.5 % 224



5.4 Job evaluation
Table 4.1 – Job Evaluation, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Salary band
Number 
of posts

Number of 
Jobs 

Evaluated

% of posts 
evaluated 
by salary 

bands

Posts Upgraded Posts downgraded

Number
% of 
posts 

evaluated
Number

% of posts 
evaluated

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 221 0 - 0 - 0 -
Contract (Levels 1-2) 167 0 - 0 - 0 -
Contract (Levels 3-5) 57 0 - 0 - 0 -
Contract (Levels 6-8) 7 0 - 0 - 0 -
Contract (Levels 9-12) 3 0 - 0 - 0 -
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 467 65 13.9 % 3 4.6 % 1 1.5 %
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 418 19 4.5 % 11 57.9 % 1 5.3 %
Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 95 15 15.8 % 2 13.3 % 2 13.3 %
Senior Management 
Service Band A 13 0 - 0 - 0 -
Total 1 448 99 6.8 % 16 16.2 % 4 4 %

Table 4.2 – Profile of employees whose salary positions were upgraded due to their posts being upgraded, 1 April 
2007 to 31 March 2008

Beneficiaries African Asian Coloured White Total

Female 5 - - 3 8
Male 10 - 1 - 11
Total 15 - 1 3 19
Employees with a disability -

Table 4.3 – Employees whose salary level exceeded the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 2007 to 31 
March 2008 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Occupation
Number of 
employees

Job evaluation 
level

Remuneration 
level

Reason for 
deviation

Medical technicians/technologists, 
Permanent

1 10+ 11 MEC overrule

Total number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the level determined by job evaluation in 2007/08 1
Percentage of total employment 0.1 %

Table 4.4 – Profile of employees whose salary level exceeded the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 2007 
to 31 March 2008

Beneficiaries African Asian Coloured White Total
Female - - - - -
Male 1 - - - 1
Total 1 - - - 1
Employees with a disability -

Total Number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the grades determined by job evaluation in 2007/ 08 1

5.5 Employment changes
Table 5.1 – Annual turnover rates by salary band for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Salary Band

Number of 
employees per 
band as on 1 

April 2007

Appointments 
and transfers 

into the 
department

Terminations 
and transfers 

out of the 
department

Turnover 
rate

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2), Permanent 103 9 5 4.9 %
Skilled (Levels 3-5), Permanent 142 4 5 3.5 %
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8), Permanent 156 3 17 10.8 %
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8), Temporary 1 0 0 -
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12), Permanent 68 2 5 7.4 %
Senior Management Service Band A, Permanent 7 1 1 14.3 %
Senior Management Service Band B, Permanent 3 0 0 -
Senior Management Service Band D, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Contract (Levels 1-2), Permanent 13 176 77 592.3 %
Contract (Levels 3-5), Permanent 10 114 11 110 %
Contract (Levels 6-8), Permanent 2 6 1 50 %
Contract (Levels 9-12), Permanent 2 2 1 50 %
Total 508 317 123 24.2 %



Table 5.2 – Annual turnover rates by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Occupation: Number of 

employees 
per 

occupation 
as on 1 

April 2007

Appointments 
and transfers 

into the 
department

Terminations 
and transfers 

out of the 
department

Turnover 
rate

Administrative related, Permanent 23 4 2 8.7 %
Archivists, curators and related professionals, Permanent 19 1 3 15.8 %
Auxiliary and related workers, Permanent 14 0 1 7.1 %
Building and other property caretakers, Permanent 31 2 2 6.5 %
Cleaners in offices, workshops, hospitals etc., Permanent 20 2 1 5 %
Client inform clerks (switchboard, reception, information 
clerks), Permanent 2 1 0 -
Communication and information related, Permanent 11 0 2 18.2 %
Community development workers, Permanent 33 5 12 36.4 %
Computer programmers., Permanent 2 0 0 -
Dieticians and nutritionists, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Finance and economics related, Permanent 2 0 0 -
Financial and related professionals, Permanent 7 0 0 -
Financial clerks and credit controllers, Permanent 11 0 0 -
Food services aids and waiters, Permanent 9 2 0 -
Head of department/chief executive officer, Permanent 2 0 0 -
Historians and political scientists, Permanent 1 0 2 200 %
Human resources & organisational development & related 
professionals, Permanent 5 0 0 -
Human resources clerks, Permanent 14 0 0 -
Information technology related, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Language practitioners, interpreters & other 
communication, Permanent 6 0 2 33.3 %
Librarians and related professionals, Permanent 37 10 4 10.8 %
Library mail and related clerks, Permanent 16 1 1 6.3 %
Light vehicle drivers, Permanent 1 1 1 100 %
Material-recording and transport clerks, Permanent 12 1 2 16.7 %
Medical technicians/technologists, Permanent 3 0 0 -
Messengers, porters and deliverers, Permanent 5 2 1 20 %
Motor vehicle drivers, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Other administrative & related clerks and organisers, 
Permanent 92 42 4 4.3 %
Other administrative & related clerks and organisers, 
Temporary 1 0 0 -
Other administrative policy and related officers, 
Permanent 8 0 2 25 %
Other information technology personnel., Permanent 3 3 0 -
Other occupations, Permanent 89 231 73 82 %
Risk management and security services, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Secretaries & other keyboard operating clerks, 
Permanent 13 8 7 53.8 %
Security officers, Permanent 1 1 0 -
Senior managers, Permanent 6 0 1 16.7 %
Social sciences related, Permanent 1 0 0 -
Social sciences supplementary workers, Permanent 2 0 0 -
Work planners, Permanent 2 0 0 -
Total 508 317 123 24.2 %

Table 5.3 – Reasons why staff are leaving the department
Termination Type Number % of total
Death 4 3.3 %
Resignation 41 33.3 %
Expiry of contract 67 54.5 %
Dismissal – operational changes - -
Dismissal – misconduct 3 2.4 %
Dismissal – inefficiency - -
Discharged due to ill-health -
Retirement 8 6.5 %
Transfers to other Public Service Departments - -
Other - -
Total 123 100 % 
Total number of employees who left as a % of the total employment 24.2 %



Table 5.4 – Promotions by critical occupation

Occupation
Employees 

as at 1 
April 2007

Promotions 
to another 
salary level

Salary level 
promotions 

as a % of 
employees 

by 
occupation

Progressions 
to another 

notch within a 
salary level

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees 

by 
occupation

Administrative related 23 5 21.7 % 7 30.4 %
All artisans in building, metal, 
machinery etc. 0 0 - 1 -
Archivists, curators and related 
professionals 19 0 - 9 47.4 %
Auxiliary and related workers 14 0 - 12 85.7 %
Building and other property caretakers 31 0 - 7 22.6 %
Cleaners in offices, workshops, 
hospitals etc. 20 0 - 9 45 %
Client inform clerks (switchboard, 
reception, information clerks) 2 0 - 1 50 %
Communication and information 
related 11 1 9.1 % 7 63.6 %
Community development workers 33 0 - 11 33.3 %
Computer programmers 2 0 - 0 -
Dieticians and nutritionists 1 0 - 1 100 %
Finance and economics related 2 0 - 1 50 %
Financial and related professionals 7 1 14.3 % 5 71.4 %
Financial clerks and credit controllers 11 0 - 8 72.7 %
Food services aids and waiters 9 0 - 7 77.8 %
Head of department / chief executive 
officer 2 0 - 0 -
Historians and political scientists 1 0 - 1 100 %
Human resources & organisational 
development & related professionals 5 0 - 4 80 %
Human resources clerks 10 0 - 2 20 %
Human resources related 4 0 - 5 125 %
Information technology related 1 0 - 1 100 %
Language practitioners, interpreters & 
other communication 6 0 - 5 83.3 %
Librarians and related professionals 37 2 5.4 % 13 35.1 %
Library mail and related clerks 16 0 - 7 43.8 %
Light vehicle drivers 1 0 - 1 100 %
Material-recording and transport clerks 12 0 - 9 75 %
Medical technicians/technologists 3 0 - 0 -
Messengers, porters and deliverers 5 0 - 1 20 %
Motor vehicle drivers 1 0 - 0 -
Other administrative & related clerks 
and organisers 93 4 4.3 % 40 43 %
Other administrative policy and related 
officers 8 0 - 3 37.5 %
Other information technology 
personnel 3 0 - 3 100 %
Other occupations 89 0 - 4 4.5 %
Risk management and security 
services 1 0 - 0 -
Secretaries & other keyboard 
operating clerks 13 1 7.7 % 4 30.8 %
Security officers 1 0 - 1 100 %
Senior managers 6 0 - 0 -
Social sciences related 1 0 - 0 -
Social sciences supplementary 
workers 2 0 - 2 100 %
Work planners 2 0 - 0 -
Total 508 14 2.8 % 192 37.8 %



Table 5.5 – Promotions by salary band

Salary Band
Employees 

1 April 
2007

Promotions 
to another 
salary level

Salary bands 
promotions as a 
% of employees 
by salary level

Progressions to 
another notch 
within a salary 

level

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees by 
salary band

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2), Permanent 103 0 - 47 45.6 %
Skilled (Levels 3-5), Permanent 142 2 1.4 % 61 43 %
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8), 
Permanent 156 3 1.9 % 63 40.3 %
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8), 
Temporary 1 0 - 0 -
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 
9-12), Permanent 68 7 10.3 % 16 23.5 %
Senior management (Levels 13-16), 
Permanent 11 2 18.2 % 1 9.1 %
Contract (Levels 1-2), Permanent 13 0 - 1 100 %
Contract (Levels 3-5), Permanent 10 0 - 2 40 %
Contract (Levels 6-8), Permanent 2 0 - 0 -
Contract (Levels 9-12), Permanent 2 0 - 1 50 %
Total 508 14 2.8 % 192 37.8 %

5.6 Employment equity
Table 6.1 –   Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following 

occupational categories as on 31 March 2008

Occupational categories 
(SASCO)

Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White
Legislators, senior officials and 
managers, Permanent 3 0 0 2 3 0 0 1 9
Professionals, Permanent 78 1 0 19 59 1 0 52 210
Clerks, Permanent 69 6 0 2 101 6 0 21 205
Clerks, Temporary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1
Service & sales workers, 
Permanent 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 4
Craft and related trades 
workers, Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Plant and machine operators 
and assemblers, Permanent 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Elementary occupations, 
Permanent 151 3 0 1 107 3 0 2 267
Total 309 10 0 25 271 10 0 77 702
Employees with disabilities 2 - - 1 2 0 0 5



Table 6.2 –   Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following 
occupational bands as on 31 March 2008

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Top Management, Permanent 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1
Senior Management, Permanent 5 0 0 2 4 0 0 1 12
Professionally qualified & 
experienced specialists & mid-
management, Permanent 18 0 0 16 10 1 0 25 70
Skilled technical & academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, Permanent 49 4 0 4 38 1 0 45 141
Skilled technical & academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, Temporary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1
Semi-skilled & discretionary 
decision making, Permanent 65 3 0 3 73 4 0 3 151
Unskilled & defined decision 
making, Permanent 49 0 0 0 40 2 0 1 92
Contract (Professionally qualified), 
Permanent 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3
Contract (Skilled technical), 
Permanent 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 6
Contract (Semi-skilled), 
Permanent 24 0 0 0 35 1 0 0 60
Contract (Unskilled), Permanent 94 3 0 0 67 1 0 0 165
Total 309 10 0 25 271 10 0 77 702

Table 6.3 – Recruitment for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Senior Management, Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management, Permanent 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, Permanent 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3
Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making, Permanent 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 4
Unskilled and defined decision-
making, Permanent 5 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 9
Not available, Permanent 84 0 0 2 56 1 0 0 143
Contract (Professionally qualified), 
Permanent 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2
Contract (Skilled technical), 
Permanent 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 6
Contract (Semi-skilled), 
Permanent 21 0 0 0 36 1 0 1 59
Contract (Unskilled), Permanent 55 4 0 1 27 0 0 1 88
Total 175 4 0 4 129 3 0 2 317

Employees with disabilities 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 3



Table 6.4 – Promotions for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Senior Management, Permanent 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management, Permanent 7 0 0 6 2 0 0 8 23
Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, Permanent 25 1 0 2 14 0 0 24 66
Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making, Permanent 30 2 0 2 26 1 0 2 63
Unskilled and defined decision-
making, Permanent 23 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 47
Contract (Professionally qualified), 
Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Contract (Semi-skilled), 
Permanent 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2
Contract (Unskilled), Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Total 90 3 0 10 68 1 0 34 206

Employees with disabilities - - - - - - - - -

Table 6.5 – Terminations for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Occupational Bands Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management, Permanent 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 5
Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, Permanent 6 0 0 1 2 0 0 8 17
Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making, Permanent 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 5
Unskilled and defined decision-
making, Permanent 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Not available, Permanent 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 6
Contract (Senior Management), 
Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Contract (Professionally qualified), 
Permanent 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Contract (Skilled technical), 
Permanent 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1
Contract (Semi-skilled), 
Permanent 2 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 9
Contract (Unskilled), Permanent 48 2 0 3 19 0 0 1 73
Total 73 2 1 5 32 0 0 10 123

Employees with disabilities - - - - - - - - -

Table 6.6 - Disciplinary action for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Disciplinary action 2 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 5



Table 6.7 – Skills development for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Occupational categories Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total
Legislators, senior officials 
and managers

19 1 1 4 11 - - 12 48

Professionals 4 - - 2 11 - - 8 25
Technicians and 
associate professionals

- - - - - - - - -

Clerks 28 - - 5 32 3 - 17 85
Service and sales workers 25 - - 1 - - - - 26
Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers

- - - - - - - - -

Craft and related trades 
workers

- - - - - - - - -

Plant and machine 
operators and assemblers

- - - - - - - - -

Elementary occupations 11 - - 1 - - - - 12
Total 87 1 1 13 54 3 - 37 196
Employees with 
disabilities

- - - - - - - - -

5.7 Performance rewards (Cash Bonus)

Table 7.1 – Performance Rewards by race, gender, and disability, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Total number of 
employees in 

group

% of total 
within group

Cost (R’000)
Average cost 
per employee 

(R)
African 52 576 9 % 338 6 500
Male 29 307 9.5 % 209 7 192
Female 23 269 8.6% 129 5 621
Asian 0 0 - 0 0
Male 0 0 - 0 0
Female 0 0 - 0 0
Coloured 2 20 10 % 12 6 000
Male 1 10 10 % 6 5 725
Female 1 10 10 % 6 6 353
White 36 101 35.64 % 468 13 000
Male 5 24 20.8 % 108 21 662
Female 31 77 40.3 % 360 11 628
Employees with a 
disability 0 5 - 0 0
Total 90 702 12.8 % 818 9 097

Table 7.2 – Performance Rewards by salary bands for personnel below Senior Management Service,  1 April 2007 
to 31 March 2008

Salary Bands Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within 
salary 
bands

Total 
Cost 

(R’000)

Average cost 
per employee

Total cost as a 
% of the total 

personnel 
expenditure

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 12 94 13 % 40 3 333 0.7 %
Skilled (Levels 3-5) Permanent 19 163 11.7 % 90 4 737 0.7 %
Highly skilled production (Levels 
6-8) Permanent 38 138 27.5 % 330 8 684

1.3 %

Highly skilled production (Levels 
6-8), Temporary 0 1 - - -
Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12), Permanent 21 61 34.4 % 359 17 095 2%
Senior management (Levels 
13-16), Permanent 0 11 - 0 0
Contract (Levels 1-2) 0 167 - 0 0 -
Contract (Levels 3-5) 0 57 - 0 0 -
Contract (Levels 6-8) 0 7 - 0 0 -
Contract (Levels 9-12) 0 3 - 0 0 -
Total 90 702 12.8 % 819 9 097 -



Table 7.3 – Performance Rewards by critical occupations, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Critical Occupations Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within 

occupation

Total 
Cost 

(R’000)

Average 
cost per 

employee 
(R)

Administrative related 5 31 16.1 % 91 18 200
All artisans in  building, metal, machinery 
etc. 0 1 - 0 0
Archivists, curators and related professionals 4 21 19 % 45 11 250
Auxiliary and related workers 8 13 61.5 % 26 3 250
Building and other property caretakers 1 41 2.4 % 4 4,000
Cleaners in offices, workshops, hospitals 
etc. 1 24 4.2 % 3 3 000
Client inform clerks (switchboard, 
information clerks) 2 8 25 % 11 5 500

Communication and information related 2 9 22.2 % 35 17 500

Community development workers 3 36 8.3 % 28 9 333

Computer programmers 0 2 - 0 0

Dieticians and nutritionists 1 1 100 10 10 000

Finance and economics related 0 3 - 0 0

Financial and related professionals 3 7 42.9 % 48 16 000

Financial clerks and credit controllers 3 11 27.3 % 19 6 333

Food services aids and waiters 1 12 8.3 % 4 4 000

Head of department/chief executive officer 0 3 - 0 0

Historians and political scientists 0 1 - 0 0
Human resources & organisational 
development & related professionals 4 4 100 % 56 14 000

Human resources clerks 2 6 33.3 % 11 5 500

Human resources related 5 5 100 % 88 17 600

Information technology related 0 1 - 0 0
Language practitioners, interpreters & other 
communication 2 10 20 % 27 13 500

Librarians and related professionals 10 47 21.3 % 103 10 300

Library mail and related clerks 4 14 28.6 % 27 6 750

Light vehicle drivers 0 5 - 0 0

Material-recording and transport clerks 2 15 13.3 % 7 3 500

Medical technicians/technologists 2 4 50 % 23 11 500

Messengers, porters and deliverers 1 3 33.3 % 4 4 000
Other administrative & related clerks and 
organisers 17 139 12.2 % 104 6 117
Other administrative policy and related 
officers 2 6 33.3 % 13 6 500

Other information technology personnel 2 6 33.3 % 16 8 000

Other occupations 0 188 - 0 0

Risk management and security services 0 1 - 0 0
Secretaries & other keyboard operating 
clerks 3 13 23.1 % 15 5 000

Security guards 0 1 - 0 0

Security officers 0 2 - 0 0

Senior managers 0 5 - 0 0

Social sciences related 0 1 - 0 0

Social sciences supplementary workers 0 2 - 0 0

Total 90 702 12.8 % 818 9 097



Table 7.4 – Performance related rewards (cash bonus), by salary band, for Senior Management Service

Salary Band Beneficiary Profile
Total Cost

(R’000)

Average 
cost per 

employee

Total cost as 
a % of the 

total 
personnel 

expenditure
Number of 

beneficiaries
Number of 
employees

% of total 
within band

Band A 0 8 0 0 0 0
Band B 0 4 0 0 0 0
Band C 0 0 0 0 0 0
Band D 0 1 0 0 0 0
Total 0 13 0 0 0 0

5.8 Foreign workers

Table 8.1 – Foreign Workers, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008, by salary band

Salary Band
1 April 2007 31 March 2008 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change
Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 16.7 % 0 0 -1 (100 %)
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 3 50 % 0 0 -3 (100 %)
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 
9-12) 2 33.3 % 1 50 % -1 (50 %)
Contract (Levels 9-12) 0 - 1 50 % +1 100 %
Total 6 100 % 2 100 % -4 (66.7 %)

Table 8.2 – Foreign Workers, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008, by major occupation

Major Occupation
1 April 2007 31 March 2008 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change
Professionals and managers 5 83.3 % 2 100 % -3 (60 %)
Social, natural, technical and medical 
sciences and support 1 16.7 % 0 0 -1 (100 %)
Total 6 100 % 2 100 % -4 (66.7 %)

5.9 Leave utilization for the period 1 January 2007 to 31 
December 2007

Table 9.1 – Sick leave, 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007

Salary Band Total days
% days with 

medical 
certification

Number of 
employees 
using sick 

leave

% of total 
employees 
using sick 

leave

Average 
days per 
employee

Estimated 
Cost 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 464 87.1 % 61 8.7 % 8 75
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 965 84.5 % 112 16 % 9 217
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 1 000 84.7 % 117 16.7 % 9 422
Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 317 83.9 % 43 6.1 % 7 270
Senior management (Levels 
13-16) 47 100 % 5 0.7 % 9 119
Contract (Levels 1-2) 9 100 % 1 - 9 1
Contract (Levels 3-5) 49 81.6 % 12 1.7 % 4 10
Contract (Levels 6-8) 1 - 1 - 1 0
Contract (Levels 9-12) 4 100 % 2 - 2 5
Total 2 856 82.2 % 354 50 % 8 1 119

Table 9.2 – Disability leave (temporary and permanent), 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007

Salary Band
Total days 

taken

% days with 
medical 

certification

Number of 
employees 

using 
disability 

leave

% of total 
employees 

using 
disability 

leave

Average 
days per 
employee

Estimated 
Cost 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 5 100 1 - 5 1
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 53 100 2 - 27 20
Total 58 100 3 - 19 21



Table 9.3 – Annual Leave, 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007

Salary Bands Total days taken
Average per 

employee
Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 759 19
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 3 267 20
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 3 218 23
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 1 420 23
Senior management (Levels 13-16) 257 23
Contract (Levels 1-2) 34 0,2
Contract (Levels 3-5) 225 0,1
Contract (Levels 6-8) 43 6
Contract (Levels 9-12) 35 12
Total 10 258 14,6

Table 9.4 – Capped leave, 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007

Salary Bands
Total days of 

capped leave taken

Average number of 
days taken per 

employee

Average capped leave 
per employee as at 31 

December 2007
Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 0 9
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 32 0,2 27
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 53 0,4 43
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 15 0,2 42
Total 101 0,2 34

Table 9.5 – Leave payouts for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

REASON
Total Amount 

(R’000)
Number of 
employees

Average payment 
per employee

Leave payout for 2007/08 due to non-utilisation of 
leave for the previous cycle 4 1 4 000
Capped leave payouts on termination of service for 
2007/08 86 19 4 526
Current leave payout on termination of service for 
2007/08 41 13 3 154
Total 131 33 3 970

5.10 HIV and AIDS & Health promotion programmes

Table 10.1 – Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure
Units/categories  of  employees  identified  to  be  at  high  risk  of 
contracting HIV & related diseases (if any) 

Key  steps  taken  to  reduce  the 
risk 

None

Table 10.2 –    Details of Health Promotion and HIV and AIDS Programmes (tick the applicable boxes and provide 
the required information)

Question Yes No Details, if yes
1.    Has the department designated a member of the SMS to implement the 

provisions contained in Part VI E of Chapter 1 of the Public Service 
Regulations, 2001? If so, provide her/his name and position.

X

2.    Does the department have a dedicated unit or has it designated specific staff 
members to promote the health and well being of your employees? If so, 
indicate the number of employees who are involved in this task and the annual 
budget that is available for this purpose.  

X Only one official and no 
budget

3.    Has the department introduced an Employee Assistance or Health Promotion 
Programme for your employees? If so, indicate the key elements/services of 
this Programme. 

X Counselling and referral 
services,  health 
promotion, life skills

4.    Has the department established (a) committee(s) as contemplated in Part VI E.
5 (e) of Chapter 1 of the Public Service Regulations, 2001? If so, please 
provide the names of the members of the committee and the stakeholder(s) 
that they represent.  

X

5.    Has the department reviewed its employment policies and practices to ensure 
that these do not unfairly discriminate against employees on the basis of their 
HIV status? If so, list the employment policies/practices so reviewed.  

X In process

6.    Has the department introduced measures to protect HIV-positive employees or 
those perceived to be HIV-positive from discrimination? If so, list the key 
elements of these measures. 

X Policy not approved yet

7.    Does the department encourage its employees to undergo Voluntary 
Counselling and Testing? If so, list the results that you have you achieved. 

X Policy not approved yet

8.    Has the department developed measures/indicators to monitor & evaluate the 
impact of its health promotion programme? If so, list these 
measures/indicators.

X Number  of  people 
attended  health 
promotion programmes



5.11 Labour relations

The following collective agreements were entered into with trade unions within the department. 

Table 11.1 – Collective agreements, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Total collective agreements None

The following table summarises the outcome of disciplinary hearings conducted within the department for the 
year under review.

Table 11.2 – Misconduct and disciplinary hearings finalised, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings Number % of total

Correctional counselling - -
Verbal warning - -
Written warning - -
Final written warning - -
Suspended without pay - -
Fine - -
Demotion - -
Dismissal 2 66.7 %
Not guilty - -
Case withdrawn 1 33.3 %
Total 3 100 %

Table 11.3 – Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings
Type of misconduct Number % of total
Threatened to assault - -
Misuse of GG vehicle 1 20 %
Absent without Leave (AWOL) - -
Wilful negligence - -
Fraud - -
Intimidation and Damage to Property - -
Fighting 2 40 %
Misappropriation of Government funds 1 20 %
Theft of Government vehicle 1 20 %
Total 5 100 %

Table 11.4 – Grievances lodged for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Number % of Total

Number of grievances resolved 26 100 %
Number of grievances not resolved - -
Total number of grievances lodged 26 100 %

Table 11.5 – Disputes lodged with Councils for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Number % of Total

Number of disputes upheld 0 -
Number of disputes dismissed 0 -
Total number of disputes lodged 0 -

Table 11.6 – Strike actions for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Total number of person working days lost 533
Total cost (R’000) of working days lost 126 438,67
Amount (R’000) recovered as a result of no work no pay 126 438,67

Table 11.7 – Precautionary suspensions for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008
Number of people suspended 0
Number of people whose suspension exceeded 30 days 0
Average number of days suspended 0
Cost (R’000) of suspensions 0



5.12 Skills development

Table 12.1 – Training needs identified 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Occupational 
Categories

Gender

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2007

Training needs identified at start of reporting period

Learnerships

Skills 
Programmes & 

other short 
courses

Other 
forms of 
training

Total

Legislators, senior officials 
and managers

Female 5 - 19 5 24
Male 5 - 20 5 25

Professionals
Female 98 - - -
Male 88 - - 20 20

Technicians and 
associate professionals

Female 0 - - 6 6
Male 0 - - - -

Clerks 
Female 96 - - 37 37
Male 63 - - 33 33

Service and sales workers
Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - 40 40

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 0 - - - -

Craft and related trades 
workers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - - -

Plant and machine 
operators and assemblers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - - -

Elementary occupations
Female 71 - - - -
Male 76 - - 11 11

Subtotal
Female 270 - 19 48 67
Male 238 - 20 109 129

Total 508 - 39 157 196

Table12.2 – Training provided 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Occupational 
Categories

Gender

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2007

Training provided within the reporting period

Learnerships

Skills 
Programmes & 

other short 
courses

Other 
forms of 
training

Total

Legislators, senior officials 
and managers

Female 5 - 19 5 24
Male 5 - 20 5 25

Professionals
Female 98 - - - -
Male 88 - - 20 20

Technicians and associate 
professionals

Female 0 - - 6 6
Male 0 - - - -

Clerks 
Female 96 - - 37 37
Male 63 - - 33 33

Service and sales workers
Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - 40 40

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 0 - - - -

Craft and related trades 
workers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - - -

Plant and machine 
operators and assemblers

Female 0 - - - -
Male 2 - - - -

Elementary occupations
Female 71 - - - -
Male 76 - - 11 11

Subtotal
Female 270 - 19 48 67
Male 238 - 20 109 129

Total 508 - 39 157 196

5.13 Injury on duty

Table 13.1 – Injury on duty, 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Nature of injury on duty Number % of total
Required basic medical attention only - -
Temporary Total Disablement 2 100 %
Permanent Disablement - -
Fatal - -
Total 2 100 %
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